

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN SCIENZE AGRARIE E AMBIENTALI - CICLO XXXI SSD: Animal Nutrition - AGR18

Effect of Different Kind of Polyphenols on Nutraceutical Milk Quality, Ruminal Lipids Metabolism and Rumen Microbiota

PhD student Federica Mannelli

deta though

Tutor Prof.ssa Arianna Buccioni Waller Bucciolu

PROT. Nº181588 POS. 111/6.6 Coordinator Prof. Giacomo Pietramellara DATA 29-10-2018 Grow The well

Years: 2015 - 2018

DECLARATION of AUTHORSHIP

This thesis is a presentation of my original research work. Wherever contributions of others are involved, every effort is made to indicate this clearly with due reference to the literature and acknowledgement of collaborative research and discussions. This thesis contains no material that has been submitted previously, in whole or in part, for the award of any other academic degree or diploma.

ABSTRACT

Nowadays, European and World policies encourage the reduction of feed inputs in livestock productions. Moreover, in the last decade, there was a steady and inexorable increase of livestock feed costs, due to the increase of row matrixes price. Many farmers, particularly in marginal lands, are in crisis due to these problems; however, these difficulties are much more evident in large intensive farms, because large ruminants have high requirements.

In order to overcome these economic problems, it seems evident that the pastoral resource represent a low-cost solution; nevertheless, it does not meet the large-scale needs of intensive farming. Another winning solution could be represented by the use of high biological value agro-industrial by-products. In this way it would be possible to turn a waste, that is disposed with considerable costs, into a food resource for the animals.

Most by-products contain notably quantities of secondary compounds, such as polyphenols, which act on digestion and animal performances, but also on the quality of animal derived products. The composition of milk and meat fatty acids can be manipulated by polyphenols naturally present in several plants, modifying the biohydrogenation of polyunsaturated fatty acids, as consequence of changes in ruminal ecology.

Small ruminants, even more than large ones, have a remarkable ability to convert feed into products with high nutritional value (meat and milk); they are also endowed with a marked frugality and adaptability to unconventional feed matrices, since they have lower energy requirements. Therefore, a diet formulated with low-input content and with alternative feeds, such as by-products, instead of more expensive products, is an innovative but functional choice. Recently, the increased interest in secondary plant metabolites has led to studies that have shown interesting results regarding animal health and product quality. Plant polyphenols fall into this category but their vastness and chemical diversity imply constant research in the fields of animal nutrition. Furthermore, the use of by-products rich in functional molecules, such as polyphenols, represents a sustainable strategy and meets consumer demand, which increasingly seek natural, healthy and environmentally sustainable products.

The rumen and its microbiota represent the key of these issues, because all pathways that convert feed in bioactive compounds occur in a preponderant way in the pre-stomach.

Table of contents

ABSTRACT	3
INTRODUCTION	6
1. Polyphenolic compounds	6
1.1. Classification	7
1.1.1. Phenolic acids	8
1.1.2. Flavonoids	9
1.1.3. Stilbenes	14
1.1.4. Tannins	15
1.2. Properties and chemical actions	16
2. Polyphenols in animal feeding	17
2.1. Polyphenols and ruminants	18
2.2. Temperate forage as polyphenol source	18
2.3. Agro-industrial by-products as polyphenol sources	19
3. Tannin extracts	20
3.1. Effects on rumen metabolism	20
3.2. Antinutritional effects	22
4. Olive oil pomace	22
4.1. Effects of milling by-products on rumen metabolism	23
4.2. Technical problems, contraindications and antinutritional effects	23
OBJECTIVE	24
REFERENCES	25
TRIAL 1 - Effect of different types of olive oil pomace dietary supplementation on the	

rumen microbial community profile in Comisana ewes. (Mannelli, F., A. Cappucci, F. Pini, R. Pastorelli, F. Decorosi, L. Giovannetti, M. Mele, S. Minieri, G. Conte, M. Pauselli, S. Rapaccini, C. Viti, and A. Buccioni. 2018. Sci. Rep. 8:1–11. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-26713-w.)

TRIAL 2.1 - Chestnut or quebracho tannins in the diet of grazing ewes supplementedwith soybean oil: effects on animal performances, blood parameters and fatty acidcomposition of plasma and milk lipids. (Arianna Buccioni, Mariano Pauselli, Sara Minieri, ValentinaRoscini, Federica Mannelli, Stefano Rapaccini, Paola Lupi, Giuseppe Conte, Andrea Serra, Alice Cappucci, L.Brufani, Francesca Ciucci, Marcello Mele. 2017. Small Rum. Res. v.153 pp. 23-30 DOI:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2017.05.00666

TRIAL 2.2 - Effect of chestnut tannin extract, vescalagin and gallic acid on fatty acid	
biohydrogenation and microbial community profile in rumen liquor: an <i>in vitro</i>	study.
(Manuscript in progress)	89
CONCLUSIONS	117
ACKNOWLEDGMENT	118

Introduction abbreviations

BH, biohydrogenation; CH₄, methane; CT, condensed tannins; GAL, gallic acid; HT, hydrolysable tannins; OOP, olive oil pomace; PEG, polyethylene-glycole; PP, polyphenols; VFA, volatile fatty acid.

INTRODUCTION

1. Polyphenolic compounds

Plants synthesize very numerous organic compounds, traditionally classified as primary and secondary metabolites. Primary metabolites are molecules that have essential roles in plant growth and development (i.e. in photosynthesis and respiration). In contrast, the other phytochemicals, commonly referred as secondary metabolites (Crozier et al., 2007), are related to plant defence responses (Lin et al., 2016). Indeed, these compounds provide protection against pathogens and predators (Balasundram et al., 2006), since they have antibacterial or antifungal actions (Lin et al., 2016) and plant synthesizes them in the occasion of infections or external damages. They have also structural function and contributing to colour and sensory characteristics of fruits and vegetables (Balasundram et al., 2006).

From chemical standpoint, secondary metabolites are aromatic polymers, called polyphenols (PP), that contain benzene rings with one or more hydroxyl substituents (Lin et al., 2016). Among PP, there are simple molecules, such as phenolic acids, or complex structures, such as tannins, that are highly polymerized molecules (Lin et al., 2016). The majority of these phenols exist in nature as glycosides (Tsao, 2010), conjugated with monoand polysaccharides, linked to one or more phenolic groups (Balasundram et al., 2006); the different sugar units can be acylated at different position on the polyphenol skeleton (Tsao, 2010). PP may also occur in nature as functional derivatives, such as esters and methyl esters (Balasundram et al., 2006).

Plant synthesize PP in two main pathways, that can carry out independently or together. One produce activate acetate, binding two carbon units, which undergo the subsequent cyclisation. The other way is the shikimic acid way, through which the most part of PP is produced. In this way, carbohydrates, derived from pentose phosphate pathway, are converted to the aromatic aminoacids fenilalanin, tyrosine and tryptophan, before to go to the glycolysis. Then, an ammonia molecule is removed by the phenil alanine lyase, forming cinnamic acid, that could be converted into the p-OH-cinnamic acid, to form, by the sequential addition of hydroxyl and methoxy groups, caffeic acid and ferulic acid, which are the precursors of flavonoids, the largest subclass of PP (Cutrim and Cortez, 2018) (fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Phenil propanoid biosynthetic pathway of phenolic acids and flavonoids (Mandal et al., 2010, accessed on September 2018).

1.1 Classification

Plant PP constitute one of the most numerous and widely distribute group of natural products. Actually, more than 8000 phenolic compounds have been discovered and partially studied (Tsao, 2010). The classification of PP was carried out through years and they can be categorized in several ways (Cutrim and Cortez, 2018): by vegetal origin, use, functions and chemical structure and properties. However, the most accredited way of classification is the one that consider their chemical structure and properties (Tsao, 2010) (fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Polyphenols classification.

1.1.1 Phenolic acids

Phenolic acids are the smallest plant phenolic products, formed by only one benzene ring. Some phenolic acids are found in free form, but structural tissues contain them in bound form (Basheer and Kerem, 2015), for instance in plant cell walls and lignin (Mandal et al., 2010). These molecules are subdivided in two subgroups: the *hydroxybenzoic acids*, with a skeleton of C_6 - C_1 and the *hydroxycinnamic acids*, with a skeleton of C_6 - C_3 (Balasundram et al., 2006).



Fig. 3. An example of phenolic acid, gallic acid.

They have a very stable structure and only few bacteria can use them as Carbon source (Mandal et al., 2010). The most important hydroxybenzoic acid is gallic acid (GAL) (fig. 3), which is the base unit of gallotannins and with hesahydroxyphenol forms ellagitannins. Both ellagitannins and gallotannins are commonly referred as hydrolysable tannins (HT) because are easily hydrolyzed, freeing GAL (Crozier et al., 2007). As hydroxybenzoic acids, the hydroxycinnamic ones are incorporated in cell walls with covalent bound, but are also present in soluble form in the cytoplasm even though, this form occurs very rarely in nature (Setti et al., 2001). Caffeic acid is one of the most common hydroxycinnamic acid and it is found in coffee (Basheer and Kerem, 2015), tea leaves, fruits (in particular in red ones)(Teixeira et al., 2013) and in olive oil (Basheer and Kerem, 2015).

1.1.2 Flavonoids

Flavonoids constitute the largest group of plant phenolics, accounting over 5000 different compounds (Balasundram et al., 2006). They are present in the outer surfaces of leaves and flowers, but also in the cell walls, in the cytoplasm and in the vacuoles (Andersen and Markham, 2006). High concentration of flavonoids are found in young leaves and in fruits skin. They are involved in several processes as protection from UV (Crozier et al., 2007), from oxidation and free radical, insect attraction or repulsion, protection against viral, fungal and bacterial infections, pollen germination, etc... (Andersen and Markham, 2006). They are common in free form, but, in the case of catechin, epicatechin and gallocatechin, are also the monomeric constituents of the condensed tannins (CT) (Bravo, 1998).

Chemically, flavonoids are low molecular weight compounds, with a simple $C_6-C_3-C_6$ configuration. Essentially, the structure consists of two aromatic rings, A and B, joined by a 3-carbon bridge, usually, in the form of etherocyclic ring, named C (fig. 4). The A ring

derived from the acetate/malonate pathway, while the B ring is derived from shikimate pathway (Balasundram et al., 2006).



Fig. 4. Flavonoid generic structure.

The basic flavonoid skeleton can have numerous substituents, like sugars, that are very common substituents with the majority of flavonoids, that exist naturally as glycosides. The nature of the substituent may modify the chemical behaviour of flavonoids; hydroxyl groups and sugars increase the water solubility of them, while other substituents, such as methyl groups, make flavonoids lipophilic (Crozier et al., 2007).

Flavonoids can be subdivided into different subgroups depending on the carbon binding site on which the B ring is linked to the C one and on the degree of unsaturation and oxidation of the C ring. Thus, flavonoids in which the B ring is linked in position 3 are called *isoflavonoids* (Panche et al., 2016) (fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Isoflavonoid generic structure.

Isoflavonoids are also called phytoestrogenes, since they have an estrogen-like behaviour (Andersen and Markham, 2006). They are found almost exclusively in leguminous plants, above all in soybeans (Crozier et al., 2007).

Those flavonoids in which B ring is linked to the C one in position 4, without any hydroxyl group in position 2, are called *neoflavonoids* (Panche et al., 2016) (fig. 6).



Fig. 6. Neoflavonoid generic structure.

These compounds are found mostly in tropical plant, for instance in *Guttifereae*, *Rubiaceae* and *Passifloraceae* (Donnelly and Sheridan, 1988).

Flavonoids in which the B ring is linked in position 2 can be further subdivided on the basis of the structural features of the C ring. These subgroups are: flavones, flavonols, flavanones, flavanon

Flavones have a double bond between position 2 and 3 and a ketone on position 4 of the C ring (fig. 7).



Fig. 7. Flavone generic structure.

Most flavones of vegetables and fruits have a hydroxyl group in position 5 of the A ring, while hydroxylation in other position may vary according to species (Panche et al., 2016). A wide range of substitutions, like methylation and glycosylation is possible too (Crozier et al., 2007). Celery, parsley, red peppers, chamomile, mint and ginkgo biloba are the major sources of flavones (Panche et al., 2016). In addition, polymethoxylated flavones have been found in citrus species, especially in peels (Crozier et al., 2007).

Flavonols, compared to flavones, have a hydroxyl group in position 3 of the C ring, which may also be glycosylated (fig. 8).



Fig. 8. Flavonol generic structure.

Like flavones, they are very diverse in methylation and hydroxylation patterns (Panche et al., 2016) and the distribution and structural variation of these compounds are extensive (Crozier et al., 2007). In fact, they are the most widespread subclass of flavonoids, being dispersed throughout the plant kingdom, with the only exception of the algae (Crozier et al., 2007). Flavonols occur abundantly in a large variety of fruits and vegetables; in particular onions, cabbage, lettuce, tomatoes, apples, grapes and berries are rich sources of these compounds, such as red wine and tea (Panche et al., 2016). However, sizeable differences are found in the amounts present in similar sources, possibly due to seasonal changes and varietal dissimilarities (Crozier et al., 2007). Flavonols are also building blocks of proanthocyanidins. The most studied flavonols are kempferol, quercetin and myricetin (Panche et al., 2016).

Flavanones are characterized by the absence of the 2-3 double bond and by the presence of a chiral centre on the C2 of the C ring (Crozier et al., 2007) (fig. 9). So, they have the C ring completely saturated and this is the only difference between flavanones and flavones (Panche et al., 2016).



Fig. 9. Flavanone generic structure.

This structure is highly reactive and undergo hydroxylation, glycosylation and O-methylation reactions (Crozier et al., 2007). Flavanones are present in especially high concentration in citrus fruits (Crozier et al., 2007) and are responsible for the bitter taste of peel and juice

(Panche et al., 2016), even though exist several flavanones without any taste. The most common flavanone is the hesperidin, which is found in citrus peel (Crozier et al., 2007).

Flavanonols can be considered as flavanones with a hydroxyl group on position 3 (de la Rosa et al., 2010) and with no double bond between positions 2 and 3 of the C ring (Panche et al., 2016) (fig. 10).



Fig. 10. Flavanonol generic structure.

Flavanols are the most complex subclass of flavonoids and are often referred to as flavan-3-ols, as the hydroxyl group is almost always attached to the position 3 of the C ring.



Fig. 11. Flavanol generic structure.

The term "flavanols" is also interchangeable with the term "catechins" (de la Rosa et al., 2010), that is used more often in reference to the monomers of oligomeric and polymeric proanthocyanidins, also known as CT. Unlike flavones, flavonols, anthocyanins, iso- and neoflavonoids, which are planar molecules, flavanols, but also flavanones and flavanonols, have a saturated element in position 3 of the heterocyclic C ring, and are, thus, non-planar (Crozier et al., 2007). Catechins have two epimers depending on the stereo-configuration of the bond between ring B and the C2 of the C ring, and other two depending on the hydroxyl group orientation on position 3 of the C ring (de la Rosa et al., 2010). Of these four isomers ((+)-catechin, (-)-catechin, (+)-epicatechin and (-)-epicatechin), two of them ((+)-catechin and (-)-epicatechin) are widespread in nature, whereas the other two are comparatively rare.

Proanthocyanidins can occur as polymers of up to 50 units and have an additional chiral centre at C4. Moreover, flavanols can be hydroxylated, undergo esterification and form

gallocatechins with GAL. Red wine and chocolate are rich of these compounds; instead, green tea contains high level of epigallocatechins, the epimers of gallocatechins (Crozier et al., 2007). Flavanols are also found in bananas, apples, blue berries, peaches and pears (Panche et al., 2016).

Anthocyanins are pigments responsible for most of the red, blue and purple colours of fruits, vegetables, flowers and other plant tissues (D'Archivio et al., 2007). Colour variations among these compounds reflect structural differences in the number of hydroxyl groups, the presence or absence of methylations and glycosylations, as well as the distribution of positive and negative charge on the chroman ring system (Swanson, 2003). Anthocyanins occur primarily as glycosides of their respective aglycone form, called anthocyanidins (D'Archivio et al., 2007) plus one or more mono- and oligosaccharides linked with a glycosidic bond (Swanson, 2003). The sugar moiety is attached on the C ring, at position 3, or on the A ring, at position 5 or 6 (D'Archivio et al., 2007). The aglycone form is highly unstable (Manach, 2004) and anthocyanidins undergo structural alterations, depending on the pH and the ionic strength of the aqueous environment (Swanson, 2003). In plants, the degradation of these molecules is prevented by glycosylation, generally with a glucose, and by the esterification with various organic and phenolic acids. In addition, anthocyanins are stabilized by complexation with flavonoids (Manach, 2004).



Fig. 12. Anthocyanin generic structure.

1.1.3 Stilbenes

Stilbenes are a minor class of PP, produced as defence, especially against fungal pathogens (Grotewold, 2006) but also in response to stress and bacterial infections. Stilbenes occur in many plant species, including grapevine, peanuts and several berry and tree species (Reinisalo et al., 2015). These molecules are commonly present in roots, barks, rhizomes and leaves (Cassidy et al., 2000). All higher plants are able to synthesize malonyl-CoA and CoA-esters, which are stilbenes precursors, but only few plants seem to be able to produce stilbenes

(Chong et al., 2009). Stilbenes are considered as phytoalexins (Crozier et al., 2007), derived from the phenil propanoid pathway.

Members of stilbene family have a C_6 - C_3 - C_6 structure, without the heterocycle C, and occurs in both *cis* and *trans* isomers (Crozier et al., 2007) (fig. 13).



Fig. 13. Stilbene generic structures in cis and trans form.

Usually, ring A carries two hydroxyl groups in *meta*-position, while ring B have hydroxyl and methoxy substituents in *orto-*, *meta-* and *para*-position (Cassidy et al., 2000). Glycosylation is a common modification of plant secondary metabolites that interest also stilbenes and can alter their bioactivity. In plants these molecules are generally accumulated in the glycosylated form. Glycosylation of stilbenes could be involved in their storage, transport and protection against peroxidative degradation. Also methylation can occur on stilbene skeleton and a large number of natural stilbenes is found as oligomers (Chong et al., 2009). The fresh skin of red grapes is particularly rich in resveratrol (D'Archivio et al., 2007), the most common stilbene (Crozier et al., 2007), which contributes to a relatively high concentration of it in red wine (D'Archivio et al., 2007).

1.1.4 Tannins

Unlike the previously described groups of plant PP, the classification of some of it as tannins must be carefully considered, because this term is used in reference to phenolic compounds belonging to different classes (Aron and Kennedy, 2008). The term "tannin" come from the French word *tanin* (Khanbabaee and van Ree, 2001), in reference to the capacity of certain substances to transform animal skin into leather (Bravo, 1998). However, only during the twentieth century, thanks to modern analytical techniques, it was possible to understand what happens to the skin during the tanning process (Khanbabaee and van Ree, 2001).

Tannins are highly hydroxylated molecules, able to form complexes with carbohydrates, proteins and mineral ions. In fact, polyphenolic substances can react with skin proteins, preserving them from degradation. They can be found in especially high concentration in barks, seeds and lignificate fruits, such as achenes, and in grapevine seeds.

Plant tannins are subdivided in HT and CT. *Hydrolysable tannins* consist of an esterification between GAL (and its dimers) and oligosaccharides, mainly of glucose. These molecules can be also further condensed to form high-molecular-weight polymers. As their name indicates, these tannins are easily hydrolysed in presence of acids, alkalis and simple hot water, but also by enzymatic action. *Condensed tannins*, or proanthocyanidins, are high-molecular-weight compounds. In this case, the monomeric unit is a flavan-3-ol with a flavan-3,4-diol. Oxidative condensation occurs between the C4 of the C ring and the C6 or the C8 of the A ring of the second unit. CT and HT with high molecular weight are insoluble. Moreover, when tannins form complexes with proteins or the cell wall polysaccharides, they remain insoluble. Unfortunately, this insolubility is responsible for significant errors during the quantification analysis of the phenolic content in plants, because PP are usually analysed in extract form (Bravo, 1998).

1.2 Properties and chemical actions

All phenolic compounds, according to their –OH groups, are able to make several reactions. They are good H-donating antioxidants, and act as terminators of free radicals and chelators of metal ions (Bravo, 1998). Phenolic acids antioxidant activity is strictly related to the number and the position of hydroxyl groups, while the activity of flavonoids is generally more complicated and depends on the features and the nature of substituents on rings B and C (Balasundram et al., 2006).

Furthermore, PP, especially flavanonols, are able to bind divalent transition metal, which are catalyst in the Haber-Weiss reactions (Bravo, 1998). These reactions produce hydroxyl radicals starting from hydrogen peroxide and superoxide, and can occur inside cells, representing a potential source of oxidative stress. The overall reaction, subdivided in two sub reactions, is catalysed by iron ions, that can be stolen by flavan-3-ols (Aron and Kennedy, 2008).

PP can also bind with proteins, forming pH-dependent complexes with low solubility in water solutions. Highly polymerized tannins, like CT, are the most effective in protein precipitation, interfering with digestion and bacterial enzymes and with diet proteins (Bravo, 1998). Due to these properties, they can play important roles in several metabolic pathways,

like protein and lipid ones and, as antioxidants, they can scavenge reactive oxygen species and breaks the new-radicals-generation cycle. They act as antioxidant also by inhibiting enzymes involved in radical development (Leopoldini et al., 2004; El Gharras, 2009).

After all, phenolic compounds can interfere with microorganism growth and nutrition, in different manner, expressing antimicrobial effects. However, for the most part, these mechanisms of action still unknown and literature can't be comprehensive of that. Due to their chemical properties, PP can surely interact with microbial enzymes, inactivating them or changing their course to other pathways and they are also able to stole metallic ions, necessary to microbial growth (Smith et al., 2005; Patra and Saxena, 2011).

PP, due to their properties, play important roles in human health and nowadays are used in medicine as complementary in several therapies. Current findings have highlighted the contribute of these molecules in cardiovascular diseases, cancers and osteoporosis prevention and have suggested a role also in neurodegenerative diseases and diabetes mellitus prevention. Finally, PP present antimutagenic, antiviral, antibacterial (bactericidal, bacteriostatic), algicidal, antifungal, insecticidal, estrogenic and keratolytic activities, that may serve to protect plant from competing other organism in their biological environment. These properties can be used to take advantage in human and animal welfare, through nutrition, and in foods from animal production (Buccioni et al., 2015a; b).

2. Polyphenols in animal feeding

Plant secondary metabolites, and especially PP are largely being used through centuries, in the leather and in the naval industries. While, in food industries, these molecules have been used for a long time and widespread in the technology of wine production, as antioxidants, clarifying, chelating, bacteriostatic additive and colour stabilizers. On the contrary, the application of PP in the biomedical field is more recent, where them have been introduced as food supplements and, as therapeutic, in the treatment of certain diseases; GAL, for instance, is used as anti-haemorrhagic and antiseptic. Also, the use of polyphenolic compounds in the animal field is quite recent and mainly concerns CT. There are many studies on the use of PP in the diet of small ruminants (Vasta and Luciano, 2011) and fish (Sicuro et al., 2010) that have reported positive outcomes: improvement of production performances and of the diet energy/protein balance, through the reduction of nitrogen excretion; reduction of the production methane (CH₄) in the rumen, through the selection of digestive microorganisms; antiparasitic action at the intestinal level (Getachew et al., 2008; Sicuro et al., 2010; Vasta and Luciano, 2011).

2.1 Polyphenols and ruminants

Thanks to the microflora present in the rumen, ruminants are able to transform the dietary nutrients into nutraceutical and bioactive molecules, which will eventually be transferred in products of animal origin (meat, milk and also cheese), thanks to its peculiar digestive metabolism. The polyphenolic substances, if taken by the animals through the diet, have the ability to interact with the ruminal metabolism, modifying the interactions among different microbial strains and modulating the protein degradation (Waghorn and McNabb, 2003) or the CH₄ production (Waghorn et al., 2002). Dietary supplementation with feeds naturally rich in PP may steer rumen degradation towards more favourable metabolic pathways, preserving animal welfare and including nutraceutical component in animal derived food (Aerts et al., 1999; Buccioni et al., 2017b; Cappucci et al., 2018).

Literature shows a list of positive results when PP are used in dairy ruminants feeding: lower content of urea in the blood flow, by the modulation of ruminal protein degradation (Patra and Saxena, 2011); prevention of intestinal infections and the risk of bloat (Aerts et al., 1999); reduction of oxidative stress, by antioxidant action (Vasta and Luciano, 2011); reduction of incidence and severity of mastitis, according to a modulation of the inflammatory response. Moreover, at the ruminal level, changes in the metabolic pathways have been found, in particular, regarding: the degradation processes of the dietary fibrous components, strongly linked to the CH4 genesis; the biohydrogenation (BH) of unsaturated fatty acids (Toral et al., 2011, 2018); the nitrogen excretion, related to the balancing of the energy/protein ratio (Patra and Saxena, 2011).

Nevertheless, it is necessary to pay attention at the dose of these substances (which varies according to the kind of PP) because detrimental phenomena can occur, such as the inhibition of some digestive processes, compromising quantity and quality of production (Hervás et al., 2003). For instance, CT and HT are different in molecular weight and structure, and have, consequently, different behaviour. Generally, CT are more resistant to microbial metabolisation, than HT, but metabolites of HT are more toxic than CT ones (Scalbert, 1991). PP toxicity is expressed through the same interaction mechanisms through which they exert their positive effects, and paying attention to the inclusion level used is essential. This explains the conflicting results found in the literature.

2.2 Temperate forages as polyphenols source

Animals naturally fed PP, by grazing pasture and feeding forages. PP abundance and their profile depends on botanical composition and plant quality. These characteristics are

influenced by environment and soil fertility, intensity of utilisation and human footprint (seeding and cultivation). Pasture PP are mostly CT, that can bind proteins, affecting voluntary feed intake, proteins and carbohydrate digestion. This matches with the natural aim of tannin synthesis, in order to protect plant against animal consumption or pathogen attack.

The principal sources of PP in temperate areas are plant belonging to *Lotus* species, as *L. pedunculatus* and *L. corniculatus* (Waghorn et al., 1987; Barry and McNabb, 1999). These essences have a different concentration of PP and consequently affect animal metabolism in a different way. CT concentration of *L. pedunculatus* is higher respect to *L. corniculatus* and this is reflected on the animal voluntary feed intake, when they grazing *Lotus* species plant. Animal grazing *L. pedunculatus* showed a low voluntary feed intake respect to the ones fed *L. corniculatus*. While, considering N intake, CT of *L. corniculatus* increased the abomasal flow and the net absorption of essential aminoacids in the small intestine, binding diet proteins (Waghorn et al., 1987; Barry and McNabb, 1999). Similarly, sulla (*Hedysarium coronarium*) have a considerable concentration of CT (about 12.5% of DM in leaves)(Cabiddu et al., 2009; Molle et al., 2009). Stienezen et al. (1996) reported an increase digestibility in animal fed with sulla and supplemented with PEG, respect to other fed the same diet without it.

Moreover, literature reported positive effects in animals grazing forage containing CT. Plant containing CT can exert positive effects on intestine parasites, as nematodes (Niezen et al., 1995; Piluzza et al., 2014).

2.3 Agro-industrial by-products as polyphenols sources

In the Mediterranean area there are several agro-industrial sectors which produce large quantities of wastes. Most of them, for their chemical composition, represent a great problem for manage and disposal, barding industries with additional costs. The current European legislation allows the re-entry into kind of these by-products, through spreading on agricultural land, but to a very limited extent, as they can cause the alteration of the soil structure and ecosystem. The most important for abundance are: skins, stalks and grape seeds, deriving from the pressing of the grapes and lees from must fermentation; pomace and vegetation waters produced during olives milling process; the so-called *pastazzo*, fruit peels deriving from the squeezing of citrus fruits; tomato peels deriving from the extraction of the pulp; chipboard and sawdust resulting from the reduction of wood in timber.

These by-products represent an unused PP source, which can be used for animal feeding, especially for ruminants.

3. Tannin extracts

Tannin extracts are derived from discard of wood and lignificate wastes, by physical or chemical extraction. They are commercialized in fluid form (with added water) or in powder and are very simple to manage, omogenized with concentrate and pelleted for animal nutrtion. When used as supplements, especially in ruminant feeding, these extracts are ingested with the diet and, in the rumen, they interact with the microbiota and the diet components. There, they may modulate protein degradation and modify the metabolic pathways of nitrogen compounds, acting on both feed and microbial proteins. In the first case the formation of insoluble tannin-protein complexes, which occurs already at the time of chewing (Jones and Mangan, 1977), prevents the enzymes from recognizing the substrate to be degraded; while, in the second case, the tannins bind directly to the proteolytic bacterial enzymes, which are therefore unable to perform their function, or to the polymers of the bacterial walls (Jones et al., 1994), inducing changes in the morphology of different species of ruminal bacteria (Chiquette et al., 1988; Jones et al., 1994). In general, the affinity of tannin molecules appears to be greater for bacterial proteins than for dietary ones (Molan et al., 1999; Min et al., 2005), although this affinity may differ if tannins are condensed or hydrolysable (Mcallister et al., 2005). Tannins used in animal feeding may have other positive effects, as: the reduction of CH₄ emission (Liu et al., 2014; Aboagye et al., 2018; Jafari et al., 2018), of the incidence of gastrointestinal parasites (Molan et al., 1999; Min and Hart, 2003) and the modulation of microbial BH (Buccioni et al., 2017a).

However, the effects of tannins on animal biology depend on numerous factors, such as the kind of extract and tannin, their concentration, animal requirements, diet composition, etc. Min et al. (2003) have shown that high concentrations of CT in fodder (> 55g / kg of DM) generally reduce the voluntary feed intake and its digestibility, and depress the rates of body growth and wool production. Therefore, it is critical to evaluate the possible side effects related to the administration of tannin extracts in animal diet.

3.1 Effects on rumen metabolism

Tannins bind to proteins forming tannin-protein complexes. It is well known that these complexes are insoluble and are formed at pH values close to neutrality (Jones and Mangan, 1977). Moreover, they are poorly degraded under anaerobic conditions (McSweeney et al., 1999). The formation of these complexes reduces the degradability of dietary proteins fed by animals (Aerts et al., 1999). This decreases the concentration of ruminal ammonia and, consequently, the synthesis of urea in the liver, the concentration of blood urea nitrogen

(Carulla et al., 2005) and the subsequent excretion of urea through the urine (Grainger et al., 2009); on other hand, after the dissociation of the tannin-protein complexes at the low pH of the abomasum (Waghorn et al., 1987), the share of digestible protein reaching the intestine, increases (Min et al., 2003).

Consequently, it is clear that the use of tannin extracts as diet supplement can reduce the accumulation of urea in blood and milk, especially in animals reared on young and fresh pasture, in which the energy/protein ratio is unbalanced in favour of the protein component (Buccioni et al., 2015b). In this case, the excess of proteins is not used to derive amino acids but degraded to ammonia, which through the portal circulation reaches the liver where it is metabolized in the urea cycle, accumulating in both milk and urine. If the production of urea becomes excessive, damage to animal health may occur, as well as an increase in the contribution of nitrogenous excretions to the environment. The tannin-protein complexation subtracts from the digestive microflora the excess share of the nitrogenous matter necessary for its metabolism (biosynthesis), modifying the energy/protein ratio of the diet; in this way, the share of not-digested protein, reaching the intestinal tract is greater with a consequent reduction.

Another important advantage of tannins in ruminant feeding is represented by the modulation of methanogenesis (Waghorn et al., 2002; Piñeiro-Vázquez et al., 2015). Furthermore, over the past 20 years, non-chemical anti-parasitic strategies, based on the use of fodder containing tannins, have been developed (Niezen et al., 1995), reducing both the incidence of gastrointestinal parasites and the impact they have on animal health. Nowadays, literature reported that the use of PP and tannin extracts or plant naturally rich in PP may affect methanogen bacteria and, consequently, CH₄ excretions. Both CT and HT extracts had shown an action on total methanogens bacteria population *in vitro* with a significative reduction of CH₄ emission (HT from chestnut and sumach, \downarrow 7.7-14.4% and CT from mimosa and quebracho, \downarrow 6.3-8.9%; Jayanegara et al., 2015). This effect seems to be independent from the kind of PP and from its dose, because also other PP source have shown *in vitro* the same effects (pure flavonoids, \downarrow 8.1-38%; Oskoueian et al., 2013).

The action of tannins on methanogens and protozoa rumen communities is responsible also of changes on volatile fatty acid (VFA) production. However, in this case, the effects are dose and kind dependent. CT seems to be able to reduce VFA production with an increase of acetate acid and a decrease of propionate and butyrate acids (action on *Methanobrevibacter ruminantium*; Tavendale et al., 2005 in an *in vitro* study). While, HT evidence, with a reduction of total VFA, a low concentration of acetate and a higer concentration of propionate

and butyrate acids (action on total methanogen population, *Fibrobacter succinogenes*, *Ruminococcus flavefaciens*; Jayanegara et al., 2015 in an *in vitro* study).

3.2 Antinutritional effects

The ability of tannins to complex proteins is responsible for many effects. Tannins may have an antinutritional effect, since they are able to bind salivary enzymes, causing astringency (Murdiati et al., 1992; Mueller-Harvey, 2006), and to digestive enzymes (Makkar, 2003; Gemede and Ratta, 2014). Moreover, if ingested in large quantities and for long time, they can be hepatotoxic, cause of the inactivation of liver enzymes, favouring the consequent inhibition of the metabolic pathways in this district (Mueller-Harvey, 2006). In the rumen, tannins are partially degraded and HT metabolites are much more toxic than those of CT. For istance, GALis decomposed in the rumen to pyrogallol, becoming a source of Carbon for the ruminal flora and turning into resorcinol, a toxic molecule; moreover, the ellagic acid (which can be formed in the rumen from the GAL) is much more toxic than resorcinol. Some rumen bacteria, such as the Eubacterium oxidoriducens, are able to completely degrade the GAL, as source of Carbon; however, they are in little percentage and, therefore, are not able to set off the dietary intake of this substance (Murdiati et al., 1992). For this reason, dietary inclusion level represents a key point in nutritional integration with tannins, because an excessive quota could cause problems to animal physiology (Piluzza et al., 2014). In contrast, tannins at moderate concentrations may have beneficial effects on animal health, such as the prevention of meteorism, tympanism, lameness and intestinal parasites, especially for ruminants rared on young pasture (Min et al., 2003).

4. Olive oil pomace

Pomaces are a by-product derived from olive milling processes and are available in large quantities in whole the Mediterranean area. They represent a low-cost source of bioactive compounds, since most of the PP present in the olive fruit are lost during the oil extraction and are found in the processing waste, such as the pomace. However, the quantity and the kind of PP present in milling biowaste depend on the cultivar, the fruit maturity, the processing technique, the climate and storage conditions. The major phenolic compounds found in olive oil pomace (OOP) are hydroxytyrosol, oleuropein, tyrosol, caffeic, gallic, p-coumaric and vanillic acids and rutin (Cioffi et al., 2010; Morsi et al., 2016). These PP are responsible for the antioxidant capacity of virgin olive oil, even though only 1% of them remains after the milling process; the other 99% is lost in vegetation water and pomace (Cioffi

et al., 2010). Especially hydroxytyrosol seems exert a high antioxidant capacity (Casalino et al., 2002).

The recycling of this by-product in animal feeding represent a great advantage, since it is a low-cost resource with high nutritional highs.

4.1 Effects of milling by-products on rumen metabolism

OOP and the other olive milling by-products may affect rumen metabolism and modulate microbial community profile. However, there is a lack of knowledge about how these matrixes act on rumen ecology. There are several studies on the supplementation with OOP that highlighted positive effects on animal growth, milk and meat quality, hypothesizing that pomace PP affect rumen BH with an increase of PUFA in food of animal origin (Chiofalo et al., 2004; Sadeghi et al., 2009; Terramoccia et al., 2013; Pallara et al., 2014).

4.2 Technical problems, contraindications and antinutritional effects

Olive oil bio-wastes used in animal feeding present some technical problems and contraindications. Firstly, these matrixes have a variable composition, that depends on cultivar, climate and milling process. Vegetation waters have a low DM (<10%), but are rich in soluble PP. In contrast, pomaces are more complex matrixes that contain less water (30-75%), may contain a high percentage of fiber, and their concentation of PP may vary according to water presence (Mulinacci et al., 2001). Thus, it is fundamental to analyse the proximate composition of these by-products before utilizing them in animal nutrition and formulating a balanced diet; it is also important to evaluate PP profile and concentration. Secondly, especially OOP, have a low nutritive value, since it has a high percentage of acid detergent fibre (ADF) and lignin, because contains olive stones (Yansari et al., 2007).

Moreover, since olive milling wastes (wet OOP and vegetation water) have a high content of water, they need of a special management to be included in animal diet. Phenolic extracts are originated from vegetation waters which have a high PP concentration, but they are not so commercially common. In contrast, pomaces, could be used after easy treatment. They are dryed, grinded and then pelleted with the other diet ingredients. Finally, for wetter pomaces, they are absorbed on powdered concentrate as dryed alphalpha hay. Moreover, in some cases, new milling technologies permitted to destoned pomaces (Amirante et al., 2006).

Other perplexities on the use of milling by-products concern their seasonal presence on the market and the palatability for the animal, since they may alter concentrate flavour.

OBJECTIVE

The increasing demand of livestock food products, due to human population growth, had led to more intensive animal managements. This approach involves high protein feed, in order to push animal growth, perturbing rumen fermentation and rising the gas excretion. It is not so simple to manage the rumen environment, that act like a big fermenter with over 200 microbial species, which are in mutual relationship and in competition for nutritional substrates.

In addition to a better balance of the diet, the use of natural supplements could improve animal health and ruminal metabolism. PP are a valuable tool to modulate feed digestion and microbiota metabolism. Thus, the main objective of the present PhD thesis is to improve the knowledge about the effect exerted by PP substances on rumen microbial community, responsible of nutrient fermentation. This knowledge will be useful to setting up animal nutrition strategies, aimed to improve environmental sustainability of animal livestock production, also through the recycling of bio-wastes from agri-food industries, such as chestnut tannin and OOP.

Eventually, an unconventional approach to animal livestock production that include feed strategies with by-products supplementation match with FAO spotlight on environment and with European Community policy about the recycling of wastes from agriculture.

REFERENCES

- Aboagye, I.A., M. Oba, A.R. Castillo, K.M. Koenig, A.D. Iwaasa, and K.A. Beauchemin. 2018. Effects of hydrolyzable tannin with or without condensed tannin on methane emissions, nitrogen use, and performance of beef cattle fed a high-forage diet. J. Anim. Sci. 1–11. doi:10.1093/jas/sky352.
- Aerts, R.J., T.N. Barry, and W.C. McNabb. 1999. Polyphenols and agriculture: Beneficial effects of proanthocyanidins in forages. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 75:1–12. doi:10.1016/S0167-8809(99)00062-6.
- Amirante, P., M.L. Clodoveo, G. Dugo, A. Leone, and A. Tamborrino. 2006. Advance technology in virgin olive oil production from traditional and de-stoned pastes: Influence of the introduction of a heat exchanger on oil quality. Food Chemestry 98:797–805.
- Andersen, O.M., and K.R. Markham. 2006. Flavonoids. Chemistry, Biochemistry and Applications.
- Aron, P.M., and J.A. Kennedy. 2008. Flavan-3-ols: Nature, occurrence and biological activity. Mol. Nutr. Food Res. 52:79–104. doi:10.1002/mnfr.200700137.
- Balasundram, N., K. Sundram, and S. Samman. 2006. Phenolic compounds in plants and agriindustrial by-products: Antioxidant activity, occurrence, and potential uses. Food Chem. 99:191–203. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2005.07.042.
- Barry, T.N., and W.C. McNabb. 1999. The implications of condensed tannins on the nutritive value of temperate forages fed to ruminants. Br. J. Nutr. 81:263–272. doi:doi:10.1017/S0007114599000501.

- Basheer, L., and Z. Kerem. 2015. Interactions between CYP3A4 and Dietary Polyphenols. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2015. doi:10.1155/2015/854015.
- Bravo, L. 1998. Polyphenols: Chemistry, dietary sources, metabolism, and nutritional significance. Nutr. Rev. 56, 11:317–333.
- Buccioni, A., G. Pallara, R. Pastorelli, L. Bellini, A. Cappucci, F. Mannelli, S. Minieri, V. Roscini, S. Rapaccini, M. Mele, L. Giovannetti, C. Viti, and M. Pauselli. 2017a. Effect of Dietary Chestnut or Quebracho Tannin Supplementation on Microbial Community and Fatty Acid Profile in the Rumen of Dairy Ewes. Biomed Res. Int. 2017:1–12. doi:10.1155/2017/4969076.
- Buccioni, A., M. Pauselli, S. Minieri, V. Roscini, F. Mannelli, S. Rapaccini, P. Lupi, G. Conte, A. Serra, A. Cappucci, L. Brufani, F. Ciucci, and M. Mele. 2017b. Chestnut or quebracho tannins in the diet of grazing ewes supplemented with soybean oil: Effects on animal performances, blood parameters and fatty acid composition of plasma and milk lipids. Small Rumin. Res. 153:23–30. doi:10.1016/j.smallrumres.2017.05.006.
- Buccioni, A., M. Pauselli, C. Viti, S. Minieri, G. Pallara, V. Roscini, S. Rapaccini, M.T. Marinucci, P. Lupi, G. Conte, and M. Mele. 2015a. Milk fatty acid composition, rumen microbial population, and animal performances in response to diets rich in linoleic acid supplemented with chestnut or quebracho tannins in dairy ewes. J. Dairy Sci. 98:1145–1156. doi:10.3168/jds.2014-8651.
- Buccioni, A., A. Serra, S. Minieri, F. Mannelli, A. Cappucci, D. Benvenuti, S. Rapaccini, G. Conte, and M. Mele. 2015b. Milk production, composition, and milk fatty acid profile from grazing sheep fed diets supplemented with chestnut tannin extract and extruded linseed. Small Rumin. Res. 130:200–207. doi:10.1016/j.smallrumres.2015.07.021.

Cabiddu, A., G. Molle, M. Decandia, S. Spada, M. Fiori, G. Piredda, and M. Addis. 2009.

Responses to condensed tannins of fl owering sulla (*Hedysarum coronarium* L .) grazed by dairy sheep Part 2: Effects on milk fatty acid profile. Livest. Sci. 123:230–240. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2008.11.019.

- Cappucci, A., S.P. Alves, R.J.B. Bessa, A. Buccioni, F. Mannelli, M. Pauselli, C. Viti, R. Pastorelli, V. Roscini, A. Serra, G. Conte, and M. Mele. 2018. Effect of increasing amounts of olive crude phenolic concentrate in the diet of dairy ewes on rumen liquor and milk fatty acid composition. J. Dairy Sci. 101:1–14. doi:10.3168/jds.2017-13757.
- Carulla, J.E., M. Kreuzer, A. Machmüller, and H.D. Hess. 2005. Supplementation of Acacia mearnsii tannins decreases methanogenesis and urinary nitrogen in forage-fed sheep. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 56:961–970. doi:10.1071/AR05022.
- Casalino, E., G. Calzaretti, C. Sblano, V. Landriscina, M.F. Tecce, and C. Landriscina. 2002. Antioxidant effect of hydroxytyrosol (DPE) and Mn2+ in liver of cadmium-intoxicated rats. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 133:625–632. doi:10.1016/S1532-0456(02)00180-1.
- Cassidy, A., B. Hanley, and R.M. Lamuela-Raventos. 2000. Isoflavones, lignans and stilbenes
 -Origins, metabolism and potential importance to human health. J. Sci. Food Agric.
 80:1044–1062. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1097-0010(20000515)80:7<1044::AID-JSFA586>3.0.CO;2-N.
- Chiofalo, B., L. Liotta, A. Zumbo, and V. Chiofalo. 2004. Administration of olive cake for ewe feeding: Effect on milk yield and composition. Small Rumin. Res. 55:169–176. doi:10.1016/j.smallrumres.2003.12.011.
- Chiquette, J., K.J. Cheng, J.W. Costerton, and L.P. Milligan. 1988. Effect of tannins on the digestibility of two isosynthetic strains of birdsfoot trefoil (*Lotus corniculatus*) using *in vitro* and *in sacco* techniques. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 68:751–760. doi:10.4141/cjas88-084.

- Chong, J., A. Poutaraud, and P. Hugueney. 2009. Metabolism and roles of stilbenes in plants. Plant Sci. 177:143–155. doi:10.1016/j.plantsci.2009.05.012.
- Cioffi, G., M.S. Pesca, P. De Caprariis, A. Braca, L. Severino, and N. De Tommasi. 2010.
 Phenolic compounds in olive oil and olive pomace from Cilento (Campania, Italy) and their antioxidant activity. Food Chem. 121:105–111. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2009.12.013.
- Crozier, A., I.B. Jaganath, and M.N. Clifford. 2007. Phenols, Polyphenols and Tannins: An Overview. Plant Second. Metab. Occur. Struct. Role Hum. Diet 1–24. doi:10.1002/9780470988558.ch1.
- Cutrim, C.S., and M.A.S. Cortez. 2018. A review on polyphenols: Classification, beneficial effects and their application in dairy products. Int. J. Dairy Technol. 71:564–578. doi:10.1111/1471-0307.12515.
- D'Archivio, M., C. Filesi, R. Di Benedetto, R. Gargiulo, C. Giovannini, and R. Masella. 2007.
 Polyphenols, dietary sources and bioavailability. Ann. Ist. Super. Sanita 43:348–361.
 doi:Vol. 43, no. 4: 348-361.
- Donnelly, D., and M. Sheridan. 1988. The Flavonoids. doi:10.1007/978-1-4899-2913-6.
- Getachew, G., W. Pittroff, D.H. Putnam, A. Dandekar, S. Goyal, and E.J. DePeters. 2008. The influence of addition of gallic acid, tannic acid, or quebracho tannins to alfalfa hay on *in vitro* rumen fermentation and microbial protein synthesis. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 140:444–461. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2007.03.011.
- El Gharras, H. 2009. Polyphenols: Food sources, properties and applications A review. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 44:2512–2518. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2621.2009.02077.x.

Gemede, H.F., and N. Ratta. 2014. Antinutritional Factors in Plant Foods: Potential Health

Benefits and Adverse Effects. Int. J. Nutr. Food Sci. 3:284–289. doi:10.11648/j.ijnfs.20140304.18.

- Grainger, C., T. Clarke, M.J. Auldist, K.A. Beauchemin, S.M. McGinn, G.C. Waghorn, and R.J. Eckard. 2009. Potential use of *Acacia mearnsii* condensed tannins to reduce methane emissions and nitrogen excretion from grazing dairy cows. Can. J. Anim. Sci. 89:241–251. doi:10.4141/CJAS08110.
- Grotewold, E. 2006. The Science of Flavonoids.
- Hervás, G., V. Pérez, F.J. Giráldez, A.R. Mantecón, M.M. Almar, and P. Frutos. 2003. Intoxication of sheep with quebracho tannin extract. J. Comp. Pathol. 129:44–54. doi:10.1016/S0021-9975(02)00168-8.
- Jafari, S., M. Ebrahimi, Y.M. Goh, M.A. Rajion, M.F. Jahromi, and W.S. Al-jumaili. 2018. Manipulation of rumen fermentation and methane gas production 1–52. doi:10.2478/aoas-2018-0037.
- Jayanegara, A., G. Goel, H.P.S. Makkar, and K. Becker. 2015. Divergence between purified hydrolysable and condensed tannin effects on methane emission, rumen fermentation and microbial population in vitro. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 209:60–68. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.08.002.
- Jones, G.A., T.A. McAllister, A.D. Muir, and K.J. Cheng. 1994. Effects of sainfoin (*Onobrychis viciifolia* Scop.) condensed tannins on growth and proteolysis by four strains of ruminal bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60:1374–1378.
- Jones, W.T., and J.L. Mangan. 1977. Complexes of the condensed tannins of sainfoin (*Onobtychis vicifolia*) with fraction 1 leaf protein and with submaxilar mucoprotein, and their reversal by polyethylene glycol and pH. J. Sci. Food Agric. 28:126–136.

- Khanbabaee, K., and T. van Ree. 2001. Tannins: Classification and definition. Nat. Prod. Rep. 18:641–649. doi:10.1039/b1010611.
- de la Rosa, L., E. Alvarez-Parrilla, and G.A. Gonz. 2010. Fruit and Vegetable Phytochemicals Fruit and Vegetable Phytochemicals.
- Leopoldini, M., T. Marino, N. Russo, and M. Toscano. 2004. Antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds: H-atom versus electron transfer mechanism. J. Phys. Chem. A 108:4916–4922. doi:10.1021/jp037247d.
- Lin, D., M. Xiao, J. Zhao, Z. Li, B. Xing, X. Li, M. Kong, L. Li, Q. Zhang, Y. Liu, H. Chen, W. Qin, H. Wu, and S. Chen. 2016. An overview of plant phenolic compounds and their importance in human nutrition and management of type 2 diabetes. Molecules 21. doi:10.3390/molecules21101374.
- Liu, H., V. Vaddella, and D. Zhou. 2014. Effects of chestnut tannins and coconut oil on growth performance, methane emission, ruminal fermentation, and microbial populations in sheep Effects of chestnut tannins and coconut oil on growth performance, methane emission, ruminal fermentation, J. Dairy Sci. 94:6069–6077. doi:10.3168/jds.2011-4508.
- Makkar, H.P.S. 2003. Effects and fate of tannins in ruminant animals, adaptation to tannins, and strategies to overcome detrimental effects of feeding tannin-rich feeds. Small Rumin. Res. 49:241–256. doi:10.1016/S0921-4488(03)00142-1.
- Manach, C. 2004. Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 79r:727–747. doi:10.1038/nature05488.
- Mandal, S.M., D. Chakraborty, and S. Dey. 2010. Phenolic acids act as signaling molecules in plant-microbe symbioses. Plant Signal. Behav. 5:359–368. doi:10.4161/psb.5.4.10871.

- Mcallister, T.A., T. Martinez, D.B. Hee, A.D. Muir, L.J. Yanke, and G.A. Jones. 2005. Characterization of condensed tannins purified from legume forages: Chromophore production, protein precipitation, and inhibitory effects on cellulose digestion. J. Chem. Ecol. 31:2049–2068. doi:10.1007/s10886-005-6077-4.
- McSweeney, C.S., B. Palmer, R. Bunch, and D.O. Krause. 1999. Isolation and characterization of proteolytic ruminal bacteria from sheep and goats fed the tannin-containing shrub legume *Calliandra calothyrsus*. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65:3075–3083.
- Min, B.R., G.T. Attwood, W.C. McNabb, A.L. Molan, and T.N. Barry. 2005. The effect of condensed tannins from Lotus corniculatus on the proteolytic activities and growth of rumen bacteria. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 121:45–58. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2005.02.007.
- Min, B.R., T.N. Barry, G.T. Attwood, and W.C. McNabb. 2003. The effect of condensed tannins on the nutrition and health of ruminants fed fresh temperate forages: A review. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 106:3–19. doi:10.1016/S0377-8401(03)00041-5.
- Min, B.R., and S.P. Hart. 2003. Tannins for suppression of internal parasites. J. Anim. Sci. 81:E102–E109. doi:/2003.8114_suppl_2E102x.
- Min, B.R., T.N. Barry, G.T. Attwood, and W.C. McNabb. 2003. The effect of condensed tannins on the nutrition and health of ruminants fed fresh temperate forages: A review. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 106:3–19.
- Molan, A.L., G.T. Attwood, B.R. Min, and W.C. McNabb. 2001. The effect of condensed tannins from *Lotus pedunculatus* and *Lotus corniculatus* on the growth of proteolytic rumen bacteria in vitro and their possible mode of action. Can. J. Microbiol. 47:626–633. doi:10.1139/w01-060.

- Molan, A.L., G.C. Waghorn, and W.C. Mcnabb. 1999. Condensed tannins and gastrointestinal parasites in sheep. Proc. New Zeal. Grassl. Assoc. 61:57–61.
- Molle, G., M. Decandia, V. Giovanetti, A. Cabiddu, N. Fois, and M. Sitzia. 2009. Responses to condensed tannins of fl owering sulla (*Hedysarum coronarium* L .) grazed by dairy sheep Part 1: Effects on feeding behaviour, intake, diet digestibility and performance. Livest. Sci. 123:138–146. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2008.11.018.
- Morsi, M.K.S., S.M. Galal, and O. Alabdulla. 2016. Antioxidative Activity of Olive Pomace Polyphenols Obtained by Ultrasound Assisted Extraction. IOSR J. Environ. Sci. Toxicol. Food Technol. 10:95–100. doi:10.9790/2402-10110195100.
- Mueller-Harvey, I. 2006. Review Unravelling the conundrum of tannins in animal nutrition and health †. J. Sci. Food Agric. J Sci Food Agric 86:2010–2037. doi:10.1002/jsfa.2577.
- Mulinacci, N., A. Romani, C. Galardi, P. Pinelli, C. Giaccherini, and F.F. Vincieri. 2001. Polyphenolic Content in Olive Oil Waste Waters and Related Olive Samples. doi:10.1021/jf000972q.
- Murdiati, T.B., C.S. Mcsweeney, and J.B. Lowry. 1992. Metabolism in Sheep of Gallic Acid, Tannic-Acid and Hydrolyzable Tannin from *Terminalia oblongata*. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 43:1307–1319.
- Niezen, J.H., T.S. Waghorn, W.A.G. Charleston, and G.C. Waghorn. 1995. Growth and gastrointestinal nematode parasitism in lambs grazing either lucerne (*Medicago sativa*) or sulla (*Hedysarum coronarium*) which contains condensed tannins. J. Agric. Sci. 125:281–289. doi:doi:10.1017/S0021859600084422.
- Oskoueian, E., Abdullah, N., and Armin Oskoueian. 2013. Effects of Flavonoids on Rumen Fermentation Activity, Methane Production, and Microbial Population. BioMed

Research International. Article ID 349129.

- Pallara, G., A. Buccioni, R. Pastorelli, S. Minieri, M. Mele, S. Rapaccini, A. Messini, M. Pauselli, M. Servili, L. Giovannetti, and C. Viti. 2014. Effect of stoned olive pomace on rumen microbial communities and polyunsaturated fatty acid biohydrogenation: An in vitro study. BMC Vet. Res. 10:1–15. doi:10.1186/s12917-014-0271-y.
- Panche, A.N., A.D. Diwan, and S.R. Chandra. 2016. Flavonoids: An overview. J. Nutr. Sci. 5:1–15. doi:10.1017/jns.2016.41.
- Patra, A.K., and J. Saxena. 2011. Exploitation of dietary tannins to improve rumen metabolism and ruminant nutrition. J. Sci. Food Agric. 91:24–37. doi:10.1002/jsfa.4152.
- Piluzza, G., L. Sulas, and S. Bullitta. 2014. Tannins in forage plants and their role in animal husbandry and environmental sustainability: A review. Grass Forage Sci. 69:32–48. doi:10.1111/gfs.12053.
- Piñeiro-Vázquez, A., J. Canul-Solís, J. Alayón-Gamboa, A. Chay-Canul, A. Ayala-Burgos, C. Aguilar-Pérez, F. Solorio-Sánchez, and J. Ku-Vera. 2015. Potential of condensed tannins for the reduction of emissions of enteric methane and their effect on ruminant productivity. Arch Med Vet 47:263–272. doi:10.4067/S0301-732X2015000300002.
- Reinisalo, M., A. Kårlund, A. Koskela, K. Kaarniranta, and R.O. Karjalainen. 2015. Polyphenol stilbenes: Molecular mechanisms of defence against oxidative stress and aging-related diseases. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2015:1–24. doi:10.1155/2015/340520.
- Sadeghi, H., A.T. Yansari, and Z. Ansari-Pirsarai. 2009. Effects of Different Olive Cake by Products on Dry Matter Intake, Nutrient Digestibility and Performance of Zel Sheep Effects of Different Olive Cake by Products on Dry Matter Intake, Nutrient Digestibility and Performance of Zel Sheep. Int. J. Agric. Biol. 11, 1:39–43.

Scalbert, A. 1991. Antimicrobial Properties of tannins. Phytochemistry 30:3875–3883.

- Setti, L., C. Faulds, and S. Giuliani. 2001. Hydroxycinnamic acids as natural antioxidants. Sci. Technol. 83:1–5.
- Sicuro, B., S. Barbera, F. Daprà, F. Gai, L. Gasco, G. Paglialonga, G.B. Palmegiano, and S.
 Vilella. 2010. The olive oil by-product in "rainbow trout Onchorynchus mykyss (Walbaum)" farming: Productive results and quality of the product. Aquac. Res. 41:475–486. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2109.2010.02514.x.
- Smith, A.H., E. Zoetendal, and R.I. Mackie. 2005. Bacterial mechanisms to overcome inhibitory effects of dietary tannins. Microb. Ecol. 50:197–205. doi:10.1007/s00248-004-0180-x.
- Stienezen, M., G.C. Waghorn, and G.B. Douglas. 1996. Digestibility and effects of condensed tannins on digestion of sulla (*Hedysarum coronarium*) when fed to sheep. New Zeal. J. Agric. Res. 39:215–221. doi:10.1080/00288233.1996.9513180.
- Swanson, B.G. 2003. Tannins and Polyphenols. Encycl. Food Sci. Nutr. 5729–5733. doi:10.1016/B0-12-227055-X/01178-0.
- Tavendale, M.H., L.P. Meagher, D. Pacheco, N. Walker, G.T. Attwook, and S. Sivakumaran.
 2005. Methane production from in vitro rumen incubations with Lotus pedunculatus, and
 Medicago sativa, and effects of extractable condensed tannins fractions on
 methanogenesis. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 123-124:403-419.
 https://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2005.04.037.
- Teixeira, J., A. Gaspar, E.M. Garrido, J. Garrido, and F. Borges. 2013. Hydroxycinnamic acid antioxidants: An electrochemical overview. Biomed Res. Int. 2013. doi:10.1155/2013/251754.

- Terramoccia, S., S. Bartocci, A. Taticchi, S. Di Giovanni, M. Pauselli, E. Mourvaki, S. Urbani, and M. Servili. 2013. Use of dried stoned olive pomace in the feeding of lactating buffaloes: Effect on the quantity and quality of the milk produced. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 26:971–980. doi:10.5713/ajas.2012.12627.
- Toral, P.G., G. Hervás, E. Bichi, Á. Belenguer, and P. Frutos. 2011. Tannins as feed additives to modulate ruminal biohydrogenation: Effects on animal performance, milk fatty acid composition and ruminal fermentation in dairy ewes fed a diet containing sunflower oil. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 164:199–206. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.01.011.
- Toral, P.G., F.J. Monahan, G. Hervás, P. Frutos, and A.P. Moloney. 2018. Review: Modulating ruminal lipid metabolism to improve the fatty acid composition of meat and milk. Challenges and opportunities. Animal 1–10. doi:10.1017/S1751731118001994.
- Tsao, R. 2010. Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols. Nutrients 2:1231–1246. doi:10.3390/nu2121231.
- Vasta, V., and G. Luciano. 2011. The effects of dietary consumption of plants secondary compounds on small ruminants' products quality. Small Rumin. Res. 101:150–159. doi:10.1016/j.smallrumres.2011.09.035.
- Waghorn, G.C., and W.C. McNabb. 2003. Consequences of plant phenolic compounds for productivity and health of ruminants. Proc. Nat 62:383–392.
- Waghorn, G.C., D.R. Tavebdale, and M.H. Woodfield. 2002. Methanogenesis from forages fed to sheep. Proc. New Zeal. Grassl. Assoc. 64:167–171.
- Waghorn, G.C., M.J. Ulyatt, A. John, and M.T. Fisher. 1987. The effect of condensed tannins on the site of digestion of amino acids and other nutrients in sheep fed on *Lotus corniculatus* L.. Br. J. Nutr. 57:115–126. doi:10.1079/BJN19870015.

Yansari, A.T., H. Sadeghi, Z. Ansari-Pirsarai, and H. Mohammad-Zadeh. 2007. Ruminal dry matter and nutrient degradability of different olive cake by–products after incubation in the rumen using nylon bag technique. Int. J. Agric. Biol. 9:439–442.
TRIAL 1

Effect of different types of olive oil pomace dietary supplementation on the rumen microbial community profile in Comisana ewes. (Federica Mannelli, Alice Cappucci, Francesco Pini, Roberta Pastorelli, Francesca Decorosi, Luciana Giovannetti, Marcello Mele, Sara Minieri, Giuseppe Conte, Mariano Pauselli, Stefano Rapaccini, Carlo Viti and Arianna Buccioni) Received: 30 November 2017; Accepted: 9 May 2018 on Scientific reports (www.nature.com/scientificreports); DOI:10.1038/s41598-018-26713-w



Author Contributions

Conceived the experiments: A.B., M.M., L.G., S.R. and C.V.; Animals care and sampling: F.M., A.C., S.M. and M.P.; Metataxonomic analysis: F.P., F.D. and R.P.; Fatty acid analysis: F.M., A.B. and A.C.; Statistical analysis: F.M., A.C., F.P. and G.C.; Wrote the manuscript: F.M., F.P., A.B. and C.V.

Abstract

Olive oil pomace (OOP) is a bio-waste rich in highly soluble polyphenols. OOP has been proposed as an additive in ruminant feeding to modulate rumen fermentations. Three groups of ewes were fed

the following different diets: a control diet and two diets supplemented with OOP, obtained with a two-phase (OOP2) or three-phase (OOP3) olive milling process. Rumen liquor (RL) showed a higher content of 18:3 *cis9 cis12 cis15* (α -linolenic acid, α -LNA) with OOP2 inclusion, and of 18:2 *cis9 trans*11 (rumenic acid, RA) with OOP3 inclusion. The overall composition of the RL microbiota did not differ among treatments. Significant differences, between control and treated groups, were found for six bacterial taxa. In particular, RL microbiota from animals fed OOPS showed a reduction in *Anaerovibrio*, a lipase-producing bacterium. The decrease in the *Anaerovibrio* genus may lead to a reduction in lipolysis, thus lowering the amount of polyunsaturated fatty acids available for biohydrogenation. Milk from animals fed OOPS showed a higher content of 18:1 cis9 (oleic acid, OA) but the α -LNA concentration was increased in milk from animals treated with OOP2 only. Therefore, inclusion of OOP in ruminant diets may be a tool to ameliorate the nutritional characteristics of milk.

Increasing the content of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) in ruminant derived products is particularly important for human health (i.e., decrease in plasma cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol). Different approaches are used to achieve this result, including the use of diet supplements, such as vegetable oils and other natural compounds, to alter the rumen microbiota¹. Adding extruded linseed to ewe diets approximately doubles the contents of 18:2 cis9 trans11 (rumenic acid, RA), 18:1 trans11 (vaccenic acid, VA) and 18:3 cis9 cis12 cis15 (α -linolenic acid, α -LNA) acids in milk². The combination of extruded linseed with natural bioactive compounds may further boost milk quality^{3,4}. Olive oil pomace (OOP) is the main by-product of olive oil manufacturing and constitutes an important source of nutraceutical molecules with antioxidant and antimicrobial activities, including polyphenols (flavonoids, anthocyans, cyanidins and phenolic acids), tyrosol, hydroxytyrosol and oleuropein^{5–8}. OOP requires specific management and storage because it cannot be directly disposed of in the environment⁹. The chemical characteristic of this bio-waste could be valorized by ruminant metabolism¹⁰. Indeed, several studies have demonstrated that dietary supplementation with OOP at low concentrations in small ruminant diets increases the yield and nutritional quality of milk without having a negative influence on animal welfare, as ewes have a higher sensitivity to polyphenols than goats^{11,12}. In an *in vitro* trial, Pallara et al.¹³ demonstrated that OOP affects rumen biohydrogenation (BH) of PUFAs, especially linoleic acid (18:2 cis9 *cis*12; LA). Other matrices rich in polyphenols, such as tannins from wine peels, chestnut wood or quebracho seeds, are already used in ruminant feeding strategies to improve milk and meat quality with significant results^{3,4,14,15}. OOP is usually produced with a three-phase (OOP3) or two-phase (OOP2) decanter. These two bio-wastes differ in their chemical and physical properties, and OOP2 is richer in polyphenols because phenol washing is limited¹⁶. It is hypothesized that inclusion of the two OOPs in a diet may have similar but not identical effects on the rumen microbiota and the BH process. Hence, this study aimed to investigate the effects of these two different OOPs added to ewe diets on rumen liquor (RL) microbiota, RL fatty acid (FA) and the milk FA profile.

Methods

Experimental design. Twenty-four multiparous Comisana ewes at 97 ± 12 days in milking (kept with the experimental flock of the Department of Agriculture, Food and Environmental Sciences at University of Perugia) were allotted into 3 experimental groups (8 animals per pen), with similar body weight (65 ± 8 kg) and milk yield (735 ± 15 g/day). The trial lasted 28 days, after 15 days of adaptation to the new diets.

OOP characterization. The OOPs used as supplementation in this trial were obtained from local virgin olive oil producers, processed according to Servili et al.¹⁷ and pitted. OOP2 was derived from a two-phase milling process, resulting in a considerable percentage of water (approximately 75%). To make this matrix more technologically suitable, the pomace was adsorbed on ground dried alfalfa to be pelleted with the other ingredients of the concentrate (CMS-IEM – Colognola ai Colli, Verona, Italy). OOP3 was derived from a three-phase process resulting in a low content of water (approximately 55%). The total amount and characterization of OOP polyphenols in the experimental diets were determined by HPLC analysis according to Mele et al.¹⁸ (Supplementary Tables S1 and S2).

Ingredients (g / kg of DM ¹)	Experimental concentrates		
	C ¹	COOP2 ¹	COOP3 ¹
Wheat bran	201.9	20.2	201.9
Corn	102.3	30.7	102.1
Broad bean	30.6	30.7	20.4
Sunflower meal	10.2	25.6	81.7
Corn gluten	10.2	20.4	10.2

Table S1. Ingredients (g/kg of DM¹) of the experimental diets used.

Dehydrated alfalfa	201.9	272.9	-
Barley	126.2	50.5	80.8
Molasses	50.1	50.2	50.1
Stoned olive pomace	-	272.9	227.1
Extruded linseed	199.6	199.8	199.6
Olive oil	40.8	-	-
CaCO ₃	10.4	10.4	10.4
Sodium bicarbonate	5.2	5.2	5.2
Di-calcium phosphate	5.2	5.2	5.2
Sodium chloride	5.2	5.2	5.2

 1 DM = Dry matter; C = control diet; COOP2 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a twophase procedure; COOP3 = control diet added with OOP extracted.

Diet composition. Diets were composed of chopped alfalfa hay (particle size >3 cm in length) administered ad libitum with 800 g/head/day of a concentrate formulated to contain the same amount of OOPs as follows: 10 g/100 g of dry matter (DM) of extruded linseed as an α -LNA source (control, diet C), 10 g/100 g of DM of extruded linseed and 13.5 g/100 g of DM of OOP2 (diet COOP2), or 10 g/100 g on DM of extruded linseed and 11.25 g/100 g of DM of OOP3 (diet COOP3) with 100 g/head/day of rolled barley. All concentrates were obtained by pelleting the ingredients (diameter was 5 mm) and offered in two equal doses with rolled barley, during each milking at 7:30 a.m. and 5:30 p.m. (Supplementary Tables S1 and S2). The experimental diets were formulated to be isoproteic and isoenergetic according to the nutrient requirements of an ewe weighing 68 kg and producing 1 kg of milk at 6.5% fat¹⁹. Animals had free access to water. Dry matter intake (DMI) of concentrates and hay was registered daily and individually on the basis of residuals.

	Alfalfa har		Experime	Experimental concentrates		
	Allalla hay	Kolled Darley —	C ¹	COOP2 ¹	COOP3 ¹	
Chemical composition (g	$(kg \ of \ DM^{1})$					
СР	139.9	118.6	148.9	153.8	149.1	
EE	11.7	34.4	129.6	121.4	127.4	
NDF	499.8	269.3	290	318.4	300.5	
ADF	349.7	102.5	149	195.2	151.7	
ADL	110.6	24.4	37.7	78.8	97.8	
Ash	77.4	26.8	68.1	91.8	64.7	
FA (% of total FAME)						
C16:0	24.5	23.6	9.0	7.8	8.6	
C16:1	2.8	1.2	0.4	0.2	0.3	
C18:0	5.1	1.8	2.7	2.8	2.6	
					40	

Table S2. Chemical composition (g/kg of DM1) of the experimental diets used in this trial.

C18:1 cis-9	5.4	18.8	34.1	36.6	33.9
C18:2 cis-9,cis-12	21.0	47.4	19.4	16.4	19.9
C18:3 n-3	39.6	4.4	31.5	33.6	31.8
SFA	31.2	27.5	12.0	10.9	11.4
MUFA	8.2	20.0	36.3	38.0	36.0
PUFA	60.6	51.8	51.6	51.0	52.2
Polyphenol profile (g/kg of	[•] DM ¹)				
3,4-DHPEA	-	-	-	1.2	1.0
p-PEA	-	-	-	0.3	0.2
Verbascoside	-	-	-	1.1	0.3
3,4-DHPEA-EDA	-	-	-	2.1	1.0
Rutin	-	-	-	0.2	0.1
Total polyphenols	-	-	-	4.9	2.7

 1 DM = Dry matter; C = control diet; COOP2 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a bi-phasic procedure; COOP3 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a three-phasic procedure; FA = Fatty acid; FAME = Fatty acid methyl ester.

Rumen liquor (RL) sampling and fatty acid (FA) and dimethyl acetal (DMA) determination. At day 28, RL samples were individually collected by a stomach tube, connected to a manual pump, after overnight fasting and before morning feeding^{20,21}. Animals were fasted before rumen sampling to facilitate the introduction of the stomach tube in the rumen as common in the veterinary practice. Five samples from each animal were collected and examined visually and tactilely to check the presence of saliva contamination. Samples from each animal were then combined, strained through a cheese cloth and allotted $(20 \text{ ml})^{20}$. Two ewes (one belonging to the C group and one belonging to the COOP3 group) were not considered at sampling time due to diseases. Immediately after collection, each sample was measured for pH, divided into 2 aliquots and stored at -80 °C until analysis. One aliquot was freeze-dried and used for FA and DMA identification according to Alves et al.²². DMAs are secondary artifacts formed during the methylation of microbial fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) derived from bacterial plasmalogen lipids contained in the external membrane and, hence, strictly related to microbial species²². First, FAs were trans-esterified^{22,23} using 5:0 and 19:0 (1 mg/ml) as internal standards. FA and DMA fractions were then separated by thinlayer chromatography (TLC). The DMAs were identified by GC/MS22, while the FAME profile was determined using a GC2010 Shimadzu gas chromatograph (Shimadzu, Columbia, MD), equipped with a flame-ionization detector and a high-polarity fused-silica capillary column (Chrompack CP-Sil 88 Varian, Middelburg, the Netherlands; 100 m, 0.25 mm i.d.; film thickness of 0.20 µm). The programming used has been previously described by Buccioni et al.³ (specifications are also available in the supplementary information).

DNA extraction, PCR amplification, illumina MiSeq sequencing and sequencing data processing. DNA was extracted from 1 ml of RL using a Fast DNA Spin kit for soil (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH) with the following modifications: 1 ml of RL was thawed and vortexed for 30 s; 185 µl of RL was then mixed lysis buffer, and the mixture was then added to a tube containing the lysis matrix and homogenized with a Retsch MM300 disrupter (90 s at 30 cycles/s). Samples were incubated for 20 min at 70 °C and centrifuged at $14,000 \times g$ at 4 °C. The supernatant was recovered and processed according to the manufacturer's specification. DNA integrity was verified by agarose gel electrophoresis. DNA purity and quantity were measured using a ND-1000 Spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Labtech, Ringmer, UK) and standardized to a concentration of 10 ng/µl. For each sample, the V3-V4 region of the 16S rRNA gene was amplified with Pro341f and Pro805R primers²⁴, and barcodes were added to the forward primer (Supplementary Table S3). Amplicons for each library were purified and mixed in equal proportions. Illumina MiSeq v3 chemistry 300 base paired-end (PE) sequencing was performed at BMR Genomics (Padova, Italy). MiSeq 300 PE sequencing produced a total of 3,983,079 reads. Reads were merged with FLASh v1.2.11²⁵ with the following parameters: -m 20, -M 280, and Phred score default of 33, resulting in 3,362,386 reads correctly aligned reads. The sequences were then trimmed to discard primers with Prinseq-lite²⁶, and sequences shorter than 200 bp were filtered out. Chimeras were removed with USEARCH 6.1²⁷. Open reference OTU picking was performed with SUMACLUST within QIIME 1.9.1²⁸ using a similarity threshold of 0.97 and Greengenes 13.8^{29} as a reference database. OTUs representing less than 0.005% of the total read abundance were discarded³⁰. Sequences identified as chloroplasts, mitochondria and unassigned sequences (approximately 5% of sequences in each library) were removed from further analysis. A total of 1,003,318 high-quality sequences were obtained with an average of $45,605 \pm 12,742$ sequences per sample, and libraries were then rarefied to 30,000 sequences per sample. QIIME tables at different taxonomic levels are available in Supplementary Tables S4–S8 (at the end of the paper).

Sample ID	BarcodeSequence	LinkerPrimerSequence	Treatment	Reverseprimer	Description
CD-01	AAAAAAAAAAAAACCCC	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	C^1	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT10
CD-02	AAAAAAAAAAAAGGGG	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	С	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT16
PSD- 01	АААААААААААААААА	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP3 ¹	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT6
CD-03	TAAAAAAAAAAAAAAACC	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	С	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT22
CD-04	ААААААААААААААААА	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	С	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT21
CSD- 01	ААААААААААААААТТ	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP2 ¹	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT3
CD-05	AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAGG	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	С	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT20
CD-06	TTAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	С	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT5
PSD-	GGCCAAAAAAAAAAAAA	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP3	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT1

Table S3. Primer and barcode sequences used in this work.

02					
CSD- 02	ААААААААААААТТАА	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP2	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT13
CD-07	AAAAAAAAAAAAGGTT	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	С	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT19
PSD- 03	AAAAAAAAAAAAGGCC	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP3	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT18
PSD- 04	ААААААААААААААА	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP3	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT9
CSD- 03	AAAAAAAAAAAATTCC	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP2	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT14
PSD- 05	AAAAAAAAAAAATTGG	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP3	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT12
CSD- 04	ААААААААААААААССТТ	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP2	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT11
CSD- 05	TTCCAAAAAAAAAATT	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP2	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT7
PSD- 06	GGAAAAAAAAAAAAAACC	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP3	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT2
CSD- 06	TTAAAAAAAAAAAAGG	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP2	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT4
CSD- 07	ААААААААААААТТТТ	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP2	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT15
CSD- 08	AAAAAAAAAAAAACCGG	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP2	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT8
PSD- 07	AAAAAAAAAAAAGGAA	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	COOP3	TCCTACGGGAGGCAGCAGT	MicrobIT17

 ^{1}C = control diet; COOP2 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a bi-phasic procedure; COOP3 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a three-phasic procedure.

Milk sampling and analysis. Individual milk samples were collected weekly, during the morning and evening milking. Milk samples were gathered in a single sample according to the morning and afternoon yield and subsequently split into two aliquots for analysis. The first aliquot was processed to evaluate fat, lactose, protein and urea contents using a Milkoscan 6000 FT (Foss Electric, Hillerød, Denmark) and to determine the somatic cell count (SCC) according to ISO 13366-2/IDF 148-2 (ISO-IDF, 2006) using a Fossmatic 5000 (Foss Electric). Somatic cell count data were expressed as a linear score (LS) according to Shook et al.³¹ as follows: LS = log_2 (SCC/12,500). Milk production was standardized as fat-corrected milk (FCM) at 6.5% fat according to Pulina and Nudda³². The second milk sample aliquots were analyzed for FA composition. Milk fat was extracted as reported by Buccioni et al.³, methylated according to Christie³³ with nonanoic (C9:0) and nonadecanoic (C19:0) acid methyl ester (Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) as the internal standards and analyzed by gas chromatography using the same program as described for RL samples.

Statistical analysis. Data on RL FA and DMA were analyzed by the following general linear model:

$$y_i = \mu + diet_i + e_{ij}$$

where y is the observation, μ is the overall mean, diet is the fixed effect of ith diet (i = 1 to 3), and e_{ij} is the residual error (SAS 9.2, 2013)³⁴.

Data related to animal performances, milk composition and yield recorded over the course of the trial were processed as a completely randomized design with repeated measures using the following linear mixed model (SAS 9.2, 2013)³⁴:

$$y_{ijk} = \mu + D_i + P_j + (D \times P)_{ij} + A_k[D_i] + e_{ijk}$$

where y is the observation, μ is the overall mean, D_i is the fixed effect of diet (i = 1 to 3), P_j is the fixed effect of sampling time (j = 1 to 4), (D × P)_{ij} is the interaction between diet and sampling time, A_k is the random effect of the animal nested within the diet (k = 1 to 8), and e_{ijk} is the residual error. The covariance structure was compound symmetry, which was selected based on Akaike's information criterion of the mixed model of SAS³⁴. Statistical significance of the diet effect was tested against variance of ewe nested within diet according to repeated measures design theory³⁵. Multiple comparisons among means were performed using the Tukey test³⁴.

Rarefaction analysis was performed using observed OTUs with 10 iterations at each sampling depth. α-diversity was estimated using observed OTUs, Chao1 value and Shannon index within QIIME. Effects of different diets on FA concentrations, and the relative abundances of different taxa were analysed using a one-way ANOVA with Tukey's HSD post hoc comparison procedure available within the agricolae package in R³⁶. A non-metric multi-dimensional scaling (nMDS) plot was constructed using the OTU table with the Bray-Curtis index within PAST³⁷. Microbial community profiles were further evaluated with multivariate statistical tests within PAST³⁷: One-way analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) and permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) were performed using Bray-Curtis and Dice indexes (9,999 permutation test).

Pairwise correlation among bacterial taxa and FA or DMA composition was performed out by multivariate analysis (SAS, 9.2, 2013).

Use of experimental animals. All experiments in this study were performed in accordance with the

approved guidelines from the European directive 2010/63/UE and DL 4/03/2014 n 26 comma g. All experimental protocols requiring animal handling and the collection of samples were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of University of Perugia.

Accession codes. The 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequence data supporting the conclusions of this article are available at the National Centre for Biotechnology Information Sequence Read Archive (SRA; <u>http://www.ncbi</u>.nlm.nih.gov/sra) bioproject number PRJNA397032, under the following SRA experiment accession numbers: SRR5895869 – SRR5895890.

Results

Animal performances and influence of polyphenol-enriched diets on rumen liquor FA and DMA. Three experimental groups of ewes were fed different diets based on alfalfa and extruded linseed as the α -LNA source. All diets were balanced and formulated according to the nutrient requirements of lactating ewes. A control diet (C) without any polyphenol supplementation and two treated diets including OOP obtained by a two-phase or a three-phase milling process (COOP2 and COOP3, respectively, Supplementary Table S1) were generated. During the trial, the administered concentrate was completely consumed by the animals regardless of the treatment (800 g/head/day). The average DMI was 2.26, 2.10 and 2.27 kg/head/day (SEM = ±0.19; P = 0.47) for the C, COOP2 and COOP3 groups, respectively.

The FA profile of RL from all groups was obtained. Significant differences (P < 0.05) between the control and treated groups were related to RA and α -LNA (Table 1). In particular, RA was significantly higher only in the RL of the COOP3 group, and α -LNA was significantly higher in ewes fed with COOP2 (45% increase respect to C group for both FAs). Moreover, the C16:1 *cis*7 content in the COOP3 group was lower than that in the other groups (Table 1).

	Diet			
		$g/100 \text{ g of } FAs^1 \pm SEl$	M^1	
FA^1	\mathbf{C}^1	$COOP2^1$	COOP3 ¹	\mathbf{P}^2
12:0	0.131 ± 0.019	0.158 ± 0.0178	0.114 ± 0.019	0.261
13 iso	0.005 ± 0.001	0.005 ± 0.001	0.006 ± 0.001	0.583
13:0	0.028 ± 0.012	0.060 ± 0.011	0.032 ± 0.012	0.140
14 iso	0.084 ± 0.005	0.092 ± 0.005	0.089 ± 0.005	0.485
14:0	0.420 ± 0.081	0.641 ± 0.076	0.396 ± 0.081	0.074
15 iso	0.527 ± 0.042	0.525 ± 0.040	0.546 ± 0.042	0.930
				45

Table 1. Effect of olive oil pomaces on FA¹ production in rumen liquor.

⁴⁵

15 ante	0.381 ± 0.022	0.388 ± 0.020	0.393 ± 0.022	0.928
15:0	0.462 ± 0.029	0.532 ± 0.027	0.460 ± 0.029	0.148
16 iso	0.211 ± 0.020	0.223 ± 0.019	0.226 ± 0.020	0.852
16:0	9.386 ± 0.739	8.034 ± 0.691	9.068 ± 0.739	0.388
17 iso	0.189 ± 0.014	0.189 ± 0.013	0.184 ± 0.014	0.963
16:1 cis7	$0.191 \pm 0.040 \text{ a}$	0.237 ± 0.037 a	$0.090 \pm 0.040 \; b$	0.043
16:1 cis9	0.032 ± 0.004	0.039 ± 0.004	0.032 ± 0.004	0.386
17 ante	0.264 ± 0.028	0.296 ± 0.026	0.297 ± 0.028	0.628
17:0	0.256 ± 0.016	0.245 ± 0.015	0.252 ± 0.016	0.885
18:0	25.494 ± 2.363	20.677 ± 2.210	25.502 ± 2.363	0.245
OA (18:1 cis9) ¹	4.598 ± 0.470	5.022 ± 0.440	5.183 ± 0.470	0.666
18:1 cis11	0.333 ± 0.087	0.188 ± 0.081	0.220 ± 0.087	0.464
18:1 cis12	0.157 ± 0.025	0.153 ± 0.023	0.144 ± 0.025	0.937
18:1 cis13	0.033 ± 0.004	0.030 ± 0.004	0.034 ± 0.004	0.763
18:1 cis15	0.167 ± 0.028	0.266 ± 0.026	0.211 ± 0.028	0.053
18:1 trans5	0.008 ± 0.001	0.008 ± 0.001	0.008 ± 0.001	0.989
18:1 trans6-8	0.095 ± 0.011	0.080 ± 0.011	0.086 ± 0.011	0.660
18:1 trans9	0.050 ± 0.005	0.041 ± 0.005	0.046 ± 0.005	0.514
18:1 trans10	0.075 ± 0.012	0.047 ± 0.012	0.052 ± 0.012	0.264
VA $(18:1 \text{ trans} 11)^1$	0.382 ± 0.103	0.239 ± 0.097	0.167 ± 0.103	0.344
18:1 trans12	0.065 ± 0.008	0.058 ± 0.007	0.069 ± 0.008	0.602
18:1 trans15	0.066 ± 0.009	0.061 ± 0.008	0.071 ± 0.009	0.686
18:1 trans16	0.631 ± 0.72	0.464 ± 0.067	0.623 ± 0.072	0.183
18:2 trans9 trans12	0.106 ± 0.011	0.116 ± 0.010	0.113 ± 0.011	0.825
LA $(18:2 \operatorname{cis9} \operatorname{cis12})^1$	0.582 ± 0.054	0.695 ± 0.051	0.712 ± 0.054	0.208
18:3 trans9 trans12	0.048 ± 0.016	0.021 ± 0.015	0.049 ± 0.016	0 3/0
trans15	0.040 ± 0.010	0.021 ± 0.015	0.047 ± 0.010	0.547
20:0	0.320 ± 0.026	0.293 ± 0.025	0.302 ± 0.026	0.755
α -LNA (18:2 cis9 cis12 cis15) ¹	$0.343 \pm 0.029 \; b$	$0.496 \pm 0.023 \ a$	$0.441\pm0.029\ ab$	0.004
RA (18:2 cis9	0.011 + 0.0011	0.016 . 0.0001	0.207 . 0.021	0.007
$(trans11)^1$	0.211 ± 0.021 b	0.216 ± 0.020 b	0.307 ± 0.021 a	0.007
21:0	0.083 ± 0.011	0.084 ± 0.010	0.079 ± 0.011	0.944
22:0	0.188 ± 0.014	0.196 ± 0.013	0.194 ± 0.014	0.906
23:0	0.103 ± 0.005	0.094 ± 0.005	0.087 ± 0.005	0.162
24:0	0.203 ± 0.014	0.217 ± 0.013	0.217 ± 0.014	0.721

¹Acronyms used in this table: FA (fatty acid), C (control diet), COOP2 (control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a two-phase procedure), COOP3 (control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a three-phase procedure), OA (oleic acid), VA (vaccenic acid), LA (linoleic acid), α -LNA (α linolenic acid), RA (rumenic acid) and SEM (Standard Error Mean). ²Probability of significant effect due to experimental diets; means within a row with different letters differ (P < 0.05).

Total DMA concentration did not vary among groups, and DMA16:0 was the most abundant DMA for all three diets (Table 2). Significant differences were found among the DMA profiles (3 out of 18 DMAs analyzed). DMA13:0 was higher in the RL of the C group than in the COOP2 and COOP3 groups. DMA18:0 reached the highest value when OOPs were included in the concentrates. DMA17:0 increased with OOP diet inclusion, with the highest value found in the COOP3 group (Table 2).

		Diet		
DMA	C^1	COOP2 ¹	COOP3 ¹	\mathbf{P}^2
Total DMA	1.507 ± 0.118	1.775 ± 0.111	1.607 ± 0.119	0.267
DMA12:0	0.798 ± 0.218	1.244 ± 0.204	1.027 ± 0.218	0.348
DMAi13:0	2.434 ± 0.674	2.405 ± 0.630	1.931 ± 0.674	0.837
DMA13:0	1.149 ± 0.123 a	$0.729 \pm 0.115 \text{ b}$	$0.587 \pm 0.123 \text{ b}$	0.012
DMAi14:0	6.039 ± 0.328	5.602 ± 0.307	5.202 ± 0.328	0.223
DMA14:0	8.044 ± 0.394	7.296 ± 0.369	6.785 ± 0.394	0.102
DMAi15:0	1.157 ± 0.204	1.391 ± 0.191	1.237 ± 0.204	0.697
DMAa15:0	5.639 ± 0.456	4.976 ± 0.435	4.712 ± 0.465	0.366
DMA15:0	6.168 ± 0.161	6.381 ± 0.151	6.010 ± 0.161	0.262
DMAi16:0	1.756 ± 0.233	1.655 ± 0.218	2.024 ± 0.233	0.507
DMA16:0	46.422 ± 1.754	46.625 ± 1.641	49.001 ± 1.754	0.518
DMA16:1	6.364 ± 0.763	6.209 ± 0.714	5.237 ± 0.763	0.534
DMAa17:0	2.617 ± 0.206	2.120 ± 0.192	2.419 ± 0.206	0.230
DMA17:0	$0.482 \pm 0.331 \text{ c}$	$1.564 \pm 0.310 \text{ b}$	2.989 ± 0.331 a	< 0.001
DMA18:0	$2.481 \pm 0.144 \; b$	3.127 ± 0.135 a	3.051 ± 0.144 a	0.009
DMA18:1t11	0.637 ± 0.070	0.693 ± 0.065	0.667 ± 0.070	0.844
DMA18:1c9	3.115 ± 0.380	3.901 ± 0.356	3.349 ± 0.380	0.317
DMA18:1c11	1.914 ± 0.244	1.836 ± 0.229	1.924 ± 0.244	0.958
DMA18:1c12	0.146 ± 0.074	0.334 ± 0.069	0.183 ± 0.074	0.166
DMA17:1	2.637 ± 0.540	1.910 ± 0.505	1.665 ± 0.540	0.430

Table 2. Total DMA1 (mg/g dry matter \pm SEM1) and DMA composition (g/100 g of total DMA \pm SEM1) of rumen liquor.

¹Acronyms used in this table: DMA (dimethyl acetal), C (control diet), COOP2 (control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a two-phase procedure), COOP3 (control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a three-phase procedure) and SEM (Standard Error Mean). ²Probability of significant effect due to experimental diets; means within a row with different letters differ (P < 0.05).

Metataxonomy of rumen liquor (RL). The results of RL microbiota sequencing produced a total of 1,813 OTUs (based on 97% nucleotide sequence identity). In each sample, a similar number of OTUs was observed, with an average of 1,452 OTUs (ranging from 1,190 to 1,566). Rarefaction curves showed high sequencing coverage for all the samples (Supplementary Fig. S1).



Figure S1. Sample-based rarefaction curves representing the number of observed OTUs at different sequencing depths (each point is the average of 10 iterations). RL microbiota are labeled respect to the ewe diet regimen (C = control diet; COOP2 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a two-phase procedure; COOP3 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a three-phase procedure).

The α -diversity was calculated from the number of OTUs observed, and the Chao 1 value and Shannon diversity index did not differ significantly among the three groups (Supplementary Fig. S2).



Figure S2. Box-plots of bacterial α -Diversity based on: A) Observed OTUs, B) Chao 1 value and C) Shannon index. Each box is labeled respect to the ewe diet regimen (C = control diet; COOP2 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a two-phase procedure; COOP3 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a three-phase procedure).

Addition of OOPs did not alter the overall microbiota composition, as indicated by the nonmetric multidimensional scaling plot (nMDS, Fig. 1A), where all samples were evenly scattered. Sample COOP2-5 formed an out-group, and it was also one of the two specimens with the lowest number of OTUs observed (Supplementary Fig. S1). No significant differences related to diet were found with one-way ANOSIM and PERMANOVA (data not shown).



Figure 1. Rumen microbiota of ewes. Rumen microbiota are labelled respective to the ewe diet regimen (C = control diet; COOP2 = control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a two-phase procedure; COOP3 = control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a three-phase procedure). (A) β -diversity, non-metric MDS plot. (B) Prokaryotic community composition of ewe RL at family level. Only families whose relative abundance was higher than 0.8% are shown.

The microbiota composition of the three groups was analyzed at different taxonomic levels. At the *phylum* level, the microbiota was dominated by *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes* (approximately 56% and 32%, respectively) (Fig. 1B). Together, these two *phyla* accounted for $89 \pm 0.7\%$ of the total microbiota (Fig. 1B), but their relative abundance was highly variable (Supplementary Fig. S3), ranging from 0.9 to 2.9 (ratio *Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes*). *Prevotellaceae* was the most represented family (30%), followed by *Ruminococcaceae* (13.4%), *Veillonellaceae* (5.2%) and *Lachnospiraceae* (4.7%) (Fig. 1B).



Figure S3. Prokaryotic microbiota composition (expressed as relative abundance) for each sample at *phylum* level. Bars are labeled respect to the ewe diet regimen (C = control diet; COOP2 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a two-phase procedure; COOP3 = control diet added with OOP extracted with a three-phase procedure).

Anaerostipes, Anaerovibrio, RFN20, Anaeroplasma, Desulfobulbus and Sphaerochaeta genera were influenced by OOP diet inclusion (Fig. 2). Excluding Anaerostipes and Anaerovibrio, the other four genera were the only representatives (in the present dataset) of their respective families and orders, so these differences were also reflected at higher taxonomic levels. Among the six different genera influenced by OOPs, the genus *Desulfobulbus* was the only taxon that had opposite behavior depending on the OOP used. The abundance of the genus *Desulfobulbus* was significantly higher in the COOP2 group than in the COOP3 group, but neither was significantly different from the C group. An increase in the relative abundance of RFN20 and Anaeroplasma was significant for the RL microbiota of ewes fed COOP2 (Fig. 2C and F). In particular, a three-fold increase in the Anaeroplasma

genus was observed (Fig. 2F). This trend was opposite for *Anaerovibrio* and *Sphaerochaeta*, which resulted significantly lower (P < 0.01) in both OOP supplemented diets (Fig. 2B and E) respect to control diet. For the *Anaerovibrio* genus, a tenfold reduction was found in the RL microbiota of ewes fed COOP2, while in COOP3 was 80% less than that in the C group (Fig. 2B). A similar trend was observed for the *Sphaerochaeta* genus, which was the 65% and 72% less in COOP2 and COOP3 groups, respectively (Fig. 2E). The reduction in *Anaerostipes* abundance was significant only for the COOP2 group (P < 0.05, Fig. 2A).



Figure 2. Effect of OOPs at genus level. Each bar is labeled respective to the ewe dietary regimen (C = control diet; COOP2 = control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a two-phase procedure; COOP3 = control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a three-phase procedure). Bacterial genera influenced by diet (ANOVA, p < 0.05): (A) *Anaerostipes*, (B) *Anaerovibrio*, (C) RFN20 genus, (D) *Desulfobulbus*, (E) *Sphaerochaeta* and (F) *Anaeroplasma*. Means sharing the same letter are not significantly different (post hoc Tukey's HSD test).

Pair-wise correlation. Pair-wise correlation showed that DMA13:0 was positively related to *Anaerostipes* (corr. coeff. +0.4661; P = 0.0287) and that DMA17:0 was positively related to *Sphaerochaeta* (corr. coeff. +0.4909; P = 0.0203), while DMA18:0 was positively correlated to RFN20 (corr. coeff. +0.5411; P = 0.0009) and to *Anaeroplasma* (corr. coeff. +0.4290; P = 0.0046) but negatively correlated to *Anaerovibrio* (corr. coeff. -0.5836; P = 0.0043).

Desulfobulbus was positively related to DMAi13:0 (corr. coeff. +0.4702; P = 0.02723). Considering the FAs involved in BH processes, *Anaerovibrio* was negatively correlated with α -LNA (corr. coeff. -0.6096; P = 0.0025) and LA (corr. coeff. -0.4795; P = 0.0239), while RFN20 genus was positively related to α -LNA (corr. coeff. +0.5789; P = 0.0047) only. RA

showed a negative correlation with *Veillonellaceae* (corr. coeff. -0.4363; P = 0.0423) and a positive correlation with *Coriobacteriaceae* (corr. coeff. +0.5425; P = 0.0090).

Milk composition and FA profile. Dietary treatments did not significantly affect milk yield and composition (Table 3).

		Diet			
	C ¹	COOP2 ¹	COOP3 ¹	SEM^1	\mathbf{P}^2
Milk yield (g/days)	575.27	603.58	617.21	80.92	0.72
FCM ¹ (g/days)	698.06	699.31	744.56	75.41	0.69
Milk fat (g/100 g)	8.65	8.19	8.62	0.28	0.52
Milk protein (g/100 g)	6.52	6.07	6.38	0.17	0.89
Milk lactose (g/100 g)	4.41	4.54	4.38	0.07	0.53
Milk urea (mg/dL)	49.00	37.97	46.85	4.24	0.54
Linear Score ³	3.66	2.95	3.93	0.44	0.65

Table 3. Effect of olive oil pomaces on milk yield and composition.

¹Acronyms used in this table: C (control diet), COOP2 (control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a two-phase procedure), COOP3 (control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a three-phase procedure), SEM (Standard Error Mean) and FCM (Fat-Corrected Milk); ²Probability of significant effect due to experimental diets; means within a row with different letters differ (P < 0.05); ³Linear score: log2 (Somatic cell count/12,500).

The FA composition of milk from ewes fed COOP2 was significantly different from that in the C group (Table 4). In contrast, the effect of the COOP3 diet was intermediate between the COOP2 and C diets (Table 4). In particular, the content of several short- and medium-chain fatty acids (SMCFAs, 6:0, 8:0, 10:0, 10:1 *cis*9, 12:0 and 14:0) was lower in COOP2 milk samples than in the other samples. Moreover, milk from ewes fed COOP2 was higher in unsaturated long-chain fatty acids (ULCFAs), such as oleic acid (18:1 *cis*9, OA) and α -LNA.

Table 4. Effect of olive oil pomaces on FAs1 production in milk.

		Diet			
		g/100 g of FAs ¹			
FA^1	C^1	$COOP2^1$	COOP3 ¹	SEM^1	\mathbf{P}^2
4:0	2.65	2.81	2.67	0.08	0.28
6:0	1.73 a	1.33 b	1.63 ab	0.10	0.02
8:0	1.49 a	0.98 b	1.33 ab	0.11	0.01
10:0	4.22 a	2.62 b	3.69 ab	0.35	0.01
10:1 cis9	0.14 a	0.08 b	0.13 ab	0.02	0.03
11:0	0.04	0.03	0.03	< 0.01	0.08
12:0	2.42 a	1.67 b	2.15 ab	0.17	0.01
13:0 <i>iso</i>	0.01	0.02	0.01	< 0.01	0.18
					53

13:0 anteiso	0.01	0.01	0.01	< 0.01	0.06
12:1 cis11	0.02	0.02	0.02	< 0.01	0.77
13:0	0.04	0.04	0.04	< 0.01	0.60
14:0 <i>iso</i>	0.07	0.08	0.07	< 0.01	0.15
14:0	6.95 a	5.64 b	6.61 ab	0.33	0.02
15:0 <i>iso</i>	0.16	0.18	0.15	0.01	0.10
15:0 anteiso	0.27	0.29	0.26	0.01	0.35
14:1 cis9	0.11	0.08	0.12	0.01	0.08
15:0	0.69	0.77	0.69	0.03	0.05
16:0 <i>iso</i>	0.15	0.15	0.14	0.01	0.72
16:0	16.72	15.62	16.86	0.42	0.09
16:1 trans9	0.28	0.34	0.28	0.02	0.14
17:0 <i>iso</i>	0.26	0.28	0.26	0.01	0.35
16:1 <i>cis</i> 7	0.24 b	0.28 a	0.24 b	0.01	0.02
16:1 <i>cis</i> 9	0.54	0.46	0.57	0.03	0.06
17:0 anteiso	0.23	0.25	0.23	0.01	0.20
17:0	0.42	0.49	0.43	0.02	0.07
17:1 cis9	0.12	0.13	0.12	0.01	0.23
18:0	9.22	9.72	9.72	0.55	0.75
18:1 <i>trans</i> 6-8	0.91	1.01	0.89	0.04	0.13
18:1 trans9	0.69	0.75	0.73	0.05	0.66
18:1 trans10	0.90	0.96	0.95	0.08	0.84
VA $(18:1 \ trans11)^1$	4.24	4.64	4.29	0.33	0.63
18:1 trans12	0.85	0.85	0.84	0.02	0.96
OA (18:1 <i>cis</i> 9) ¹	19.53 b	22.26 a	21.06 a	0.69	0.03
18:1 trans15	0.45 b	0 52 a	0.48 ab	0.02	0.02
18:1 <i>cis</i> 11	0.43	0.41	0.45	0.02	0.29
18:1 cis12	0.34	0.31	0.31	0.02	0.33
18.1 trans16	0.51	0.54	0.53	0.02	0.57
18.1 <i>cis</i> 14	0.07	0.08	0.08	0.01	0.27
LA (18:2 <i>cis</i> 9	0.07	0.00	0.00	0.11	0.27
$cis12)^1$	1.86	1.98	1.95		0.68
α-LNA (18:2 <i>cis</i> 9	1.90 b	2.38 a	1.90 b	0.13	0.02
$cis12 cis15)^{1}$		2.00 u	1.700	0.14	5.02
KA $(18:2 cis9$	2.03	2.25	2.19	0.14	0.53
1 <i>uus</i> 11) 18·3 cis9 trans11					
cis15	0.05 b	0.06 a	0.04 b	< 0.01	0.02
20:0	0.13 b	0.17 a	0.14 b	0.01	0.01
20:3n6	0.02	0.02	0.02	< 0.01	0.63
20:3n3	0.03	0.03	0.03	< 0.01	0.20
20:4n6	0.10	0.11	0.11	0.01	0.32
20:5n3	0.05	0.06	0.06	< 0.01	0.23
22:5n3	0.10	0.12	0.10	0.01	0.13
22:6n3	0.04	0.04	0.04	< 0.01	0.51

¹Acronyms used in this table: FA (fatty acid), C (control diet), COOP2 (control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a two-phase procedure), COOP3 (control diet added with olive oil pomace extracted with a three-phase procedure), OA (oleic acid), VA (vaccenic acid), LA (linoleic acid), α -LNA (α linolenic acid), RA (rumenic acid) and SEM (Standard Error Mean); ²Probability of significant effect due to experimental diets; means within a row with different letters differ (P < 0.05).

Discussion

RL microorganisms are highly sensitive to dietary composition and, in particular, to supplements with antimicrobial activity, such as polyphenols³⁸. Much of our knowledge related to rumen metabolism of feeds and additives has been gained by *in vitro* studies¹³. Thus, it is necessary to perform *in vivo* trials for better understanding the effects of diet quality. Pomace is a by-product of the olive oil extraction process and is rich in polyphenols, the amount of which is variable depending on the production technique used (two-phase *vs* three-phase method). The addition of polyphenols to animal diets may alter rumen microorganism activities^{4,13,39}. The lipid content of milk and meat is influenced by rumen metabolism. Thus, modulation of RL microbiota to increase the amount of nutraceutical PUFAs may be exploitable to ameliorate food production.

In this trial results related to DMI did not show significant differences among experimental groups. Therefore, the effects of dietary supplementation with OOPs on RL and milk composition were due to the different chemical profiles of the experimental diets. OOP addition led to an increase in PUFAs. In particular, a gain of α -LNA was obtained with OOP2, while the RA concentration was enhanced with OOP3. The different changes observed in FAs among ewe groups may be due to the different contents of polyphenols into the two extracts used as supplements in the treated diets. COOP2 showed a higher content of verbascoside, 3,4 DHPEA-EDA, and rutin than COOP3, as a consequence of the different extraction processes. Verbascoside is a molecule with antioxidant, anti-inflammatory and antimicrobial activities⁴⁰, suggesting that it may play a role in the modulation of rumen microbiota.

Since the 1980s, chemotaxonomic techniques have been considered of important value to identify and classify bacterial strains in rumen microbial ecosystems⁴¹. Several authors have found that DMAs are associated with specific bacterial taxa^{41–44}, indicating that plasmalogen lipid profiles may be considered a tool for microbial community characterization. These molecules are present in bacterial membrane, especially of anaerobic species. However, their function is not completely known. DMAs play a key role in the regulation of membrane fluidity, and their profile changes when environmental conditions vary. The DMA profile

reflects the FAME composition, and a characteristic DMA profile could be associated with a specific microbial strain^{41–44}. In this study, DMA 16:0 was the most abundant in all groups, which was in agreement with previous results of Alves et al.²². Significant variations were observed for DMA13:0, DMA17:0 and DMA18:0, even if the total DMA concentration did not vary among groups.

Metataxonomic analysis of RL microbiota showed that overall composition was unaffected by OOP addition. Although unrelated to diet composition high variability was observed, especially in the relative abundance of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes. Moreover, in this trial, a low abundance of the Lachnospiraceae family (<5%) was found, and it has been reported to be generally higher (>10%) in ewe rumen microbiota⁴⁵. The low abundance of Lachnospiraceae may be linked to the addition of a high content of concentrate (rich in starch and fat, and poor in fiber and polysaccharide xylan, which are the main substrates for cellulolytic bacteria growth) in all the ewe dietary regimens. However, the method used for rumen fluid collection may also affect solid-associated bacteria content because the esophageal pump may be selective in feed particle extraction, although it is a general veterinary practice. The Lachnospiraceae family is mainly represented by the genus Butyrivibrio, accounting for 1% of the total microbiota, and it has been known for its role in BH since the 1960s⁴⁶. An increase in α-LNA and RA contents was observed upon OOP2 or OOP3 addition to the diet, which may be due to a decrease in BH or to lower availability of substrates for BH. Although the Butyrivibrio relative presence did not vary among groups, other microorganisms are known to be involved in the BH process (i.e., Megasphaera elsdenii and Propionibacterium acnes) and have been characterized in recent decades¹. Furthermore, a putative new role has recently been assigned to several known microorganisms, which were considered until now to be involved in other processes^{47,48}.

In this study, variations linked to diet were observed for *Anaerostipes*, *Anaerovibrio*, RFN20, *Anaeroplasma*, *Desulfobulbus* and *Sphaerochaeta*. Within *Firmicutes*, the genus *Anaerovibrio* was less represented in animals fed with OOP. For *Anaerostipes*, the decrease was significant only for COOP2. *Anaerostipes* is a butyrate-producing bacterium whose activity is strongly linked to fermentation of dietary carbohydrates, and its lower relative abundance in RL from ewes fed COOP2 may be related to the lower quality of fiber contained in this diet as lignin is indigestible⁴⁹. The opposite behavior was observed for bacteria belonging to RFN20 genus, which was significantly higher in the COOP2 group, but the role of this taxon within the rumen microbial community remains unclear⁵⁰. Similarly, *Anaeroplasma* was higher in the COOP2 diet. These microorganisms are anaerobic

mycoplasmas, which in some cases have bacteriolytic capabilities affecting nutrient cycling and protein turnover. Indeed, their activity may reduce Gram-negative bacteria, thus interfering with rumen processes⁵¹. *Mycoplasmas* may also parasite ruminal fungi and protozoa modifying their activity⁵¹. Pairwise analysis showed that a variation of DMA13:0 may be related to a variation of *Anaerostipes*, and that changes in DMA17:0 may be related to a variation of *Anaerostipes*, and that changes in Sphaerochaeta, whereas DMA18:0 variations may be related to a variation of *Anaerovibrio*.

Increase in PUFAs may be linked to the lower abundance of the Anaerovibrio in the RL microbiota. This relation was confirmed by the pairwise correlation, which showed a significant and negative correlation between α -LNA and Anaerovibrio content (corr. coeff. = -0.6096, P = 0.0026). Anaerovibrio lipolyticus is the only species described within this genus, and it is a key player in the lipolysis process⁵². Lipolysis is a fundamental requirement for the next step of lipid metabolism in RL, bacterial membrane structure formation, cell replication and PUFA-BH. A. lipolyticus growth is enhanced with diets having a high content of concentrate respect to the diet based on hay⁵³. Hence, according to the high level of concentrate used in this trial, an increase in A. lipolyticus was expected in all ewe groups. In contrast, the decrease of A. lipolyticus in the COOP2 and COOP3 groups respect to the C group, showed the negative action of OOP on A. lipolyticus growth. This bacterium uses glycerol as a nutrient^{54,55}. Thus, it could be hypothesized that the presence of polyphenols in the diets may have complexed lipase enzymes, avoiding the triglyceride hydrolysis^{56,57} and ultimately resulting in less free glycerol available to A. lipolyticus for its growth^{58,59}. Reduction of A. lipolyticus led to a decrease in lipolytic activity, and hence, to a low availability of PUFAs for BH, which agreed with the increase of α -LNA and RA. It has been reported that polyphenols, such as those from chestnut or quebracho, interfere with the last step of the BH process, inhibiting the activity of microorganism, such as B. proteoclasticum^{3,39}. This study showed that polyphenols from OOP act in a different manner by affecting A. lipolyticus abundance and consequently lipolysis, which is the step before BH. The lower abundance of A. lipolyticus may explain the differences observed for PUFA concentrations in the RL of animals fed with OOP diets. Nevertheless, considering the putative role of *Butyrivibrio* group in the BH, it is possible that within the *Butyrivibrio* genus, the relative abundance of different Butyrivibrio species (i.e., B. fibrisolvens) may affect the BH process.

Dietary treatment did not significantly affect milk yield and composition. Inconsistent results have been reported in previous studies, and these differences are probably due to the

inclusion levels of OOP and/or to their associative effects with specific diets^{12,60,61}. Regarding milk urea content, the results suggested that olive phenols do not interact with the dietary protein metabolism unlike to other phenolic substances, such as tannins⁶². The lower content of several SMCFAs in milk fat from ewes fed COOP2 should be related to a lowering of mammary gland *de novo* fat synthesis⁶³. Considering long-chain fatty acids, OA content was higher in milk fat from ewes fed OOP diets than with control, although the OA supply was similar across diets. OA is largely generated by mammary Δ^9 -desaturation of 18:0⁶⁴. Further studies are required to better understand the role of OOPs on mammary gland metabolism. An increased content in α -LNA was found only in milk fat from ewes fed COOP2, as observed in the RL of the same animals. In contrast, no significant differences in RA concentrations in milk fat were observed, which may have been due to mammary gland activity for the Δ^9 desaturation of VA⁶⁴.

Conclusions

The use of different types of OOP in dairy ewe diets did not negatively affect milk yield or composition. COOP2 and COOP3 diets led to an enrichment of the milk fat with α -LNA and OA. The changes in microbiota profile due to OOPs are limited and do not alter rumen functionality, preserving animal welfare. The data of this trial highlighted that *A. lipolyticus* is particularly sensitive to OOPs. Hence, depending on the types of polyphenol added to diet, it might be possible to modulate rumen metabolism at different levels as they affect relative abundance of different microorganisms related to BH. In conclusion, this study suggested that OOPs may be used in ruminant feeding because they induce a decrease in lipolysis, favoring the accumulation of healthy FAs in milk.

References

- Lourenço, M., Ramos-Morales, E. & Wallace, R. J. The role of microbes in rumen lipolysis and biohydrogenation and their manipulation. Animal 4,1008–1023, https://doi.org/10.1017/S175173111000042X (2010).
- Mele, M. et al. Enrichment of Pecorino cheese with conjugated linoleic acid by feeding dairy ewes with extruded linseed: effect on fatty acid and triglycerides composition and on oxidative stability. International Dairy Journal 21, 365–372, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idairyj.2010.12.015 (2011).

- Buccioni, A. et al. Milk fatty acid composition, rumen microbial population, and animal performances in response to diets rich in linoleic acid supplemented with chestnut or quebracho tannins in dairy ewes. Journal of Dairy Science 98, 1145–1156, https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2014-8651 (2015).
- Buccioni, A. et al. Milk production, composition, and milk fatty acid profile from grazing sheep fed diets supplemented with chestnut tannin extract and extruded linseed.
 Small Ruminant Research 130, 200–207, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2015.07.021 (2015).
- Araújo, M., Pimentel, F. B., Alves, R. C. & Oliveira, M. B. P. P. Phenolic compounds from olive mill wastes: health effects, analytical approach and application as food antioxidants. Trends in Food Science & Technology 45, 200–211, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2015.06.010 (2015).
- Cicerale, S., Lucas, L. & Keast, R. Biological activities of phenolic compounds present in virgin olive oil. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 11, 458–479, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms11020458 (2010).
- Visioli, F. et al. Antioxidant and other biological activities of olive mill waste waters. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 47, 3397–3401, https://doi.org/10.1021/jf9900534 (1999).
- 8. Fitó, M. et al. Bioavailability and antioxidant effects of olive oil phenolic compounds in humans: a review. Annali dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanità 43, 375–381 (2007).
- 9. Souilem, S. et al. Olive oil production sector: environmental effects and sustainability challenges in Olive mill waste (ed. Galanakis, C.M.) 1–28 (Academic Press, 2017).
- Buccioni, A., Decandia, M., Minieri, S., Molle, G. & Cabiddu, A. Lipid metabolism in the rumen: new insights on lipolysis and biohydrogenation with an emphasis on the role of endogenous plant factors. Animal Feed Science and Technology 174, 1–25, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2012.02.009 (2012).
- Molina-Alcaide, E. & Yanez-Ruiz, D. R. Potential use of olive by-products in ruminant feeding: a review. Animal Feed Science and Technology 147, 247–264, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2007.09.021 (2008).
- Chiofalo, B., Liotta, L., Zumbo, A. & Chiofalo, V. Administration of olive cake for ewe feeding: effect on milk yield and composition. Small Ruminant Research 55, 169–176, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2003.12.011 (2004).

- Pallara, G. et al. Effect of stoned olive pomace on rumen microbial communities and polyunsaturated fatty acid biohydrogenation: an in vitro study. BMC Veterinary Research 10, 271, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12917-014-0271-y (2014).
- Luciano, G. et al. Dietary olive cake reduces the oxidation of lipids, including cholesterol, in lamb meat enriched in polyunsaturated fatty acids. Meat Science 93, 703–714, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.11.033 (2013).
- Nudda, A., Battacone, G., Usai, M. G., Fancellu, S. & Pulina, G. Supplementation with extruded linseed cake affects concentrations of conjugated linoleic acid and vaccenic acid in goat milk. Journal of Dairy Science 89, 277–282, https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72092-6 (2006).
- 16. Boskou, D. Olive oil: Chemistry and technology. (AOCS Press, 2006).
- Servili, M. et al. Innovation in extraction technology for improved virgin olive oil quality and by-product valorisation. Acta Horticulturae 888, 303–315, https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2011.888.35 (2011).
- Mele, M. et al. The use of stoned olive cake and rolled linseed in the diet of intensively reared lambs: effect on the intramuscular fatty-acid composition. Animal 8, 152–162, https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731113001924 (2014).
- Cannas, A. Feeding of lactating ewes in Dairy sheep feeding and nutrition (eds. Pulina, G. & Bencini, R.), 79–108 (CABI publishing, 2004).
- Ramos-Morales, E. et al. Use of stomach tubing as an alternative to rumen cannulation to study ruminal fermentation and microbiota in sheep and goats. Animal Feed Science and Technology 198, 57–66, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.09.016</u> (2014).
- Varadyova, Z., Kisidayova, S., Siroka, P. & Jalc, D. Comparison of fatty acid composition of bacterial and protozoal fractions in rumen fluid of sheep fed diet supplemented with sunflower, rapeseed and linseed oils. Animal Feed Science and Technology 144, 44–54, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2007.09.033 (2008).
- Alves, S. P., Santos-Silva, J., Cabrita, A. R., Fonseca, A. J. & Bessa, R. J. Detailed dimethylacetal and fatty acid composition of rumen content from lambs fed lucerne or concentrate supplemented with soybean oil. PloS one 8, e58386, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal</u>. pone.0058386 (2013).
- Kramer, J. K. et al. Evaluating acid and base catalysts in the methylation of milk and rumen fatty acids with special emphasis on conjugated dienes and total trans fatty acids. Lipids 32, 1219–1228, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11745-997-0156-3 (1997).

- Takahashi, S., Tomita, J., Nishioka, K., Hisada, T. & Nishijima, M. Development of a prokaryotic universal primer for simultaneous analysis of Bacteria and Archaea using next-generation sequencing. PloS one 9, e105592, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0105592 (2014).
- Magoc, T. & Salzberg, S. L. FLASH: fast length adjustment of short reads to improve genome assemblies. Bioinformatics 27, 2957–2963, https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr507 (2011).
- Schmieder, R. & Edwards, R. Quality control and preprocessing of metagenomic datasets. Bioinformatics 27, 863–864, https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr026 (2011).
- Edgar, R. C., Haas, B. J., Clemente, J. C., Quince, C. & Knight, R. UCHIME improves sensitivity and speed of chimera detection. Bioinformatics 27, 2194–2200, https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr381 (2011).
- Caporaso, J. G. et al. QIIME allows analysis of high-throughput community sequencing data. Nature Methods 7, 335–336, https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.f.303 (2010).
- DeSantis, T. Z. et al. Greengenes, a chimera-checked 16S rRNA gene database and workbench compatible with ARB. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72, 5069– 5072, https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03006-05 (2006).
- Bokulich, N. A. et al. Quality-filtering vastly improves diversity estimates from Illumina amplicon sequencing. Nature Methods 10, 57–59, https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2276 (2013).
- Shook, G. E. Genetic-improvement of mastitis through selection on somatic-cell count. Veterinary Clinics of North America: Food Animal Practice 9, 563–381, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0749-0720(15)30622-8 (1993).
- 32. Pulina G. & Nudda A. Milk production in Dairy sheep feeding and nutrition (ed. Pulina, G.) 11–27 (Avenue Media, 2002).
- Christie, W. W. A simple procedure for rapid transmethylation of glycerolipids and cholesteryl esters. Journal of Lipid Research 23, 1072–1075 (1982).
- 34. SAS Institute. SAS User's Guide: Statistics. Version 9.2 (2008).
- Littell, R. C., Henry, P. R. & Ammerman, C. B. Statistical analysis of repeated measures data using SAS procedures. Journal of Animal Science 76, 1216–1231, https://doi.org/10.2527/1998.7641216x (1998).
- R Development Core Team. R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna. http://www.R-project.org (2010).

- Hammer, Ø., Harper, D. A. T. & Ryan, P. D. PAST: Paleontological statistics software packages for education and data analysis. Palaeontologia Electronica 4, XIX–XX (2001).
- Oskoueian, E., Abdullah, N. & Oskoueian, A. Effects of flavonoids on rumen fermentation activity, methane production, and microbial population. BioMed Research International, https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/349129 (2013).
- Vasta, V. et al. Bacterial and protozoal communities and fatty acid profile in the rumen of sheep fed a diet containing added tannins. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 76, 2549–2555, https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02583-09 (2010).
- 40. Vertuani, S. et al. Activity and stability studies of verbascoside, a novel antioxidant, in dermo-cosmetic and pharmaceutical topical formulations. Molecules 16, 7068–7080, https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules16087068 (2011).
- Minato, H., Ishibashi, S. & Hamaoka, T. Cellular fatty acid and sugar composition or representative strains of rumen bacteria. The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology 34, 303–319, https://doi.org/10.2323/jgam.34.303 (1988).
- Katz, I. & Keeney, M. The isolation of fatty aldehydes from rumen-microbial lipid. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 84, 128–132, https://doi.org/10.1016/0926-6542(64)90068-X (1964).
- 43. Goldfine, H. The appearance, disappearance and reappearance of plasmalogens in evolution. Progress in Lipid Research 49, 493–498, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plipres.2010.07.003 (2010).
- 44. Miyagawa, E. Cellular fatty acid and fatty aldehyde composition of rumen bacteria. The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology 28, 389–408, https://doi.org/10.2323/jgam.28.389 (1982).
- 45. Pitta, D. W. et al. Bacterial diversity dynamics associated with different diets and different primer pairs in the rumen of Kankrej cattle. PloS one 9, e111710, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111710 (2014).
- Kepler, C. R. & Tove, S. B. Biohydrogenation of unsaturated fatty acids. 3. Purification and properties of a linoleate delta-12-cis, delta-11-trans-isomerase from *Butyrivibrio fibrisolvens*. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 242, 5686–5692 (1967).
- 47. Castro-Carrera, T. et al. Rumen bacterial community evaluated by 454 pyrosequencing and terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism analyses in dairy sheep fed marine algae. Journal of Dairy Science 97, 1661–1669, https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-7243 (2014).

- Campanaro, S. et al. In vitro fermentation of key dietary compounds with rumen fluid: a genome-centric perspective. The Science of the Total Environment 584–585, 683–691, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.01.096 (2017).
- Kamke, J. et al. Rumen metagenome and metatranscriptome analyses of low methane yield sheep reveals a Sharpea-enriched microbiome characterised by lactic acid formation and utilisation. Microbiome 4, 56, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0201-2</u> (2016).
- Klevenhusen, F. et al. Changes in fibre-adherent and fluid-associated microbial communities and fermentation profiles in the rumen of cattle fed diets differing in hay quality and concentrate amount. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 93, https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fix100 (2017).
- 51. Joblin, K. N. & Naylor, G. E. The ruminal mycoplasmas: a review. Journal of Applied Animal Research 21, 161–179, https://doi.org/10.1080/09712119.2002.9706368 (2002).
- Prins, R. A., Lankhorst, A., van der Meer, P. & Van Nevel, C. J. Some characteristics of Anaerovibrio lipolytica a rumen lipolytic organism. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 41, 1– 11, 0.1007/BF02565031 (1975).
- 53. Singh, K. M. et al. Study of rumen metagenome community using qPCR under different diets. Meta Gene 2, 191–199, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mgene.2014.01.001 (2014).
- Krueger, N. A. et al. Evaluation of feeding glycerol on free-fatty acid production and fermentation kinetics of mixed ruminal microbes in vitro. Bioresource Technology 101, 8469–8472, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.010 (2010).
- 55. Ishlak, A., Gunal, M. & AbuGhazaleh, A. A. The effects of cinnamaldehyde, monensin and quebracho condensed tannin on rumen fermentation, biohydrogenation and bacteria in continuous culture system. Animal Feed Science and Technology 207, 31–40, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.05.023 (2015).
- 56. He, Q., Lv, Y. & Yao, K. Effects of tea polyphenols on the activities of alpha-amylase, pepsin, trypsin and lipase. Food Chemistry 101, 1178–1182, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.03.020 (2007).
- Frutos, P., Hervás, G., Giráldez, F. J. & Mantecón, A. R. Review. Tannins and ruminant nutrition. Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research 2, 191–202, https://doi.org/10.5424/sjar/2004022-73 (2004).
- 58. Danielsson, R. et al. Effects on enteric methane production and bacterial and archaeal communities by the addition of cashew nut shell extract or glycerol-an in vitro

evaluation. Journal of Dairy Science 97, 5729–5741, https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2014-7929 (2014).

- 59. Castagnino, P. S. et al. Glycerol combined with oils did not limit biohydrogenation of unsaturated fatty acid but reduced methane production in vitro. Animal Feed Science and Technology 201, 14–24, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.12.004 (2015).
- Abbeddou, S., Rischkowsky, B., Richter, E. K., Hess, H. D. & Kreuzer, M. Modification of milk fatty acid composition by feeding forages and agro-industrial byproducts from dry areas to Awassi sheep. Journal of Dairy Science 94, 4657–4668, https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2011-4154 (2011).
- Molina-Alcaide, E. et al. Effects of partial replacement of concentrate with feed blocks on nutrient utilization, microbial N flow, and milk yield and composition in goats. Journal of Dairy Science 93, 2076–2087, https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2009-2628 (2010).
- Min, B. R., Barry, T. N., Attwood, G. T. & McNabb, W. C. The effect of condensed tannins on the nutrition and health of ruminants fed fresh temperate forages: a review. Animal Feed Science and Technology 106, 3–19, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-8401(03)00041-5</u> (2003).
- Secchiari, P. et al. Effect of kind of dietary fat on the quality of milk fat from Italian Friesian cows. Livestock Production Science 83, 43–52, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(03)00043-5 (2003).
- Chilliard, Y. et al. Diet, rumen biohydrogenation and nutritional quality of cow and goat milk fat. European Journal of Lipid Science and Technology 109, 828–855, https://doi.org/10.1002/ejlt.200700080 (2007).

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Prof M. Servili for scientific and technical support in preparing the OOP supplement.

The research was funded by the Tuscany Region Department (Project AGRIFOOD-NUTRIFOROIL).

Additional Information

Supplementary information accompanies this paper at https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-26713-w.Supplementarytableshttps://static-content.springer.com/esm/art%3A10.1038%2Fs41598-018-26713-w.26713-w/MediaObjects/41598_2018_26713_MOESM2_ESM.xlsx

Competing Interests: The authors declare no competing interests.

Publisher's note: Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons license, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons license, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons license and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

© The Author(s) 2018

TRIAL 2

2.1 Chestnut or quebracho tannins in the diet of grazing ewes supplemented with soybean oil: effects on animal performances, blood parameters and fatty acid composition of plasma and milk lipids. (Arianna Buccioni, Mariano Pauselli, Sara Minieri, Valentina Roscini, <u>Federica Mannelli</u>, Stefano Rapaccini, Paola Lupi, Giuseppe Conte, Andrea Serra, Alice Cappucci, L. Brufani, Francesca Ciucci, Marcello Mele) Received 24 November 2016; Received in revised form 21 April 2017; Accepted 13 May 2017 Available online 15 May 2017 on Small Ruminant Research (www.elsevier.com/locate/smallrumres); DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2017.05.006



Chestnut or quebracho tannins in the diet of grazing ewes supplemented with soybean oil: Effects on animal performances, blood parameters and fatty acid composition of plasma and milk lipids

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2017.05.006

Get rights and content

sciencedirect.com/science/iournal/09214488/153/.../C

Author Contributions

Conceived the experiments: A.B., M.P., M.M., A.S. and S.R.; Animals care and sampling: F.M., A.C., F.C., V.R. and L.B.; Proximate analysis: A.C. and V.R.; Fatty acid analysis: F.M. and S.M.; Blood analysis: P.L. and S.M.; Statistical analysis: G.C. and F.M.; Wrote the manuscript: A.B., A.S. and F.M.

ABSTRACT

The aim of the present study was to evaluate the effect of the inclusion of chestnut or quebracho tannin extracts in the diet of grazing ewes supplemented with soybean oil, on the blood plasma and milk fatty acid profile, milk quality traits and animal metabolic profile. Eighteen Comisana ewes at 172 ± 6 days in milking were allotted into 3 experimental groups. Diets were characterized by pasture ad libitum administered and by 800 g/head and day of 3 experimental concentrates containing 84.5 g of soybean oil/kg of DM and 52.8 g/kg DM of bentonite (Control diet) or 52.8 g/kg DM of chestnut tannin extract (hydrolysable tannins, CHE diet) or 52.8 g/kg DM of quebracho tannin extract (condensed tannins, QUE diet). The trial lasted 4 weeks after 15 days of adaptation to the feeding regimen. Milk yield was daily recorded while milk composition and blood parameters were weekly analysed. CHE and QUE did not affect the milk yield and composition. Casein Index was affected by diet and it was significant higher in milk from animals fed QUE (P < 0.0259). The clotting parameters with the exception of a₃₀ were affected by tannins: r was higher for QUE milk while k₂₀ increased regardless the kind of tannin. Blood parameters were not affected by tannins and the oxidative status of ewes, determined using MDA as indicator, did not present significant differences among groups, regardless the concentrates fed to animals. Fatty acid profile of blood plasma demonstrated that tannin extract, regardless the source, favored the accumulation of vaccenic acid (trans-11 18:1) reducing the hematic concentration of stearic acid (18:0). Only few significant differences in milk fatty acid profile were found. In particular, rumenic acid (cis-9, trans-11 18:2) increased when the concentrates contained polyphenols and the stronger effect is reached with QUE (P < 0.0002).

Introduction

Chestnut (*Castanea sativa* Miller) trees, widespread in the Mediterranean region, and Quebracho (*Schinopsis lorentzii*) trees, widespread in South America, have their wood or fruits rich in hydrolysable and condensed tannins, respectively. Several authors demonstrated the efficacy of these two extracts in modulating biohydrogenation (BH) of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) in dairy ewes fed diets based on hay and concentrates supplemented with oils or full fat seeds (Buccioni et al., 2015 a; Hervàs et al., 2003; Toral et al., 2011; Toral et al., 2013). Recently, Buccioni et al. (2015a) and Correddu et al. (2015) reported that the interaction between dietary polyphenols such as chestnut (CHE), quebracho (QUE) or grape seeds (GS) and lipid supplements (soybean oil or extruded linseed) resulted in an increase of the concentration of linoleic (LA; *cis-9, cis-12* 18:2), vaccenic (VA, *trans-11* 18:1), rumenic (RA, *cis-9, trans-11* 18:2) acids and in a decrease of total saturated fatty acids (SFA) in sheep milk. These effects were probably due to the ability of tannins to interfere with rumen microbial metabolism, as indirectly confirmed by changes in the concentration of volatile

fatty acids (VFA) and by changes in rumen microbial communities (Buccioni et al., 2015a; Carreño et al., 2015; Minieri et al., 2014; Pallara et al., 2014; Vasta et al., 2010).

In a previous experiment, Buccioni et al. (2015a) demonstrated that QUE tannins were more efficient than CHE tannins in perturbing rumen BH when diets were based on preserved forages and supplemented with soybean oil as main dietary source of PUFA. However, little information is available on the interaction between different kind of tannin extracts and rumen BH when PUFA contemporary originate from oil and pasture. Since in oil PUFA are mainly present as triglycerides whereas in forage are constituents of structural lipids such as phospholipids (Buccioni et al., 2012), some differences might occur in the BH process due to the timing of lipolysis or to the kind of bacteria strains involved. Consequently, also the interaction between different kinds of tannins and the individual step of the BH process of PUFA may be altered according to the origin of PUFA (triglycerides or phospholipids).

Hence, the aim of the present study was to evaluate the effect of the inclusion of a moderate amount (< 2%) of CHE or QUE tannin extracts in the diet of grazing ewes supplemented with soybean oil, on the blood plasma and milk fatty acid (FA) profile and on the milk yield and quality. Moreover, since some toxic effects of dietary tannins have been previously reported in ruminants (Reed, 1995; Hervas et al., 2003), blood parameters as indicators of hepatic function and oxidative status were also considered in the present experiment.

Abbreviations: ADF, acid detergent fibre; ADL, acid detergent lignin; ALB, albumin; BH, biohydrogenation; C, control concentrate; CHO, cholesterol; CHE, chestnut tannin; CI, casein index; CLA, conjugated linoleic acid; DM, , dry matter; DMI, dry matter intake; FA, fatty acid; FCM, fat corrected milk; GBL, globuline; γ GT, γ -glutamil-transferase; GLU, glucose; α -LNA, alpha-linolenic acid; LA, linoleic acid; MDA, malonaldehyde; MTP, milk total polyphenols; NDF, neutral detergent fibre assayed with heat stable amylase and expressed inclusive of residual ash; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; QUE, quebracho tannin; RA, rumenic acid; SGPT, serum glutamic-pyruvic, transaminase; SGOT, serum glutamic-oxaloacetictransaminase; TAE, tannic acid equivalents; VA, vaccenic acid.

Material and methods

Experimental design

Animals

Eighteen multiparous Comisana ewes at 172 ± 6 days in milking (DIM) kept at the Experimental Section of the Department of Agriculture, Food and Environmental Science – University of Perugia

Italy, were randomly allotted into 3 experimental groups, blocked for body weight (68.1 \pm 7.83 kg; BW), age, and milk yield. Each group was formed by 6 ewes and kept in a pen. All animals grazed together eight hour per day on a spontaneous pasture, following the rotational grazing technique. Grazing periods lasted 3 days each by the displacement of the electrified fence, yielding approximately 40 m²/ewe/day while water was always available. The trial lasted 4 weeks after 15 days of adaptation to the feeding regimen. The handling of the animals was according to Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC, 2014) of University of Perugia. The ewes were milked twice daily at 07:30 and 17:30 h using a milking machine (43 kPa; 150 pulsation/min) and daily individual milk yield was recorded.

Diets

The experimental diets were formulated according to the nutrient requirements of an ewe weighing 68 kg and producing 1 kg of milk at 6.5% of fat (Cannas et al., 2004):

$$ME1 = \{ [251.73 + 89.64 \times PQ + 37.85 \times (PP/0.95)] \times 0.001 \times Yn \} / kl$$

measured milk yield at a particular day of lactation, kg/d; PQ is measured milk fat for a particular day of lactation, %; PP is measured true milk protein for a particular day of lactation, %; and kl is efficiency of ME utilization for milk production, which is equal to 0.644.

Diets were composed by spontaneous pasture managed as described above, 250 g per head and day of chopped grass hay (particle size>4 cm of length) and 800 g per head and day of a concentrate, which contained 84.5 g of soybean oil/kg DM and 52.8 g/kg DM of bentonite (control diet), or 52.8 g/kg DM of chestnut tannins (CHE diet) or 52.8 g/kg DM of quebracho tannins (QUE diet). All the concentrates ingredients were incorporated into pellets using a pelletting machine (CMS-IEM – Colognola ai Colli, Verona, Italy), pellet diameter was 5 mm, and the pelleting temperature ranged between 35 and 40 °C. The chemical composition of feeds is presented in Table 1.

Table 1. Ingredients, chemical composition and fatty acids profile of the experimental concentrates, hay and of the pasture administered to the ewes.

			Experimental concentrates ¹			
	Hay	Pasture	Control	CHE	QUE	
Ingredients (g/kg of dry matter)						
Barley			213.8	213.8	213.8	
Corn			211.3	211.3	211.3	
Wheat bran			158.5	158.5	158.5	
					69	

Soybean meal (44 CP)			126.8	126.8	126.8
Beet pulp			89.8	89.8	89.8
Soybean oil ²			84.5	84.5	84.5
Bentonite			52.8	-	-
Chestnut tannin extract ³			-	52.8	-
Quebracho tannin extract ⁴			-	-	52.8
Molasses			41.3	41.3	41.3
CaCO ₃			10.6	10.6	10.6
Sodium bicarbonate			5.3	5.3	5.3
Di-calcium phosphate			5.3	5.3	5.3
Chamical composition (g/kg of D					
Chemical composition (g/kg of Di	vi)				
Chemical composition (g/kg	01				
Crude Protein	111.2	156.8	135.0	135.0	135.0
Ether extract	111.2	24.5	155.0	155.0	155.0
NDE	12.0 636 4	24.5 125.6	90.0	90.0 191.0	90.0 191.0
	501.3	425.0 247.4	181.0	101.0 74 2	74.2
	105.7	547.4 67.2	12.0	12.0	120
ADL	103.7	07.5	12.9	12.9	12.9
$\mathbf{ME} \left(\mathbf{ML} / \mathbf{k} \alpha \mathbf{DM} \right)$	09.0	43.2	6J.0 10.2	0J.U 10.2	0J.0 10.2
NE1 (MI/kg DM)	7.0 4.7	0.5 5 0	10.5	10.5	10.5
NEI (MJ/Kg DNI) Eatty acida (g/100g of total fatty a	4./	5.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Faily acids (g/100g of total faily a	255	16.2	14.0	14.0	14.0
10:0	55.5 5 9	10.3	14.0	14.0	14.0
18:0	5.8	4.2	3.6	3.0	3.0
<i>cis</i> -9 18:1	9.3	11.8	23.3	23.3	23.3
18:2 n-6	28.5	22.2	51.4	51.4	51.4
18:3 n-3	2.8	37.5	5.8	5.8	5.8

¹CHE: concentrate containing chestnut tannin extract; QUE: concentrate containing quebracho tannin extract. ²Fatty acid profile of soybean oil (g / 100g of total fatty acids): 16:0, 11.0; 18:0, 3.6; *cis*-9 18:1, 22.1; *cis*-9, *cis*-12 18:2, 53.7; *cis*-9, *cis*-12, *cis*-15 18:3, 7.2. ³Hydrolysable tannins extracted from Chestnut wood (*Castanea sativa*) containing 750 g of equivalent tannic acid/kg DM (provided by Gruppo Mauro Saviola srl Radicofani, Siena, Italy). ⁴Condensed tannins extracted from quebracho (*Schinopsis lorentzii*) containing 456 g of equivalent tannic acid/kg DM (provided by Guido Lapi spa, Castel Franco di Sotto, Pisa, Italy).

The dose of tannins was chosen in order to obtain a tannin concentration in the diet of nearly 16 g/kg of expected DM intake, estimated according to Cannas et al. (2004). Based on results from previous studies published in literature, this dose was considered as safe for the animal and practical for the farmers (Buccioni et al., 2015a, b). One hundred g/head of rolled barley with the 800 g/head of experimental concentrates were individually offered during milking. Chestnut hydrolysable tannins (750 g/kg DM of equivalent tannic acid; by Gruppo Mauro Saviola srl Radicofani, Siena, Italy), and extract of quebracho condensed tannins (456 g/kg DM of equivalent tannic acid; by Guido Lapi spa Castel Franco di Sotto, Pisa, Italy) were titrated according to Burns (1963). The chromatographic profile of CHE tannin extract is

reported in literature by Campo et al. (2012) while the profile of QUE tannin extract is reported by Pash et al. (2001).

Sampling and analysis

Feed sampling and analysis

Pasture was sampled hand-plucking one square meter area before each grazing period while hay, experimental concentrates and their orts were measured daily, pooled and sampled weekly. All collected samples were stored at -80 °C until analysis. Samples were freeze-dried and then ground for chemical analysis by mill Cyclotec 1093 (PBI International, Milan, Italy), using a mesh size of 1 mm. Crude protein (CP), ether extract (EE) and ash were determined according to the AOAC methods 976.06, 920.39 and 942.05, respectively (AOAC, 1995). Neutral detergent fiber (NDF), acid detergent fiber (ADF) and lignin were determined according to Van Soest et al. (1991), using heat stable amylase and sodium sulphite, and expressed inclusive of residual ash. Metabolizable energy (ME) and Net energy for lactation (NEI) were calculated according to Cannas et al. (2004). Feed FA were extracted according to Folch et al. (1957), esterified according to Christie (1982) with 19:0 (Sigma Chemical Co., St Louis, MO) as the internal standard, and identified using the same procedure described below for FA of milk samples.

Milk sampling and analysis

Individual milk samples from morning and evening milking were collected weekly and allotted into three aliquots for analysis: the first aliquot was processed in order to assess fat, lactose, protein and casein content, by using Milkoscan 6000 FT (Foss Electric, Hillerød Denmark), and total somatic cell count (SCC) according to ISO 13366-2|IDF 148-2 (2006), by using a Fossomatic 5000 (Foss Electric, Hillerød Denmark) and expressed as linear score (linear score =log₂ [SCC/12,500]; Shook, 1993).

The second aliquot was processed to determine the milk rennet characteristics at 35 °C by a Maspress apparatus (Foss Italia, Padua, Italy), according to Zannoni and Annibaldi (1981). The following rennet parameters were determined: clotting time (r) that is the time from rennet addition to the beginning of coagulation, firming time (k_{20}) that is the time needed for the amplitude to reach 20 mm on the recording chart, and curd firmness (a_{30}) that is the amplitude of the trace 30 min after rennet addition. The third aliquot of milk samples was stored at -80 °C until analysis for FA extraction and composition by gas-chromatography

according to Buccioni et al. (2010). Individual fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs) were quantified using valeric acid (5:0) and nonadecanoic acid (19:0) methyl esters (cod W275204 and cod N5377, respectively; Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) as internal standards and identified by comparison of the relative retention times of FAMEs peaks from samples, with those of the standard mixture 37 Component FAMEs Mix (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA 4:0 - 24:0 (cod 18919 - 1AMP, Supelco, Bellefonte, PA, USA), individual trans-9 18:1 and trans-11 18:1 (cod 46903 and v1381 respectively, Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA), individual cis-9, trans-11 18:2 (cod 1255, Matreya Inc Pleasant GAP, PA, USA.), CLA mix standard (cod 05632; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri, USA) and published isomeric profile (Kramer et al., 1997; Kramer et al., 2004; Cruz-Hernandez et al., 2006). The 18:1 isomers elution sequence was performed according to Kramer et al. (2004). Moreover, standard mix of α -linolenic acid (α -LNA) isomers (cod 47792, Supelco, Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) and of LA isomers (cod 47791, Supelco, Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) and published isomeric profiles (Destaillats et al., 2005) were used to identify the isomers of interest. Two bacterial acid methyl ester mix (cod 47080-U Supelco, Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO; GLC110, Matreya, Pleasant Gap, PA) and individual standard for methyl ester of iso 14:0, anteiso 14:0, iso 15:0 and anteiso 17:0 (cods 21-1211-11, 21-1210-11, 21-1312-11 and 21–1415-11, Larodan Malmo, Sweden) were used to identify branched FA profile. Inter and intra-assay coefficients of variation were calculated by using a reference standard butter (CRM 164, Community Boureau of Reference, Bruxelles, Belgium) and detection threshold of FA was 0.01 g/100 g of FA (Contarini et al., 2013). All FA composition results are expressed as g/100 g of total lipids for milk fat.

At 28th day of the trial, milk samples were collected also for total polyphenol content (milk total polyphenol, MTP) determination. MTP, expressed as tannic acid equivalents (TAE), was measured according to the Folin- Ciocalteu method (Makkar et al., 1993).

Blood sampling and analysis

Samples of blood were collected from each animal at the end of every experimental week by punching the jugular vein. Blood was stored into tubes without anticoagulant and serum was immediately separated by centrifugation (5000 x g for 30 min at 25 °C).

For FA profile, blood samples were collected using tubes with anticoagulant (heparin) and plasma was immediately separated by centrifugation (5000 \times g for 30 min at 25 °C). One millilitre of plasma for each sample was directly methylated using a combination of methods according to Kramer et al. (1997) modified by Park et al. (2001). The first step consisted of an
alkaline methylation with sodium methylate/methanol (0.5 mL of 0.5 M-Sodium Methoxide) to esterify glycerides. The second step involved an acid methylation with HCl/methanol (4 mL of 5% methanolic HCl, 1 h at 50 °C) as catalyst to esterify free fatty acids. Fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) were extracted using n-hexane (2 mL) with 9:0 and 23:0 methyl ester (cod 76368 and T9900 respectively, Sigma Chemical Co., St. Louis, MO) as internal standards for quantification, and maintained in vials with hermetic closure to avoid the loss of volatile components. FAME were separated and identified by gas-chromatography using the same programming described above for milk. All FA composition results were expressed as g/100 g of FA.

For metabolic profile, total protein (Colorimetric method BIURET), urea (kinetic enzymatic method), albumine (ALB; colorimetric BCG method), y-glutamil-transferase (y-GT; kinetic SZASZ-tris method), serum glutamic-pyruvic-transaminase (SGPT; kinetic UV IFCC method), serum glutamic-oxaloacetic-transaminase (SGOT; kinetic UV IFCC method), glucose (GLU; enzymatic colrimetric method), cholesterol (CHO; enzymatic colrimetric method CHO-POD), creatinine (kinetic enzymatic method – Jaffe), triglycerides (enzymatic colrimetric method) and phosphorus (Ammonium Molybdate method - UV) were detected using diagnostic kits (cods ASR01120; ASR01143; ASR0128012; ASR01194; ASR01219; ASR01229; ASR01202; ASR01101; ASR01150; ASR01134; ASR01181 Assel s.r.l., Rome Italy) with an auto blood-analyzer for hematology (Vegavet AMS, Analyser Medical System, Rome, Italy). Globuline (GBL) content was estimated by the difference between total protein and albumin contents. Moreover, blood samples, collected at the end of the trial (4th week), were used also to determine the lipid peroxidation in plasma using as indicator the malonaldehyde (MDA). The assays were carried out using commercial kits (QuantiChrom[™] TBARS Assay Kit, Bioassay System, cod. DTBA-100) by means colorimetric method, monitoring the change of absorbance at 532 nm with a spectrophotometer (Placer et al., 1996). The MDA concentrations were expressed as micromoles per millilitre for plasma.

Statistical analysis

All data (e.g., animal performance, milk composition, blood metabolic parameters and milk FA profile) recorded over the course of the experiment were processed as completely randomized design with repeated measures using the MIXED procedure of SAS (SAS, 1999):

$$Y_{ijkl} = \mu + D_i + T_j + I_k(D) + (D \times T)_{ij} + e_{ijkl}$$

where y_{ijkl} is the observation; μ is the overall mean; Di the fixed effect of diet (i= 1 to 3); T_j the fixed effect of sampling time (j =1 to 4); I_k is the random effect of the ewe nested within the diet (k =1 to 6); (Di×T)_{ij} the interaction between diet and sampling time and e_{ijkl} the residual error. The covariance structure was compound symmetry, which was selected on the basis of Akaike's information criterion of the mixed model of SAS. Statistical significance of the diet effect was tested against variance of sheep nested within diet according to repeated measures design theory (Littell et al., 1998). Multiple comparisons among means were performed using the Tukey's test.

Data related to MTP in milk and MDA in plasma were processed using one-way analysis of variance (SAS, 1999) with a model that included diet and experimental error.

$$y_{ij} = \mu + D_i + e_{ij}$$

where y_{ij} is the observation; μ is the overall mean; D_i the diet (i =1 to 3) and e_{ij} the residual error. Multiple comparisons among means were performed using the Tukey's test.

Results

Animal performance, milk composition and milk total polyphenol content

The dietary supplementation with tannic extracts did not affect the palatability of concentrates, completely consumed by animals.

During the experiment, no refusal was obtained from concentrate consumed, irrespective of the treatment (800 g/head and day). Since the concentrate was individually administrated, the daily intake of both tannins was 40 g per head and per day and of soybean oil was 60 g per head and per day.

The integration with CHE and QUE did not affect the milk yield and composition (Table 2). Urea concentration showed a significant variation due to only a time effect. An effect due to the interaction between diet and time (DxT) is observed for total protein and casein content. In contrast, Casein Index (CI), expression of the percentage of casein respect the total protein, was affected by diet and it was significant higher in milk from animals fed QUE (P< 0.0259; Table 2). The clotting parameters with the exception of a_{30} were affected by tannins. In particular, r was higher for QUE milk while k20 increased regardless the kind of tannin. The data are reported in Table 2.

or 52.8 g / kg of DM of quebracho tannin extract (QUE diet).								
Item			Diet				P value ¹	
		Control	CHE	QUE	SEM^4	D	Т	D x T
Milk yield	g / d	767	834	895	60.2	0.3293	0.9864	0.9985
Milk composition g / 100 g								
Fat		7.08	7.45	7.22	0.303	0.7191	0.1606	0.0886
Lactose		4.77	4.72	4.88	0.068	0.3067	< 0.0001	0.7247
Protein		5.69	5.94	5.83	0.170	0.6109	0.9527	0.0084
Casein		4.44	4.61	4.62	0.143	0.6148	0.9588	0.0084
Urea	mg / dl	14.92	17.58	17.64	2.340	0.6590	0.0009	0.5701
Total solids	g / d	0.13	0.15	0.16	0.020	0.6836	0.8930	0.2772
Casein Index ²		78.01 b	77.57 b	79.21 a	0.375	0.0259	0.0817	0.8965
Linear Score ³		4.89	3.82	3.64	0.727	0.4526	0.0016	0.0721
Clotting param	eters							
r	min	14.33 b	15.11 b	18.08 a	0.519	< 0.0001	0.0031	0.0795
k ₂₀	"	1.44 b	1.69 a	1.85 a	0.112	0.0435	0.0010	0.1986
a ₃₀	mm	41.40	44.16	42.70	3.337	0.8565	0.8111	0.4755

Table 2. Milk yield and composition from ewes fed 800 g / head / d of a concentrate containing 84 g of soybean oil / kg DM plus 0 (control diet) or 52.8 g / kg DM of a chestnut tannin extract (CHE diet) or 52.8 g / kg of DM of quebracho tannin extract (QUE diet).

¹Probability of significant effect due to experimental factors: diet (D), time (T), and their interaction (D X T); ²Casein Index: total casein / total protein *100; ³Linear Score = log2(SCC / 12,500) where SCC is Somatic Cell Count; ⁴Standard Error Mean

The presence of tannins, regardless the kind of the extract (CHE *vs* QUE), did not affect the total polyphenol content of milk from ewes fed the supplementations. In fact, no significant differences were found among groups (Control, 1.86 g/TAE; CHE, 1.94 g/TAE; QUE, 2.15 g/TAE; S.E.M, 0.18; P=0.4675).

Metabolic profile, oxidative status and fatty acid profile of blood

Blood parameters were not affected by diets with the exception of phosphorous that was lower in the blood samples of animals fed CHE diet. Significant differences due to time effect (T) are shown by urea content and by transaminase, total protein, globuline, glucose and triglycerides. The data are reported in Table 3.

Table 3. Blood parameters from ewes fed 800 g / head / d of a concentrate containing 84 g of soybean oil / kg DM plus 0 (control diet) or 52.8 g / kg DM of a chestnut tannin extract (CHE diet) or 52.8 g / kg of DM of quebracho tannin extract (QUE diet).

					1 value			
Item ¹	Control	CHE	QUE	SEM ²	D	Τ	DXT	
P tot g / dl	8.21	8.27	7.85	0.340	0.6644	0.0011	0.8699	

D voluo 3

Urea mg / dl	44.14	43.19	48.37	2.144	0.2895	< 0.0001	0.1484
ALB g / dl	3.79	3.73	3.73	0.056	0.6525	0.4641	0.1110
GLB g / dl	4.42	4.54	4.12	0.162	0.4952	< 0.0001	0.0256
γ-GT U / l	58.87	60.66	62.75	4.120	0.5347	< 0.0001	0.7359
SGPT U / 1	18.50	19.39	22.78	2.632	0.5393	0.0117	0.2041
SGOT U / 1	207.52	248.31	195.45	22.413	0.6049	0.0065	0.4033
GLU mg / dl	67.20	67.85	66.83	1.397	0.8865	< 0.0001	0.7079
CHO mg /dl	83.25	83.75	86.29	6.890	0.9467	0.3081	0.0628
Creatinine mg / dl	0.73	0.72	0.79	0.026	0.1629	0.1438	0.6079
Triglycerides mg / dl	18.08	22.05	17.75	1.338	0.0935	0.0048	0.0614
Phosphorus mg/dl	4.58 a	4.29 b	4.52 a	0.492	0.0038	0.9297	0.9811

¹P tot: total protein; ALB: albumine; GBL: globuline; γ -GT: γ -glutamil-transferase; SGPT: serum glutamic-pyruvic-transaminase; SGOT: serum glutamic-oxaloacetic-transaminase; GLU, glucose; CHO, cholesterol. ²Standard Error Mean. ³Probability of significant effect due to experimental factors: diet (D), time (T), and their interaction (D X T).

The oxidative status of ewes, determined using MDA as indicator, did not present significant differences among groups, regardless the concentrates fed by animals (Control, 1.48 μ mol/ml plasma vs CHE, 1.49 μ mol/ml plasma vs QUE, 1.43 μ mol/ml plasma; S.E.M. 0.07; P = 0.8484).

Fatty acid profile of blood showed that tannins, regardless the typology, favored the increase of VA and, at the same time, the reduction of stearic acid (18:0; SA) concentration. Data are reported in Table 4. Interestingly, neither LA nor α -LNA concentration was enhanced by CHE and QUE. No significant effects of tannin supplementation were observed also for BH intermediates such as RA, *trans*-11, *cis*-15 18:2, *trans*-10, *cis*-15 18:2 and *cis* and *trans* isomers of 18:1 different to VA (Table 4). Saturated fatty acids (SFA) are lower in blood from animals fed concentrates integrated with tannins and this effect is stronger with CHE. Monounsaturated fatty acids (MUFA) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) reached higher concentrations in blood from animals fed QUE and minor percentages in C group. Finally, the content of fatty acids with a carbon chain longer than 16 units was comparable in C and QUE groups and lower in CHE (Table 4).

	0	Diet		,		P value ²	
Fatty acid g/100g FA	Control	CHE	QUE	SEM^1	D	Т	D x T
2:0	0.30	0.28	0.24	0.033	0.4672	< 0.0001	0.7232
3:0	0.20	0.11	0.11	0.040	0.2482	0.9142	0.5382
4:0	0.24 a	0.17 b	0.17 b	0.014	0.0203	0.0577	0.4421
6:0	0.29	0.31	0.32	0.012	0.5267	0.4325	0.8541
8:0	0.37	0.58	0.22	0.140	0.0846	0.0324	0.0008
10:0	0.26	0.32	0.22	0.072	0.3399	0.1285	0.0112
12:0	0.08	0.08	0.12	0.032	0.6288	0.4123	0.1495
14:0	0.29	0.29	0.28	0.016	0.8388	0.0053	0.7158
cis-9 14:1	0.06	0.06	0.05	0.011	0.8682	0.5891	0.9334
anteiso 15:0	0.13	0.13	0.11	0.010	0.2768	0.1472	0.8038
15:0	0.36	0.32	0.36	0.020	0.2686	0.0885	0.9054
<i>iso</i> 16:0	0.11	0.11	0.12	0.017	0.9836	0.0326	0.9866
16:0	13.44	13.27	13.48	0.385	0.9191	0.0327	0.7097
<i>cis-9</i> 16:1	0.18	0.16	0.15	0.016	0.5863	0.0884	0.7434
<i>iso</i> 17:0	0.26	0.24	0.26	0.015	0.4674	0.3260	0.3963
anteiso 17:0	0.30	0.32	0.31	0.017	0.875	0.1539	0.1144
17:0	0.84	0.78	0.80	0.034	0.5045	0.0030	0.1730
cis-9 17:1	0.11	0.11	0.10	0.010	0.7918	0.3345	0.6518
18:0	24.02 a	21.14 b	22.25 b	0.610	0.0264	< 0.0001	0.0419
trans-6,8 18:1	0.17	0.27	0.23	0.034	0.2182	0.0810	0.0906
trans-9 18:1	0.39	0.39	0.37	0.038	0.8109	0.3785	0.1943
trans-10 18:1	0.32	0.41	0.37	0.037	0.2334	0.4428	0.0820
trans-11 18:1	2.21 c	2.73 b	3.18 a	0.213	0.0309	0.1761	0.8676
trans-12 18:1	0.65	0.63	0.77	0.076	0.4023	0.8504	0.5560
<i>cis</i> -7 18:1	0.30	0.37	0.83	0.337	0.5214	0.6267	0.5443
cis-9 18:1	11.14	10.32	10.6	0.480	0.5584	0.0635	0.8051
cis-11 18:1	0.47	0.50	0.48	0.024	0.5968	0.1606	0.6554
cis-12 18:1	2.62	2.06	2.19	0.146	0.0626	0.0116	0.1968
cis-15 18:1	0.08	0.09	0.06	0.016	0.6386	0.5605	0.3394
cis-9, cis-12 18:2	24.36	23.34	25.55	0.622	0.0849	< 0.0001	0.9687
cis-9, trans-11 18:2	0.48	0.54	0.59	0.044	0.2822	0.9649	0.3093
cis-9, cis-12, cis-15 18:3	1.99	1.74	1.93	0.146	0.5268	0.0028	0.1669
trans-11, cis-15 18:2	0.23	0.21	0.22	0.013	0.5636	0.3153	0.2733
Other fatty acids	12.75 b	17.62 a	12.96 b	0.423	0.0426	0.4251	0.3271
SFA ³	41.49 a	38.45 c	39.37 b	0.361	0.0485	0.9524	0.7259
MUFA ⁴	19.00 b	18.42 c	19.69 a	0.263	0.0425	0.5246	0.2546
PUFA ⁵	27.06 b	25.83 c	28.29 a	0.594	0.0345	0.2543	0.3581
< 16:0 ⁶	16.31	16.19	15.95	0.352	0.3526	0.2485	0.5214

Table 4. Fatty acid composition of blood from sheep fed 800g /head and day of a concentrate containing 84 g of soybean oil / kg DM plus 0 (control diet) or 52.8 g /kg DM of chestnut tannin extract (CHE diet) or 52.8 g /kg DM of a quebracho extract (QUE diet).

 $> 16:0^{7}$

¹Standard Error Mean. ²Probability of significant effect due to experimental factors: diet (D). time (T). and their interaction (D X T); means within a row with different letters differ (P < 0.05). ³SFA: saturated fatty acids

⁴MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids. ⁵PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids. ⁶< 16:0 *de novo* fatty acids calculated according to Fievez et al., 2012. ⁷> 16:0 preformed fatty acids calculated according to Chilliard et al., 2000 and Fievez et al., 2012.

Milk fatty acid profile

Only few significant differences among fatty acids as consequence of the dietary tannin supplementation were found (Table 5). In particular, regardless the tannin kind, RA increased when the concentrates contained polyphenols and the stronger effect is reached with QUE (P< 0.0002). In milk from CHE and QUE groups *cis*-9, *cis*-15 18:2 decreased with tannin supplementation (P< 0.0001; Table 5).

Table 5. Fatty acid composition of milk from sheep fed 800 g / head / d of a concentrate containing 84 g of soybean oil / kg DM plus 0 (control diet) or 52.8 g / kg DM of a chestnut tannin extract (CHE diet) or 52.8 g / kg of DM of quebracho tannin extract (QUE diet).

		Diet				P value ²	
Fatty acid g/100g FA	Control	CHE	QUE	SEM^1	D	Т	D x T
4:0	4.363	4.397	3.882	0.234	0.2647	< 0.0001	0.6455
6:0	1.311	1.343	1.161	0.067	0.1682	0.0031	0.9678
8:0	0.918	1.047	0.992	0.064	0.4605	0.1087	0.8375
10:0	2.595	3.087	2.849	0.237	0.3521	0.0074	0.9408
<i>cis</i> -9 10:1	0.15	0.15	0.15	0.003	0.2598	0.3586	0.4528
12:0	2.013	2.065	1.883	0.093	0.4074	0.2027	0.7435
<i>cis</i> -9 12:1	0.006	0.008	0.011	0.002	0.3530	0.159	0.2033
<i>iso</i> 13:0	0.042	0.027	0.031	0.008	0.5137	0.2531	0.4457
anteiso 13:0	0.010	0.010	0.020	0.005	0.5246	0.8254	0.1562
13:0	0.030	0.030	0.030	0.012	0.4852	0.2589	0.5914
<i>iso</i> 14:0	0.075	0.048	0.047	0.011	0.2030	0.8325	0.6128
14:0	6.963	7.123	6.821	0.141	0.3799	0.0020	0.7559
<i>iso</i> 15:0	0.155	0.156	0.150	0.006	0.7114	0.5916	0.7471
<i>cis</i> -9 14:1	0.126	0.115	0.124	0.007	0.6010	0.6495	0.8473
anteiso 15:0	0.288	0.276	0.291	0.013	0.6752	0.3354	0.5820
15:0	0.593	0.627	0.608	0.021	0.5327	0.0043	0.4372
<i>iso</i> 16:0	0.085	0.103	0.090	0.014	0.7377	0.0005	0.3660
16:0	16.611	19.290	16.590	0.947	0.1279	< 0.0001	0.1649
<i>cis</i> -9 16:1	0.521	0.430	0.471	0.041	0.4017	0.0118	0.7001
<i>iso</i> 17:0	0.296	0.327	0.333	0.027	0.5385	0.3159	0.9608
anteiso 17:0	0.270	0.310	0.325	0.024	0.3164	0.3739	0.9443
17:0	0.472	0.468	0.481	0.018	0.9110	0.0173	0.9841
<i>cis</i> -9 17:1	0.13 b	0.13 b	0.15 a	0.006	0.0319	0.3419	0.4526

18:0	13.011	12.612	12.121	0.276	0.1149	0.0313	0.8718
trans-6,8 18:1	0.770	0.733	0.728	0.051	0.8534	0.1072	0.8936
trans-9 18:1	0.648	0.776	0.754	0.035	0.0662	0.0141	0.3605
trans-10 18:1	1.534	1.396	1.476	0.073	0.5105	0.3596	0.8554
trans-11 18:1	5.361	5.263	5.592	0.292	0.7440	0.0125	0.7759
trans-12 18:1	0.985	1.076	0.985	0.052	0.4616	0.7079	0.6560
<i>cis</i> -7 18:1	0.411	0.395	0.378	0.090	0.9702	< 0.0001	0.7934
<i>cis</i> -9 18:1	19.506	19.612	18.790	0.578	0.5856	0.0664	0.2015
cis-11 18:1	0.526	0.515	0.516	0.031	0.9694	0.3217	0.9537
cis-12 18:1	0.487	0.487	0.479	0.032	0.9743	0.9078	0.9884
cis-15 18:1	1.118	1.213	1.064	0.043	0.0865	0.0390	0.5914
cis-9, cis-12 18:2	3.838	3.766	3.782	0.112	0.9162	0.0001	0.8258
cis-9, trans-11 18:2	2.196 c	2.293 b	2.716 a	0.081	0.0002	0.0003	0.1\97 2
cis-9, cis-12, cis-15 18:3	0.507	0.526	0.550	0.020	0.3776	< 0.0001	0.1861
<i>cis</i> -9, <i>trans</i> -12, <i>trans</i> -15 18:3	0.023	0.024	0.043	0.013	0.5457	0.0574	0.7528
<i>trans-9, cis-12, trans-15</i> 18:3	0.034	0.043	0.033	0.005	0.3871	0.0017	0.1998
<i>cis-</i> 9, <i>cis-</i> 15 18:2	0.064 a	0.017 b	0.011 c	0.006	< 0.0001	0.5544	0.5435
trans-11, cis-15 18:2	0.194	0.226	0.225	0.024	0.6470	0.0378	0.8339
trans-10, cis-12 18:2	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.005	0.9523	0.2596	0.1458
20:0	0.255	0.302	0.242	0.022	0.2245	0.8747	0.4103
20:4	0.022	0.022	0.025	0.005	0.9127	0.0655	0.7641
22:0	0.112	0.088	0.097	0.013	0.5314	0.3006	0.8853
SFA ³	50.246	53.038	48.206	1.781	0.1173	< 0.0001	0.7641
MUFA ⁴	32.435	32.124	31.216	0.841	0.5863	0.0057	0.3198
PUFA ⁵	6.922	6.922	7.365	0.208	0.2635	0.0008	0.6908
OIAR ⁶	0.803 b	0.824 a	0.784 c	0.037	0.7879	0.0302	0.1638
DI^7	0.017	0.016	0.017	0.002	0.1926	0.1159	0.2166
< 16:0 ⁸	36.440	39.636	35.166	1.508	0.1432	< 0.0001	0.6570
> 16:09	70.440	72.324	68.629	1.705	0.3565	< 0.0001	0.2010

¹Standard Error Mean. ²Probability of significant effect due to experimental factors: diet (D), time (T), and their interaction (D X T); means within a row with different letters differ (P < 0.05). ³SFA: saturated fatty acids. ⁴MUFA: monounsaturated fatty acids. ⁵PUFA: polyunsaturated fatty acids. ⁶Ratio odd-iso to odd-anteiso FA: (iso 15:0 + iso 17:0) / (anteiso 15:0 + anteiso 17:0). ⁷Desaturation index, DI = (*cis*-9 14:1 / 14:0 + *cis*-9 14:1). ⁸< 16:0 *de novo* fatty acids calculated according to Fiviez et al 2012. ⁹> 16:0 preformed fatty acids calculated according to Chilliard et al., 2000 and Fiviez et al., 2012.

Discussion

In the present trial, quebracho tannins increased the CI of milk (P =0.0259), probably as consequence of the slight decrease of whey proteins. Literature reported that tannins, especially if condensed, are able to interfere with amino acid absorption at the gut level because they selectively complex amino acids, affecting protein synthesis in tissues (Min et al., 2003; Patra and Saxena, 2011). The higher clotting time and firming time observed in milk from ewes fed QUE respect milk from no tannins and CHE fed ewes (P< 0.05), could be probably due to different interaction between casein and bioactive monomers derived by the rumen microbial BH of quebracho proantocyanidins (Gladine et al., 2007) or chestnut gallic acid compounds (Bhat et al., 1998), reaching in small quantities the mammary gland after duodenal absorption. Moreover, commercial tannin extracts from quebracho are not often pure proantocyanidins and might contain other compounds with a simpler structure (monomers) which could be metabolized in the rumen. Indeed, several authors demonstrated that tannins can be partially metabolized by rumen microorganisms and that their metabolites can be absorbed at the gut level with a transferring in meat and milk of small ruminants (Lopez-Andres et al., 2013; Luciano et al., 2011; Jordan et al., 2010; Singh et al., 2001). The absorption of polyphenolic compounds generally depends on i) their molecular structure that, in turn, affects their solubility; ii) the ability of rumen microbiome in degrading them to compounds with a lower molecular weight; iii) their percentage of inclusion in the animal diet. Chestnut and quebracho tannins are characterized by a very complex structure with a high molecular weight (Campo et al., 2012; Pash et al., 2001).

In the present trial, the lack of significant differences in MTP concentration across groups suggested that the polyphenol substances contained in the tannin extracts were little absorbed in the intestine. This result could be also due to the dietary concentration of the tannin extracts in treated groups (about 1.6% on DMI). In literature, significant differences have been observed when the concentration of dietary polyphenols from condensed tannins contained in pasture *Hedysarum coronarium* L. has been up to 6.0% of the DMI (Di Trana et al., 2015), hence with a percentage of inclusion more than three folds higher respect to that used in the present experiment. Nevertheless, a key role seems to be played by the kind of metabolite deriving from BH of tannins at the rumen level. In fact, in literature, previous findings report a higher clotting time of milk when grape extracts (Felix da Silva et al., 2015) or tea catechins (Haratifar and Corredig, 2014) are added, as consequence of the interaction between polyphenols and proline residues close to the cleavage point of k-casein, reducing the enzyme

accessibility. Han et al. (2011) observed that milk clotting parameters is affected by the structure and source of polyphenols while O'Connel et al. (1998) observed an increase of the interference on milk clotting behavior with the increase of the polymeric size of phenolic compounds.

No significant differences were found in oxidative status of blood among groups, probably because animals were at late lactation. A previous study on dairy cows, in fact, suggested that chestnut tannin might exert antioxidant properties when animals were in the transition period (Liu et al., 2013). In contrast, other studies suggested that condensed tannin, as QUE, may exhibit toxic effect in liver (Min et al., 2003; Patra and Saxena, 2011; Reed, 1995; Hervas et al., 2003). In the present study, data related to blood parameters showed that CHE and QUE did not exert a toxic effect in liver at short term according to optimal values of transaminase.

Fatty acid profile of blood suggested that tannins were able to interfere with BH of dietary PUFA. In fact, plasma samples from CHE and QUE groups contained higher concentration of VA and lower concentration of SA if compared to plasma samples from C group. This pattern suggested that tannins interfere with the last step of BH of α -LNA and of LA affecting the activity of microorganisms responsible of VA hydrogenation, as reported also by previous studies (Buccioni et al., 2015a; Vasta et al., 2010, Hervas et al., 2013). Moreover, our data confirmed that the effect of quebracho is stronger than that of chestnut tannin in modulating rumen fermentation of PUFA (Table 4).

In the present study, LA mainly is originated from soybean oil triglycerides whereas α -LNA from structural lipids of pasture grasses. Since rumen BH of LA and α -LNA produces different pattern of intermediates (Shingfield et al., 2013), the comparison of plasma lipid fatty acid profile between CHE and QUE sheep might provide information about difference in the BH pattern due to the effect of the type of tannin included in the diet. According to Table 4, among the BH intermediates only VA content significantly varied, suggesting that the effect of CHE and QUE did not differ in the BH of PUFA contained in triglycerides or structural lipids because VA is originated either from LA either from α -LNA, main FA in oil and roughage respectively.

The addition of tannin extract to the diet CHE and QUE did not result in an enhancement of the rumen outflow of α -LNA and LA, as confirmed by the lack of differences in the fatty acid profile of both blood plasma and milk samples. This result did not agree with findings obtained in a previous trial by Buccioni et al. (2015b). These authors found that the intake of α -LNA from pasture and linseed increased concentration of α -LNA in milk from ewes fed a diet supplemented with chestnut tannins, suggesting an effect of CHE extract on the BH

process of α -LNA starting from the first step of the pathway. In a previous trial, Buccioni et al. (2015a) found that the addition of similar amounts of quebracho and chestnut tannin extracts to the diet of dairy ewes resulted in an increase of LA in milk fat, as a consequence of the reduction of LA BH process. Also in this case, therefore, the results of the present experiment did not confirm a reduction of the LA BH from the first step of the process. Since the previous study adopted diets containing hay as forage basis instead of pasture, the role of the forage typology should be better understood in order to interpret the effect of tannin extracts on rumen BH of LA.

In the present experiment, the amount of VA escaped from rumen BH was probably enhanced when dairy sheep are fed diet supplemented with tannin extract, especially in the case of QUE diet (Table 4). This aspect was confirmed by the higher concentration of VA in plasma samples from QUE animals. Since cis-9, trans-11 CLA is mainly produced in mammary gland by Δ^9 desaturation of VA (Bauman and Griinari, 2003), higher concentration of circulating VA probably led to higher amounts of cis-9, trans-11 CLA in milk fat. Hence, comparing plasma and milk fatty acid composition, it seemed that the activity of Δ^9 desaturase (SCD) increased RA concentration in milk reducing the differences in VA concentration found in blood samples (Tables 4 and 5). Interestingly, also the concentration of SA in milk fat did not differ across treatments, despite the percentage of SA in plasma samples did. Similarly, to VA, the content of SA in milk fat is strictly regulated by the uptake of mammary tissue and by Δ^9 desaturase enzyme activity, which converts SA to *cis*-9 18:1. In particular, almost 50% of cis-9 18:1 secreted in sheep milk originates from SCD activity (Frutos et al., 2014). However, several authors found that rumen fluid fatty acid profile may not fully reflect those of digesta in duodenum when dairy lactating cows fed a diet supplemented with a blend of soybean and fish oils together with tannins from Vaccinium vitis idaea (Szczechowiak et al., 2016). Moreover, Szczechowiak et al. (2016) found also that the treatment did not change the expression of five genes regulating the FA metabolism in mammary gland (codifying for acetyl-CoA carbossilase 1, ACACA; fatty acid synthase, FASN; stearoyl-CoA desaturase, SCD; fatty acid desaturase 1, FADS1; fatty acid elongase 5, ELOVL5) and of the gene codifying for lipoprotein lipase (LPL) regulating the lipoprotein absorption catalyzing the hydrolysis of triglycerides transported in blood stream by very low density lipoproteins and by chilomicrons at the gut level (Malgorzata Brzozowska and Oprzadek, 2016).

Conclusion

The supplementation of diet of dairy ewes with chestnut or quebracho tannin extracts was effective in perturbing the last step of rumen BH of LA from soybean oil and α -LNA from pasture, as suggested by the higher amounts of VA in the plasma of animals fed QUE and CHE diets. The lack of effect on BH intermediates other than VA (the last step of the process) may suggest that rumen BH of PUFA was not influenced by the origin of PUFA. The higher amount of circulating VA probably enhanced the RA synthesis in mammary gland by SCD activity, resulting in higher percentages of RA in milk fat from animals fed QUE and CHE diets. Although more studies are needed in order to better understand why in some cases tannin extracts act at the first step of the BH whereas in other cases, as in the present study, the interference happened at the last step of BH, the use of tannin extracts might be an efficient way to improve PUFA content of sheep milk.

References

AOAC International, 1995. Official Methods of Analysis. AOAC International, Gaitersburg, MD.

Bauman, D.E., Griinari, J.M., 2003. Nutritional regulation of milk fat synthesis. Ann. Rev. Nutr. 2, 203–227.

- Bhat, T.K., Singh, B., Sharma, O.P., 1998. Microbial degradation of tannins a current perspective. Biodegradation 9, 343–357.
- Buccioni, A., Rapaccini, S., Antongiovanni, M., Minieri, S., Conte, G., Mele, M., 2010. Conjugated linoleic acid (CLA) and C18:1 isomers content in milk fat of sheep and their transfer to Pecorino Toscano D.O.P. cheese. Int. Dairy J. 20, 190–194.
- Buccioni, A., Decandia, M., Minieri, S., Molle, G., Cabiddu, A., 2012. Lipid Metabolism in the rumen: new insights on lipolysis and biohydrogenation with an emphasis on the role of endogenous plant factors. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 174, 1–25.
- Buccioni, A., Pauselli, M., Viti, C., Minieri, S., Pallara, G., Roscini, V., Rapaccini, S., Trabalza Marinucci, M., Lupi, P., Conte, G., Mele, M., 2015a. Milk fatty acid composition, rumen microbial population and animal performances in response to diets rich in linoleic acid supplemented with chestnut or quebracho tannins in dairy ewes. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 1145–1156.

- Buccioni, A., Serra, A., Minieri, S., Mannelli, F., Cappucci, A., Benvenuti, D., Rapaccini, S., Conte, G., Mele, M., 2015b. Milk production, composition, and milk fatty acid profile from grazingsheep fed diets supplemented with chestnut tannin extract and extruded linseed. Small Rum. Res. 130, 200–207.
- Burns, R.E., 1963. Methods of Tannin Analysis for Forage Crop Evaluation. Technical Bulletin Number 32. Georgia Agricultural Experiment Station, Athens.
- Campo, M., Pinelli, P., Romani, A., 2012. HPLC/DAD/MS characterization and antioxidant activity of sweet chestnut (Castanea sativa M.) fractions. XXVI International Conference on Polyphenols Proceedings 135–136.
- Cannas, A., Tedeschi, L.O., Fox, D.G., Pell, A.N., Van Soest, P.J., 2004. A mechanistic model for predicting the nutrients requirements and feed biological values for sheep. J. Anim. Sci. 82, 149–169.
- Carreño, D., Hervàs, G., Toral, P.G., Belenguer, A., Frutos, P., 2015. Ability of different types and doses of tannin extracts to modulate in vitro ruminal biohydrogenation in sheep. Anim. Feed Sci. and Technol. 202, 42–51.
- Chilliard, Y., Glasser, F., Ferlay, A., Bernard, L., Rouel, L., Doreau, M., 2007. Diet, rumen biohydrogenation and nutritional quality of cow and goat milk fat. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. 109, 828–855.
- Christie, W.W., 1982. A simple procedure for rapid trans-methylation of glycerolipids and cholesterol esters. J. Lipid Res. 23, 1072–1075.
- Contarini, G., Povolo, M., Pelizzola, V., Monti, L., Lercker, G., 2013. Interlaboratory evaluation of milk fatty acid composition by using different GC operating conditions. J. Food Compos Anal. 32, 131–140.
- Correddu, F., Gaspa, G., Pulina, G., Nudda, A., 2015. Grape seed and linseed, alone and in combination, enhance unsaturated fatty acids in the milk of Sarda dairy sheep. J.Dairy Sci. 99, 1–11.
- Cruz-Hernandez, C., Kramer, J. K. G., Kraft, J., Santercole, V., Or-Rashid, M., Deng, Z., Dugan, M. E. R., Delmonte, P., Yurawecz M. P., 2006. Systematic analysis of trans and conjugated linoleic acids in the milk and meat of ruminants. Pages 45–93 in Advances in Conjugated Linoleic Acid Research. Vol. 3. M. P. Yurawecz, J. K. G. Kramer, O., Gudmundsen, M. W. Pariza, and S. Banni, ed. AOCS Press Champaign, IL.
- Destaillats, F., Trottier, J.P., Galvez, J.M.G., Angers, P., 2005. Analysis of alpha-linolenic acid biohydrogenation intermediates in milk fat with emphasis on conjugated linolenic acids. J. Dairy Sci. 88, 3231–3239.

- Di Trana, A., Bonanno, A., Cecchini, S., Giorgio, D., Di Grigoli, A., Claps, S., 2015. Effect of Sulla forage (Sulla coronarium L.) on the oxidative status and milk polyphenol content in goats. J. Dairy Sci. 98, 37–46.
- Felix da Silva, D., Motumoto-Pintro, P., Bazinet, T., Couillard, L., Britten, C., 2015. Effect of commercial grape extracts on the cheese-making properties of milk. J. Dairy Sci.98, 1552–1562.
- Fievez, V., Colman, E., Castro-Montoya, Stefanov, J.M.I., Vlaeminck, B., 2012. Milk oddand branched-chain fatty acids as biomarkers of rumen function – an update. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 172, 51–65.
- Folch, J., Lees, M., Sloane Stanley, G.H., 1957. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipids from animal tissue. J. Biol. Chem. 226, 497–509.
- Frutos, P., Toral, P.G., Ramos-Morales, E., Shingfield, K.J., Belenguer, A., Hervás, G., 2014. Oral administration of cobalt acetate alters milk fatty acid composition, consistent with an inhibition of stearoyl-coenzyme A desaturase in lactating ewes. J. Dairy Sci. 97, 1036–1046.
- Gladine, C., Rock, E., Morand, C., Bauchart, D., Dourand, D., 2007. Bioavailability and antioxidant capacity of plant extracts rich in polyphenols given as a single acute dose, in sheep made highly susceptible to lipoperoxidation. Brit. J. Nutrition 98, 691–701.
- Han, J., Britten, M., St-Gelais, D., Champagne, C.P., Fustler, P., Salmieri, S., Lacroix, M., 2011. Polyphenolic compounds as functional ingredients in cheese. Food Chem. 124, 1589–1594.
- Haratifar, S., Corredig, M., 2014. Interaction between tea catechins and casein micelles and their impact on renneting functionality. Food Chem. 143, 27–32.
- Hervas, G., Perez, V., Giraldez, F.J., Mantecon, A.R., Almar, M.M., Frutos, P., 2003. Intoxication of sheep with quebracho tannin extract. J. Comp. Pathol. 129, 44–54.
- IACUC, 2014. Istitutional Animal Care and Use Committee. University of Perugia. www.unipg.it/files/pagine/115/regolamentoOPBApageweb.pdf.
- ISO13366-2|IDF148-2. 2006. Milk-Enumeration of somatic cells –Part 2: Guidance on the operation of fluoro –opto- electronic counters.
- Jordan, M.J., Monino, M.I., Martinez, C., Lafuente, A., Sotomayor, J.A., 2010. Introduction of distillate rosemary leaves into the diet of the murciano-granadina goat: transfer of polyphenolic compounds to goats' milk and the plasma of suckling goat kids. J. Agric. Food Chem. 58, 8265–8270.

- Kramer, J.K.G., Fellner, V., Dugan, M.E.R., Sauer, F.D., Mossoba, M.M., Yurawecz, M.P., 1997. Evaluating acid and base catalysts in the methylation of milk and rumen fatty acids with special emphasis on conjugated dienes and total trans fatty acids. Lipids 32, 1219–1228.
- Kramer, J.K.G., Cruz-Hernandez, C., Deng, Z.Y., Zhou, J.Q., Jahreis, G., Dugan, M.E.R., 2004. Analysis of conjugated linoleic acid and *trans* 18:1 isomers in synthetic and animal products. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 9, 1137S–1145S.
- Littell, R.C., Henry, P.R., Ammerman, C.B., 1998. Statistical analysis of repeated measures data using SAS procedures. J. Anim. Sci. 76, 1216–1231.
- Liu, H.W., Zhou, D.W., Li, K., 2013. Effects of chestnut tannins on performance and antioxidative status of transition dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 5901–5907.
- Lopez-Andres, P., Luciano, G., Vasta, V., Gibson, T.M., Biondi, L., Priolo, A., Mueller-Harvey, I., 2013. Dietary Quebracho tannins are not absorbed, but increase the antioxidant capacity of liver and plasma shhep. Br. J. Nutr. 110, 632–639.
- Luciano, G., Vasta, V., Monahan, F.J., Lopez-Andres, P., Biondi, L., Lanza, M., Priolo, A., 2011. Antioxidant status, colour stability and myoglobin resistance to oxidation of longissimus dorsi muscle from lambs fed a tannin contasining diet. Food Chem. 124, 1036–1042.
- Makkar, H.P.S., Bluemmel, M., Borowy, N.K., Becker, K., 1993. Gravimetric determination of tannins and their correlations with chemical and protein precipitation methods. J. Sci. Food Agric. 61, 161–165.
- Malgorzata Brzozowska, A., Oprzadek, J., 2016. Metabolism of fatty acids in tissues and organs of the ruminants- a review. Anim. Sci. Papers and Rep. 34, 211–220.
- Min, B.R., Barry, T.N., Attwood, G.T., McNabb, W.C., 2003. The effect of condensed tannins on the nutrition and health of ruminants fed fresh temperate forages: a review. Anim. Feed Sci and Technol. 106, 3–19.
- Minieri, S., Buccioni, A., Rapaccini, S., Pezzati, A., Benvenuti, D., Serra, A., Mele, M., 2014. Effect of Quebracho tannin extract on soybean and linseed oil biohydrogenation by solid associated bacteria. An in vitro study. Ital. J. Anim. Sci 13 (3267), 604–608.
- O'Connel, J.E., Fox, P.D., Tan-Kintia, R., Fox, P.F., 1998. Effects of tea, coffee and cocoa extract on the colloidal stability of milk and concentrated milk. Int. Dairy J. 8, 689–693.
- Pallara, G., Buccioni, A., Pastorelli, R., Minieri, S., Mele, M., Rapaccini, S., Messini, A., Pauselli, M., Servili, M., Giovannetti, L., Viti, C., 2014. Effect of stoned olive pomace

on rumen microbial communities and polyunsaturated fatty acids biohydrogenation: an in vitro study. BMC Vet. Res. 10, 271–286.

- Park, P.K., Albright, K.J., Cai, Z.Y., Pariza, M.W., 2001. Comparison of methylation procedures for conjugated linoleic acid artefact formation by commercial (trimethylsilyl)diazomethane. J. Agric. Food Chem 49, 1158–1164.
- Pash, H., Pizzi, A., Rode, K., 2001. MALDI_TOF mass spectrometry of polyflavonoid tannins. Polymer 42, 7531–7539.
- Patra, A.K., Saxena, J., 2011. Exploitation of dietary tannins to improve rumen metabolism and ruminant nutrition. J. Sci. Food Agric. 91, 24–37.
- Placer, Z.A., Cushman, L.L., Johnson, B.C., 1996. Estimation of lipid peroxidation, malindialdehyde in biochemical system. Anal. Biochem. 16, 359–367.
- Reed, J.D., 1995. Nutritional toxicology of tannins and related polyphenols in forages legumes. J. Anim. Sci. 73, 1516–1528.
- SAS Institute, 1999. SAS User's Guide: Statistics, version 8.0 ed. SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC.
- Shingfield, K.J., Bonnet, M., Scollan, N.D., 2013. Recent developments in altering the fatty acid composition of ruminant-derived foods. Animal 7, 132–162.
- Shook, G.E., 1993. Genetic improvement of mastitis through selection on somatic cell count. Vet. Clin. North Am. Food Anim. Pract. 9, 563–578.
- Singh, B., Bhat, T.K., Sharma, O.P., 2001. Biodegradation of tannic acid in an in vitro ruminal system. Liv. Prod. Sci. 68, 259–262.
- Szczechowiak, J., Szumacher-Starbel, M., El-Sherbiny, M., Pers-Kamczyc, E., Pawlak, P., Cieslak, A., 2016. Rumen fermentation, methane concentration and fatty acid proportion in the rumen and milk of the dairy cows fed condensed tannins and/or fishsoybeans oils blend. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 216, 93–107.
- Toral, P., Hervas, G., Bichi, E., Belenguer, A., Fruitos, P., 2011. Tannins as feed additives to modulate ruminal biohydrogenation Effects on animal performance, milk fatty acid composition and ruminal fermentation in dairy ewes fed a diet containing sunflower oil. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 164, 199–206.
- Toral, P.G., Hervas, G., Bichi, E., Belenguer, A., Fruitos, P., 2013. Effect of the inclusion of quebracho tannins in diet rich in linoleic acid on milk fatty acid composition in dairy ewes. J. Dairy Sci. 96, 431–439.

- Van Soest, P.J., Robertson, J.B., Lewis, B.A., 1991. Methods fordietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber, and no starch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. J. Dairy Sci. 74, 3583–3597.
- Vasta, V., Yanez-Ruiz, D.R., Mele, M., Serra, A., Luciano, G., Lanza, M., Biondi, L., Priolo, A., 2010. Bacterial and protozoal communities and fatty acid profile in the rumen of sheep fed a diet containing added tannins. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76, 2549–2555.
- Zannoni, M., Annibaldi, S., 1981. Standardization of the rennet ability of milk by Formagraph-I. Sci. Tecn. Latt. Cas. 32, 79–94.

2.2 Effect of chestnut tannin extract, vescalagin and gallic acid on fatty acid biohydrogenation and microbial community profile in rumen liquor: an *in vitro* study.

(Manuscript in progress)

Personal contribution: Concieved the experiment, FAME and DMA analysis, collaboration in statistical analisis and wrote the manuscript

ABSTRACT

The aim of this trial has been to study, in an in vitro experiment, the potential effects of chestnut tannin, vescalagin and gallic acid on microbial community profile of rumen liquor, on dimethylacetals characterization, on polyunsaturated fatty acid biohydrogenation and on fiber degradability. Four feeds (basal diet - diet C - formulated with tannin free ingredients; basal diet supplemented with chestnut tannin extract - diet CHT - at the inclusion level of 1.6 g/100g of dry matter; basal diet supplemented with vescalagin - diet VES - at the inclusion level of 0.24 g/100g of dry matter; basal diet supplemented with gallic acid - diet GAL - at the inclusion level of 0.032 g/100g of dry matter) were inoculated with ewe rumen fluid and fermented for 24h. At the end of fermentation, samples of rumen liquor were analysed by means of high-throughput sequencing (HTS) of the 16S rRNA gene for microbiota characterization, by GC-MS for fatty acid and dimethylacetal (DMA) profile. Results showed that CHT, VES and GAL did not exert strong detrimental effects on microbiota that presented only a little perturbation. The genera Anaerovibrio, Bibersteinia, Escherichia/Shigella and Streptococcus were enriched in the fermenters supplied with CHT compared to the other conditions. The relative abundance of the genus Pseudobutyrivibrio increased with CHT, compared to the control and to the fermenters supplied with VES. Conversely, the relative abundance of the genus Arcobacter decreased with CHT. Furthermore, a slight decrease in the relative abundance of the genus Treponema was observed in the fermenters supplied with GAL compared to the fermenters supplied with VES. This trend was consistent with chemical data in which no effect on fatty acid profile was found among groups. In contrast, the presence of CHT extract, VES and GAL in the basal diet modified the concentration of several DMA. At 24h DMA 12:0, DMA 13:0, DMA 14:0, DMA 15 iso, DMA 18:0 and DMA 18:1 trans11 were lower in C fermenters than in the others (p < 0.05).

Introduction

Chestnut tannin (CHT) is a hydrolysable polyphenol that can be extract from chipped chestnut wood obtained by distillation in water. of chipped chestnut wood Iand it is composed by several fractions of which vescalagin (VES) and gallic acid (GAL) represent about 20% and 6% of total tannins, respectively (Bargiacchi et al., 2017). CHT exhibits antimicrobial activities against *Clostridium perfringens* (Tosi et al., 2013) or *Cryptosporidium parvum* (Bonelli et al., 2018) and VES and GAL seem to play an important role as antimicrobials (Ekambaram et al., 2016). Quideau et al. (2004) studied several nonahydroxyterphenoyl-containing C-glycosidic ellagitannins (castalagin, vescalagin, from Castanea spp.) and these

authors found that the most effective was vescalagin, which showed an 50% inhibitory concentration (IC50) of 0.04 nM against both Acyclovir-susceptible and Acyclovir-resistant *Herpes Simplex Virus* strains. Panizzi et al. (2002) demonstrated the efficacy of GAL as antimicrobial against *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Bacillus cereus*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Escherichia coli*, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Candida albicans*.

In literature, studies regarding the activities of bioactive compounds contained in functional foods on human health increased (Sofi et al., 2010; Pintus et al., 2013; Benjamin et al., 2015). Consequently, food industry is focused in developing foods with healthful properties and health claim appeal. In animal feeding, strategies have been set up to increase, in milk and meat, the level of polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), level as α -linolenic acid (α -LNA), considered by the European Food Safety Authority a healthful fatty acid (European Food Safety Authority, 2009, 2010; Mele et al., 2011; Buccioni et al., 2015a; Cappucci et al., 2018; Mannelli et al., 2018). Data reported in literature, showed that the use of CHT in ruminant diet may be an efficient tool to modulate microbial biohydrogenation (BH), favouring the increase of bioactive moleculesa in ruminant derived food (Buccioni et al., 2015b; a, 2017). VES represented the main component present in CHT (Bargiacchi et al., 2017) while GAL is quickly free in rumen liquor (RL) by hydrolysis (Murdiati et al., 1992).

The aim of this *in vitro* trial was to verify if the modulator activity of CHT in RL is due to the potential effects of VES or GAL or of a synergic effect of all components contained in CHT.

The main obstacle in understanding microbiota structure or function is that only few bacteria are isolable and cultivable respect to the whole rumen ecosystem. Recently, next generation sequencing technologies offered powerful tools to study rumen microbiome and high-throughput sequencing (HTS) of the 16S rRNA gene has emerged as an effective strategy to characterize the microbial communities (Brulc et al., 2009; Mannelli et al., 2018). No metataxonomic data are available in literature on the microbiota structure affected by CHT or by components of it. Hence, another aim of this trial was to study microbial community profile of rumen liquor (RL) by means of HTS of the 16S rRNA gene.

Keyword: chestnut tannin, vescalagin, gallic acid, rumen microbiota, biohydrogenation, Dimethyl acetals, HTS-technology

Abbreviations

ADF, acid detergent fiber; ADL, acid detergent lignin; ASV, amplicon sequence variance; BH, biohydrogenation; C, control; CHT, chestnut tannins; CP, crude protein; DM, dry matter; DMA, dimethylacetals; EE, ether extract; FA, fatty acids; FAME, fatty acid methyl esters; GAL, gallic acid; HTS, high-throughput sequencing; α-LNA, α-linolenic acid; NDF, neutral detergent fiber; NDFdeg, NDF degradability; NDFundeg, NDF residuals; OM, organic matter; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; qPCR, quantitative PCR; RL, rumen liquor; VES, vescalagin.

Material and method

Feeds

The control feed was formulated using tannin-free ingredients. The formulation of diets was the same used in an in vivo trial (Buccioni et al., 2017b), to have a real diet tested previously with animals. Feeds involved a control (diet C) composed of chopped grass hay (60.00 g/100g on DM), barley (8.56 g/100g on DM), maize meal (8.46 g/100g on DM), wheat bran (6.35 g/100g on DM), soybean meal (5.08 g/100g on DM), beet pulp (3.60 g/100g on DM), soybean oil (3.39 g/100g on DM), molasses (1.70 g/100g on DM), mineral-vitamin supplement (1.26 g/100g on DM), and of three other diets obtained by adding to C, either 1.60 g/100g on DM of CHT extract (diet CHT) or 0.24 g/100g on DM of VES (diet VES) or 0.032 g/100g on DM of GAL (diet GAL).

Chestnut tannin powder was provided by Gruppo Mauro Saviola srl (plant in Radicofani, Siena, Italy) and contained 750 g equivalents of tannic acid/kg on DM, determined according to the method of Burns (1963). VES and GAL were purchased by Sigma-Aldrich (cods 76418 and G7384, respectively; Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The concentrations of VES and GAL inclusion in the diets were calculated after characterization of CHT extract according to the method reported by Bargiacchi et al. (2017).

Proximate analyses of feed samples

Samples of diet C were oven-dried at 60°C for 24h. The dry samples were analyzed for crude protein (CP), ether extract (EE) and ash according to AOAC methods (1995; 976.06, 920.39 and 942.05 procedures, respectively). Fiber fractions were determined according to van Soest et al. (1991) as follow: neutral detergent fiber (NDF) was determined using sodium

sulphite and heat stable amylase; acid detergent fiber (ADF) and acid detergent lignin (ADL) were determined in a sequential analysis. All data were expressed inclusive of residual ash.

The chemical composition of the control diet was DM 92.00 g/100g of feeds, CP, 12.40 g/100g on DM; EE, 4.87 g/100g on DM; NDF, 46.63 g/100g on DM, ADF, 33.28 g/100g on DM; ADL, 6.43 g/100g on DM.

The concentrations of VES and GAL inclusion in the diets were confirmed as previously reported (Bargiacchi et al., 2017).

Rumen inoculum

The whole rumen content from one ewe sacrificed at slaughterhouse was used to provide the liquor as inoculum for the fermentation, according to Denek et al. (2006) and Lutakome et al. (2017). Animal was fed for 1 month before the slaughtering with the diet C used in the in vitro trial. The ewe was not sacrificed specifically for the experiment but slaughtered as replacing quote in farm.

The RL was immediately mixed and transferred to the laboratory in a thermostatic box (39°C). Then, it was filtered through four layers of cheese cloth into a flask under a flux of CO2, as described by Buccioni et al. (2011). Six hundred millilitres of rumen liquor were buffered (1 : 3, v/v) by adding an artificial saliva solution (McDougall, 1947). Feeds (1.0 g on DM) were incubated (6 fermenters per diet) with 100 ml of buffered inoculum and pH was monitored continuously during the whole period of the trial (Buccioni et al., 2011). Incubation times were 0 and 24 h. At 24 h, all fermenters were used for rumen content analysis as follow: 3 fermenters per diet were used for fatty acids (FA), dimethylacetals (DMA) and microbial characterization; the other 3 fermenters per diet were used for the determination of NDF degradability, as described below. Moreover, after filtration and buffering at time 0, three samples of fresh rumen fluid (100 ml) were freeze-dried and analyzed as blank to control the present of possible artefacts.

Fatty acids analysis and DMA

Immediately after collection, each sample was measured for pH and stored at -80° C until analysis for FA and DMA composition. Before the analysis, samples were freeze-dried and then trans-esterified by using a combined basic and acid procedure, according to Jenkins (2010) as modified by Alves et al. (2013). Briefly, 250 mg of freeze-dried rumen sample was put in a centrifuge tube and added with 1 mL of toluene and 1 mL of hexane containing internal standard (C19:0, 1 mg/mL). The basic trans-esterification was performed by the

addition of 2 mL of sodium methoxide in methanol (0.5 M). The solution was vortexed and left to react for about 10 min at 50°C. Subsequently, the mixture was cooled to room temperature and then added with 3 mL of HCl solution in methanol (10:90 vol:vol). The solution was allowed to react for 10 min at 80°C. Once cooled, 2 mL of a K2CO3 solution (6:94 wt:vol) was added, followed by the addition of 2 mL of hexane to extract fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) and DMA. The solution was vortexed, centrifuged, and finally, the supernatant phase with FAME and DMA was transferred to another tube. The extraction step was repeated twice. The identification of single FAME and single DMA was obtained by GC/MS to detect the retention times, according to Alves et al. (2013). After, FAME and DMA in each sample were separated by thin-layer chromatography, as described in Alves et al. (2013) and the profile was determined using a GC2010 Shimadzu gas chromatograph (Shimadzu, Columbia, MD) equipped with a flame-ionization detector and a high polar fusedsilica capillary column (Chrompack CP-Sil 88 Varian, Middelburg, the Netherlands; 100 m, 0.25 mm i.d.; film thickness 0.20 µm). Hydrogen was used as the carrier gas at a flow of 1 mL/min. Split/ split less injector was used with a split ratio of 1:80. An aliquot of the sample was injected under the following GC conditions: the oven temperature started at 60°C and held at that level for 1 min; it was then increased to 173°C at a rate of 2°C/min, and held at that level for 30 min, before being once again increased to 185°C at 1°C/min and held for 5 min, and then to 220°C at a rate of 3°C/min, and held for 19 min. The injector temperature was set at 270°C and the detector temperature was set at 300°C. All FAME and DMA composition results were expressed as g per 100 g of DM.

Rumen degradability

NDF degradability (NDF_{deg}) was determined according to Tilley and Terry method (1980) limiting the procedure only to the first step and not considering the digestibility with pepsin. NDF residuals (NDF_{undeg}) were analyzed according to Van Soest et al. (1983). NDF_{deg} was calculated by difference between NDF of feeds before the fermentation and NDF residuals after 24h of incubation:

$$NDF_{deg} = (NDF_{feed} - NDF_{undeg}) / NDF_{feed} * 100$$

Amplification of 16S rRNA gene, sequencing and sequence analyses

DNA was extracted with the Fast DNA Spin kit for soil (MP Biomedicals, Solon, OH) according to Mannelli et al. (2018). DNA purity and quantity were measured using a ND-

1000 Spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Labtech, Ringmer, UK) and standardized to a concentration of 10 ng/µl. The V3-V4 hypervariable regions of the 16S rRNA gene were PCR-amplified using the Pro341f and Pro805R primers (Takahashi et al., 2014). Sequencing was performed at BMR Genomics (Padova, Italy) by MiSeq Illumina (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) using a 300 bp x2 paired end protocol. Bioinformatic elaborations were performed in R 3.5.1 (R Core Team 2018) with DADA2 package (Callahan et al., 2015), version 1.8.0. The first 20 bases were removed from both forward and reverse reads, additionally forward reads were truncated at 280 bases and reverse reads were truncated at 250 bases. The reads with expected errors higher than 0.5 were discarded. Specific error rates were estimated for the forward reads and for the reverse reads. Filtered reads were dereplicated, the estimated error rates were used to infer the Amplicon Sequence Variants (ASV) (Callahan et al., 2017) and the reads pairs were merged with default parameters. Chimeric sequences were removed. Taxonomic assignment for each ASV was performed against the ribosomal database project (RDP) database (confidence 80%).

Quantification of the 16S rRNA gene by quantitative PCR

Abundance of total bacteria was estimated by quantification of the copy number of the 16S rRNA gene by quantitative PCR (qPCR) as previously reported (Buccioni et al., 2015a) using universal primers to target partial 16S rRNA gene of total bacteria (Maeda et al., 2003). The analysis was performed using a CFX96 Real-Time PCR Detection System (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hertfordshire, UK). Amplification conditions were 95°C for 3 min, 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 s and 60°C for 30 s.

Statistical Analysis

Data for FAME, DMA, NDF_{deg} and microbial relative abundance at genus level (previously tested for normal distribution) were processed by General Linear Model of Statistical Analysis System (SAS, 9.2, 2008) using the following linear model with diet as fixed factor:

$$Y_i = \mu + Diet_i + e_{ij}$$

where Y is the observation, μ is the overall mean, Diet is the fixed effect of ith diet (i = 1 to 4), and e_{ij} is the residual error. For the sake of simplicity, only one level of probability (P \leq 0.05) was adopted for the significance of differences between means.

Pairwise correlation among bacterial taxa and FA or DMA composition was performed by multivariate analysis (SAS, 9.2, 2008).

A Non Metric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) and a permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) based on Hellinger transformed genus relative abundance data, calculated removing the unclassified reads, were performed using the vegan package (Oksanen et al. 2018) in R 3.5.1 (R Core Team 2018) using the metaMDS and the adonis2 functions, respectively.

Results

Microbial community composition

The number of copies of the 16S rRNA gene per mL of RL was around 10^8 in all the tested conditions (Fig. S1).



Figure S1. Results of the quantitative PCR on the 16S rRNA gene.

The taxonomic composition of the microbial communities selected at the end of the *in vitro* trial was investigated by HTS of the 16S rRNA gene. ASV rarefaction analysis (Fig. S2) indicated that the sequencing depth was enough to describe the biodiversity within the dataset.

RarefactionCurve_ASV



Figure S2. Rarefaction curve calculated at genus level.

The Shannon Index (H') and the ASV richness were used as an estimation of the alphadiversity within each samples group (Table 1).

	С	GAL	VES	CHT			
ASVs	158 ± 3	148 ± 17	150 ± 2	156 ± 13			
Shannon Index (H')	4.32 ± 0.03	4.2 ± 0.1	4.29 ± 0.06	4.3 ± 0.1			
Table 1. ASVs number and Shannon Index (H') calculated for each tested condition. Values are							
reported average \pm star	ndard error						

H' ranged between 4.2 ± 0.1 (GAL) and 4.32 ± 0.03 (C), while the ASV richness ranged between 148 ± 17 (GAL) and 158 ± 3 (C). In total 14 phyla, 22 classes, 24 orders, 31 families and 44 genera were identified within the whole dataset. A core microbiota (i.e. taxonomic groups shared by all conditions) was identified (Table 2) and was comprised of 10 phyla, 15 classes, 17 orders, 21 families and 25 genera.

Table 2. Taxonomic groups shared by all conditions

Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus
Bacteroidetes	Bacilli	Aeromonadales	Acidaminococcaceae	Acinetobacter
Candidatus_Saccharibacteri a	Bacteroidia	Anaeroplasmatales	Anaeroplasmataceae	Alloprevotella
Euryarchaeota	Betaproteobacteria	Bacteroidales	Bacteroidaceae	Anaeroplasma

Firmicutes	Clostridia	Burkholderiales	Campylobacteraceae	Anaerovibrio
Fusobacteria	Deltaproteobacteria	Campylobacterales	Clostridiales_Incertae_Sedis_XII I	Arcobacter
Proteobacteria	Epsilonproteobacteri a	Clostridiales	Desulfovibrionaceae	Bacteroides
Spirochaetes	Erysipelotrichia	Desulfovibrionales	Erysipelotrichaceae	Bibersteinia
SR1	Fusobacteriia	Erysipelotrichales	Fusobacteriaceae	Campylobacter
Tenericutes	Gammaproteobacteri a	Fusobacteriales	Lachnospiraceae	Desulfovibrio
Verrucomicrobia	Methanobacteria	Lactobacillales	Methanobacteriaceae	Fusobacterium
	Mollicutes	Methanobacteriales	Methanomassiliicoccaceae	Mannheimia
	Negativicutes	Methanomassiliicoccale s	Moraxellaceae	Methanobrevibacter
	Spirochaetia	Neisseriales	Neisseriaceae	Methanomassiliicoccu s
	Subdivision5	Pasteurellales	Pasteurellaceae	Moraxella
	Thermoplasmata	Pseudomonadales	Porphyromonadaceae	Paraprevotella
		Selenomonadales	Prevotellaceae	Prevotella
		Spirochaetales	Ruminococcaceae	Pseudobutyrivibrio
			Spirochaetaceae	Roseburia
			Streptococcaceae	Ruminobacter
			Succinivibrionaceae	Saccharofermentans
			Veillonellaceae	Selenomonas
				Streptococcus
				Succiniclasticum
				Succinivibrio
				Treponema
	l	l		1. eponomia

More than 70% of the microorganisms classified at phylum level in each group was represented by the phyla *Proteobacteria* (mainly *Gammaproteobacteria* of the families *Succinivibrionaceae*, *Moraxellaceae* and *Pasteurellaceae* – order *Aeromonadales*, *Pseudomonadales* and *Pasteurellales*, respectively – and, in minor extent, *Betaproteobacteria* of the family *Neisseriaceae* – order *Neisseriales*) and *Bacteroidetes* (mainly of the family *Prevotellaceae*, order *Bacteroidales*, class *Bacteroidia*) (Fig. S3).



Figure S3. Taxonomic composition at phylum (A), class (B), order (C) and family (D) level of the microbial communities enriched during the in vitro trial. Average abundances are reported for each tested condition. Only the groups with an average relative abundance of 1% (or higher) in at least one condition are reported.

The most abundant genera (Fig. 1 and Table 3) within the core microbiota were *Prevotella* (between $\sim 11\%$ – GAL – and $\sim 16\%$ – CHT), *Ruminobacter* (between $\sim 8\%$ – CHT – and $\sim 11\%$ – C) and *Fusobacterium* (between $\sim 4\%$ – GAL – and $\sim 7\%$ – VES).



Figure 1. Taxonomic composition at genus level of the microbial communities enriched during the in vitro trial. Average abundances are reported for each tested condition. Only the genera with an average relative abundance of 1% (or higher) in at least one condition are reported.

Table 3. Relative abundance of the microorganisms classified at genus level (confidence 80%). For each genus the taxonomic classification at *phylum* level and at order level is reported.

Phylum	Order	Genus	C (%)	GAL (%)	VES (%)	CHT (%)	SEM	p value
	Mathematical	Methanobrevibacter	0.34	0.20	0.48	0.37	0.15	0.6309
Euryarchaeota	Methanobacteriales	Methanosphaera	N.D.	0.03	N.D.	N.D.	0.01	0.4411
Methanomassiliicoccale		Methanomassiliicoccus	0.19	0.54	0.48	0.29	0.13	0.2790
		Bacteroides	0.28	0.38	1.96	0.57	0.48	0.1218
Bacteroidetes Bacteroidales		Petrimonas	0.03	N.D.	0.04	N.D.	0.03	0.5880
	Ductousidates	Porphyromonas	N.D.	N.D.	0.02	N.D.	0.01	0.4411
	Bacterolaales	Alloprevotella	0.04	0.07	0.09	0.05	0.03	0.6864
		Paraprevotella	3.81	3.67	6.16	5.25	0.91	0.2399
		Prevotella	15.15	11.46	11.97	16.16	1.53	0.1528
Elusimicrobia	Elusimicrobiales	Elusimicrobium	0.01	0.01	N.D.	N.D.	0.01	0.5948
Fibrobacteres	Fibrobacterales	Fibrobacter	0.02	0.03	N.D.	0.01	0.02	0.7279
		Kurthia	N.D.	0.18	N.D.	N.D.	0.09	0.4411
	Bacillales	Lysinibacillus	1.16	0.69	0.67	N.D.	0.39	0.2896
	Lactobacillales	Streptococcus	2.19 ^a	1.99 ^a	2.51 ^a	4.22 ^b	0.24	0.0006
		Butyrivibrio	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	0.17	0.09	0.4411
Firmicutes		Clostridium_XlVa	N.D.	0.09	0.12	0.13	0.09	0.7078
	Clostridiales	Clostridium_XlVb	N.D.	N.D.	0.03	N.D.	0.01	0.4411
		Pseudobutyrivibrio	0.71 ^a	0.99 ^{ab}	0.68 ^a	1.31 ^b	0.10	0.0086
		Roseburia	0.21	0.22	0.22	0.14	0.10	0.9232

		Peptostreptococcus	N.D.	N.D.	0.02	< 0.01	0.01	0.4411
		Anaerofilum	N.D.	N.D.	0.03	N.D.	0.01	0.4411
		Clostridium_IV	0.06	N.D.	0.06	0.02	0.03	0.5830
		Ruminococcus	0.14	0.10	N.D.	0.03	0.06	0.4272
		Saccharofermentans	0.04	0.11	0.06	0.11	0.06	0.7622
		Succiniclasticum	0.78	0.8	1.06	1.15	0.18	0.4620
	Selenomonadales	Anaerovibrio	0.12 ^a	0.11 ^a	0.15 ^a	0.53 ^b	0.09	0.0317
		Selenomonas	0.58	0.47	0.56	0.94	0.12	0.1015
Fusobacteria	Fusobacteriales	Fusobacterium	6.07	4.20	6.56	5.28	0.69	0.1647
	Durcht ald and also	Brachymonas	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	0.03	0.01	0.4411
	Burknolaeriales	Comamonas	N.D.	N.D.	N.D.	0.08	0.04	0.4411
	Desulfovibrionales	Desulfovibrio	0.05	0.05	0.03	0.02	0.04	0.8945
	Campylobacterales	Arcobacter	1.84 ^a	1.39 ^a	2.23ª	0.29 ^b	0.25	0.0028
		Campylobacter	0.42	0.50	0.51	0.24	0.12	0.3658
	A 11	Ruminobacter	11.28	10.59	9.91	8.12	1.36	0.4438
Proteobacteria	Aeromonaaales	Succinivibrio	5.41	4.00	4.59	5.76	0.51	0.1443
	Enterobacteriales	Escherichia/Shigella	0.02 ^a	N.D. ^a	0.07 ^a	0.24 ^b	0.03	0.0009
		Actinobacillus	0.06	N.D.	N.D.	0.14	0.04	0.1154
	Pasteurellales	Bibersteinia	2.39 ^a	1.86 ^a	3.49 ^a	8.30 ^b	0.87	0.0030
		Mannheimia	1.33	0.72	1.55	1.15	0.41	0.5536
	Developmentation	Acinetobacter	7.08	11.49	2.33	0.62	3.36	0.1752
	Pseuaomonaaales	Moraxella	0.17	0.21	0.18	0.13	0.09	0.9269
Spirochaetes	Spirochaetales	Treponema	1.04 ^{ab}	0.82 ^b	1.56 ^a	1.19 ^{ab}	0.17	0.0778
Synergistetes	Synergistales	Pyramidobacter	N.D.	0.22	0.19	0.13	0.07	0.2345
Tenericutes	Anaeroplasmatales	Anaeroplasma	1.40	1.33	1.16	1.37	0.19	0.8156

SEM = standard error of the mean; N.D. = not detected (i.e. relative abundance < 0.01). The sum of the relative abundances for each sample is lower than 100% because unclassified are not included in the table. Genera with a significative different relative abundance between the tested conditions (p < 0.1) are bolded. Significative different relative abundances (p < 0.1) are reported with letters a and b.

A PERMANOVA performed on the Hellinger transformed genus relative abundance data indicated a difference between the communities enriched in the tested conditions (P < 0.01). The difference was highlighted also by the NMDS plot (Fig. 2) in which the samples collected from the fermenters supplied with CHT formed a cluster separated from the samples collected from the other fermenters.



Figure 2. Non Metric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) based on Hellinger transformed genus relative abundance data. The circle highlights the communities enriched in the vessels where chestnut tannin extract was administered.

Seven genera (Anaerovibrio, Arcobacter, Bibersteinia, Escherichia/Shigella, Pseudobutyrivibrio, Streptococcus, Treponema) out of the 44 genera detected within the dataset showed significant different relative abundance between the tested conditions (Table 3). The post-hoc comparisons of the average genus relative abundance clearly showed a significant effect of the CHT in shaping the microbial communities (Table 3). The genera Anaerovibrio, Bibersteinia, Escherichia/Shigella and Streptococcus were enriched in the fermenters supplied with CHT compared to the other conditions. The relative abundance of the genus Pseudobutyrivibrio increased with CHT compared to C and to the fermenters supplied with VES. Conversely, the relative abundance of the genus Arcobacter decreased with CHT. Furthermore, a slight decrease in the relative abundance of the genus Treponema was observed in the fermenters supplied with GAL compared to the fermenters supplied with VES.

Pairwise correlations were performed on the relative abundance of bacterial genera (Table 4) indicating several co-occurrence patterns in particular for the genus *Anaerovibrio*. Furthermore, pairwise correlations evidenced a positive relation between *Anaerovibrio* and *Actinobacillus* or *Escherichia/Shighella* or *Pseudobutyrivibrio* or Streptococcus or

Bibersteinia but negative between *Bibersteinia* or *Escherichia/Shighella* or *Pseudobutyrivibrio* and *Arcobacter* (Table 4).

bacteria genus	bacteria genus	correlation	Р
Anaerovibrio	Actinobacillus	0.6195	0.0317*
Arcobacter	Anaerovibrio	-0.6917	0.0127*
Bibersteinia	Actinobacillus	0.7378	0.0062*
Bibersteinia	Anaerovibrio	0.5828	0.0467*
Bibersteinia	Arcobacter	-0.5981	0.0400*
Brachymonas	Bibersteinia	0.6767	0.0157*
Campylobacter	Anaerovibrio	-0.6219	0.0308*
Escherichia/Shigella	Actinobacillus	0.6227	0.0306*
Escherichia/Shigella	Anaerovibrio	0.8671	0.0003*
Escherichia/Shigella	Arcobacter	-0.7018	0.0110*
Escherichia/Shigella	Bibersteinia	0.7733	0.0032*
Escherichia/Shigella	Campylobacter	-0.5806	0.0478*
Prevotella	Anaerovibrio	0.5844	0.0460*
Prevotella	Escherichia/Shigella	0.6047	0.0373*
Pseudobutyrivibrio	Anaerovibrio	0.7778	0.0029*
Pseudobutyrivibrio	Arcobacter	-0.6666	0.0179*
Pseudobutyrivibrio	Escherichia/Shigella	0.6133	0.0339*
Ruminobacter	Bibersteinia	-0.5938	0.0418*
Selenomonas	Anaerovibrio	0.913	<.0001*
Selenomonas	Arcobacter	-0.6057	0.0369*
Selenomonas	Escherichia/Shigella	0.7631	0.0039*
Selenomonas	Pseudobutyrivibrio	0.6818	0.0146*
Streptococcus	Anaerovibrio	0.7075	0.0101*
Streptococcus	Arcobacter	-0.7288	0.0072*
Streptococcus	Bibersteinia	0.8576	0.0004*
Streptococcus	Escherichia/Shigella	0.8146	0.0013*

Table 4. Parwise correlation among bacteria genus of interest

Streptococcus	Lysinibacillus	-0.6172	0.0325*
Succiniclasticum	Streptococcus	0.6067	0.0365*
Succinivibrio	Anaerovibrio	0.581	0.0476*
Succinivibrio	Escherichia/Shigella	0.618	0.0322*

Rumen degradability, FAME and DMA profile

Dietary supplementation with CHT did not affect NDF degradability, showing not significant difference compared to C while VES and GAL decreased it respectively about 4 and 6 g/100g of DM (Table 5).

Table 5. Differences in degradability of basal diet among treatments.

	С	CHT	VES	GAL	SEM ¹	\mathbf{P}^2
NDF g/100g dm	41.73 b	41.88 b	43.71 a	44.79 a	0.75	0.0380
Degradability g/100g DM	10.49 a	10.17 a	6.25 b	3.94 c	1.61	0.0380

¹ Standard Error Mean. ² Probability of significant effect due to experimental diets; means within a row with different letters differ (P < 0.05).

At the end of the trial, no significant differences were found in FAME profile of RL fermenting the 4 feeds (Table 6).

Table 6. Fatty acid profile of rumen liquor at 24h

Fatty Acid g/100g DM	С	CHT	GAL	VES	SEM ¹	\mathbf{P}^2
12:0	0.065	0.063	0.063	0.078	0.009	0.5999
13:0 <i>iso</i>	0.008	0.011	0.000	0.007	0.005	0.4784
13:0	0.010	0.005	0.000	0.009	0.006	0.6385
14:0 <i>iso</i>	0.047	0.052	0.054	0.063	0.006	0.3839
14:0	0.226	0.180	0.224	0.259	0.033	0.4627
15:0 <i>iso</i>	0.115	0.101	0.108	0.126	0.010	0.4681
15:0 ante	0.132	0.200	0.194	0.225	0.036	0.3765
15:0	0.228	0.225	0.213	0.261	0.023	0.5346
16:0 <i>iso</i>	0.134	0.125	0.126	0.133	0.016	0.9663
16:0	8.066	8.371	7.876	9.060	0.576	0.9165
16:1 <i>cis</i> 9	0.061	0.063	0.062	0.080	0.010	0.5954
17:0 <i>iso</i>	0.079	0.078	0.086	0.089	0.008	0.7200
17:0 ante	0.148	0.143	0.154	0.171	0.019	0.7689
17:0	0.153	0.152	0.155	0.158	0.018	0.9951
cyclo17:0	0.029	0.036	0.017	0.034	0.006	0.1920
18:0 <i>iso</i>	0.012	0.016	0.008	0.017	0.006	0.7611
18:0	12.209	11.840	10.865	12.440	0.968	0.9220

18:1 trans4	0.026	0.037	0.045	0.052	0.010	0.4109
18:1 trans5	0.025	0.030	0.041	0.032	0.005	0.2584
18:1 trans6/trans7/trans8	0.279	0.299	0.263	0.268	0.037	0.9047
18:1 trans9	0.183	0.171	0.172	0.161	0.022	0.9187
18:1 trans10	0.294	0.301	0.293	0.317	0.043	0.9773
18:1 trans11	4.094	4.263	3.153	3.190	0.729	0.608
18:1 trans12	0.296	0.311	0.287	0.308	0.036	0.9637
18:1 trans15	0.221	0.242	0.197	0.264	0.034	0.5896
18:1 cis9	6.888	6.930	6.453	7.492	0.533	0.9566
18:1 cis11	0.518	0.512	0.458	0.554	0.086	0.8869
18:1 cis12	0.167	0.171	0.151	0.174	0.023	0.9054
18:1 cis13	0.020	0.024	0.023	0.025	0.004	0.8297
18:1 cis14+trans16	0.202	0.186	0.181	0.186	0.022	0.9083
18:1 cis15	0.023	0.035	0.030	0.028	0.004	0.3214
18:1 cis16	0.042	0.037	0.040	0.033	0.005	0.6939
18:2 cis9 trans12	0.032	0.031	0.035	0.035	0.006	0.9706
18:2 trans9 trans12	0.032	0.032	0.036	0.033	0.005	0.9472
18:3 cis9 trans11 cis15	0.078	0.077	0.065	0.058	0.014	0.7264
18:2 cis 9 cis 12	13.980	14.399	13.580	16.429	0.974	0.9098
20:0	0.267	0.252	0.218	0.263	0.390	0.8147
18:3 cis9 cis12 cis15	1.856	1.880	1.760	2.114	0.391	0.9283
18:2 cis9 trans11	0.150	0.121	0.096	0.096	0.031	0.5990
18:2 trans10 cis12	0.010	0.006	0.015	0.019	0.004	0.3451
18:2 trans11 cis13	0.013	0.006	0.013	0.014	0.003	0.3995
21:0	0.022	0.027	0.034	0.026	0.005	0.5106
18:2 trans10 trans12	0.048	0.042	0.052	0.054	0.011	0.8673
22:0	0.254	0.241	0.211	0.149	0.049	0.4883
23:0	0.044	0.037	0.038	0.123	0.045	0.5000
24:0	0.149	0.139	0.125	0.144	0.019	0.8450

¹ Standard Error Mean. ² Probability of significant effect due to experimental diets; means within a row with different letters differ (P < 0.05).

In contrast, the presence of CHT extract, VES and GAL in the basal diet modified the concentration of several DMA (Table 7).

DMA	С	CHT	GAL	VES	SEM^1	\mathbf{P}^2
DMA 12:0	0.052 b	0.257 a	0.266 a	0.234 a	0.044	0.0294
DMA 13:0 iso	0.025	0.124	0.103	0.095	0.024	0.0868
DMA 13:0	0.044 b	0.128 a	0.124 a	0.132 a	0.020	0.0458
DMA 14:0 iso	0.365 b	0.244 b	1.318 a	1.132 a	0.152	0.0075
DMA 14:0	0.281 b	0.824 a	0.921 a	0.800 a	0.122	0.0238
DMA 15:0 iso	0.257 b	0.652 a	0.816 a	0.700 a	0.110	0.0329

 Table 7. DMA profile of rumen liquor at 24h

DMA 15:0 ante	0.639	4.688	2.107	2.026	1.096	0.1464
DMA 15:0	0.280	0.593	0.477	0.530	0.223	0.7784
DMA 16:0 iso	0.575	12.137	2.3820	2.689	3.179	0.1173
DMA 16:0	1.957	5.225	5.628	5.454	0.956	0.0767
DMA 16:1	0.074 c	0.316 a	0.212 b	0.190 b	0.035	0.0088
DMA 17:0 iso	0.041	0.122	0.145	0.144	0.029	0.1061
DMA 17:0 ante	0.054 c	0.212 a	0.214 a	0.168 b	0.024	0.0054
DMA 17:0	0.030 d	0.181 a	0.114 b	0.083 c	0.025	0.0200
DMA 18:0	0.186 b	0.518 a	0.572 a	0.567 a	0.093	0.0544
DMA 18:1 trans11	0.030 b	0.122 a	0.087 a	0.094 a	0.015	0.0208
DMA 18:1 cis9	0.173 b	0.571 a	0.408 b	0.417 ab	0.077	0.0389
DMA 18:1 <i>cis11</i>	0.087	0.294	0.166	0.227	0.048	0.0751
DMA 18:1 <i>cis12</i>	0.024	0.081	0.026	0.040	0.020	0.2493
DMA 17:1	0.097	0.360	0.276	0.247	0.098	0.3558
DMA 18:2	0.099	0.904	0.250	0.185	0.284	0.2489
DMA 26:0	0.552	1.3700	0.961	1.3570	0.290	0.2283
Total DMA	5.9340	30.2550	17.5830	17.523	5.4760	0.0791

¹ Standard Error Mean. ² Probability of significant effect due to experimental diets; means within a row with different letters differ (P < 0.05).

At 24h DMA 12:0, DMA 13:0, DMA 14:0, DMA 15 *iso*, DMA 18:0 and DMA 18:1 *trans*11 were lower in C fermenters than in the others ($P \le 0.05$). VES and GAL enhanced DMA 14 *iso*, while DMA 16:1 increased with all 3 treatments compared to C. All treatments increased DMA 17:0 and DMA 18:1 *cis*9 and the highest values were reached with CHT.

The genus *Pseudobutyrivibrio* showed negative correlation with 18:1 *trans*9 and 18:1 *cis*6, and the genus *Anaerovibrio* was correlated negatively with 18:1 *trans* 11 *cis*15 (Table 8).

item	bacteria genus	correlation	Р	
DMA-12:0	Anaeroplasma	-0.6079	0.0360*	
DMA-12:0	Elusimicrobium	-0.6401	0.0250*	
DMA-12:0	Ruminococcus	-0.5966	0.0406*	
DMA-i13:0	Brachymonas	0.6482	0.0226*	
DMA-i13:0	Mannheimia	0.601	0.0387*	
DMA-i13:0	Ruminobacter	-0.6446	0.0236*	
DMA-13:0	Methanobrevibacter	0.626	0.0294*	
DMA-13:0	Methanosphaera	-0.5933	0.0420*	
DMA-13:0	Unclassified	-0.5922	0.0425*	

Table 8. DMA and FA parwise correlation with bacteria genus of interest.

DMA-i14:0	Methanobrevibacter	0.7128	0.0093*
DMA-i14:0	Methanosphaera	-0.6591	0.0197*
DMA-14:0	Methanosphaera	-0.6137	0.0338*
DMA-i15:0	Methanosphaera	-0.6197	0.0316*
DMA-a15:0	Methanomassiliicoccus	0.6579	0.0200*
DMA-a15:0	Methanosphaera	0.9002	<.0001*
DMA-16:1	Methanobrevibacter	0.7204	0.0082*
DMA-16:1	Pseudobutyrivibrio	-0.6256	0.0296*
DMA-i17:0	Brachymonas	0.6235	0.0303*
DMA-a17:0	Lysinibacillus	0.6551	0.0208*
DMA-a17:0	Methanobrevibacter	0.7152	0.0089*
DMA-17:0	Moraxella	0.6093	0.0354*
DMA-18:1t	Comamonas	0.6437	0.0239*
DMA-17:1	Roseburia	-0.5985	0.0398*
DMA-18:2	Acinetobacter	0.6212	0.0311*
DMA-18:2	Bibersteinia	-0.6315	0.0276*
DMA-18:2	Methanosphaera	0.7189	0.0084*
DMA-18:2	Streptococcus	-0.642	0.0244*
DMA26:0	Moraxella	-0.5824	0.0469*
Total DMA	Methanosphaera	0.8181	0.0011*
iC17:0	Streptococcus	0.0722	0.8237
C18:1t9	Pseudobutyrivibrio	-0.6459	0.0233*
C18:1t11	Escherichia/Shigella	-0.6759	0.0158*
C18:1c14+t16	Pseudobutyrivibrio	-0.6099	0.0352*
cyclo17:0	Treponema	-0.7685	0.0035*
C18:1c16	Pseudobutyrivibrio	-0.6428	0.0242*
C18:2c9t12 2	Pseudobutyrivibrio	-0.6308	0.0279*
C18:2t11c15	Anaerovibrio	-0.7749	0.0031*
C18:2t11c15	Escherichia/Shigella	-0.7883	0.0023*
C21:0	Treponema	0.6087	0.0357*

C22:0	Bibersteinia	-0.7161	0.0088*
C23:0	Bibersteinia	0.6805	0.0149*

Considering DMA, *Pseudobutyrivibrio* and *Streptococcus* were negatively correlated with DMA 16:1 and DMA 18:2 *cis*9 *cis*12, respectively (Table 9).

Discussion

Recently, a global survey on 742 rumen and camelid foregut samples collected from 32 animal species in 35 countries allowed to determine a "core bacterial microbiome" (Henderson et al., 2015). Key microorganisms detected in all samples were Prevotella, Butyrivibrio, Ruminococcus, unclassified members of the families Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae, as well as unclassified Bacteroidales and Clostridiales (Henderson et al., 2015). In another study the genera Paraprevotella, Succinivibrio, Treponema, Fibrobacter and Oscillibacter, in addition to the above mentioned Prevotella, Butyrivibrio and *Ruminococcus* were identified as core genera in rumen bacterial communities of pre-ruminant dairy calves and cows and beef steers (Wu et al., 2012). Considering the sequences classified at genus level in this study, only the genera Prevotella, Paraprevotella, Succinivibrio and Treponema were detected in all conditions. Furthermore, members of the genus Oscillibacter were not detected in the whole dataset. Despite similarities can be identified between the core microbial community identified during this in vitro trial and the core rumen communities described during in vivo studies some difference can be observed. A possible reason of this shift can be the absence of microorganisms-host interactions (e.g. absence of immune system) that characterize *in vitro* trials. However, even if some difference can be observed during *in* vitro experiments compared to in vivo experiments, the overall behavior can be considered reliable, and in vitro experiments are widely used (Buccioni et al., 2011; Jayanegara et al., 2015; Cantalapiedra-Hijar et al., 2018). In our trial Streptoccus spp. increased with CHT in accordance with Costa et al. (2018) findings that showed a largely higher content of this bacterium in RL from ewes fed CHT respect to its concentration in RL from ewes fed mimosa tannins or a mix of CHT and mimosa. However, the explanation for differential responses of bacteria to tannins is unclear and factors as dose, in vivo vs in vitro trials, kind of tannin, extract grade of purity, concur to explain the inconsistence of results reported in literature.

Parwise correlations among microbial species, confirmed that rumen bacteria are synergic in their activities and that metataxonomic approach could be an efficient method to study bacteria in their environment because the study of single species in pure cultures may not lead to a global interpretation of data.

The inclusion of CHT did not affect the degradability of dietary NDF. Commonly, condensed tannins decrease the rumen degradation of fiber as consequence of important changes in microbial community profile while, hydrolysable ones are less strong (Costa et al., 2018). CHT employ a less detrimental action on cellulolytic bacteria than condensed tannins as quebracho or mimosa (Deaville et al., 2010; Buccioni et al., 2015a, 2017a; Costa et al., 2018). A plausible explanation of this behavior could be related to the higher grade of depolymerization of hydrolysable tannins as CHT in rumen respect to condensed ones (McSweeney et al., 1999). Recently, Costa et al. (2018) comparing mimosa tannins vs CHT found a reduced growth of cellulosolytic bacteria with condensed than hydrolysable tannins which resulted gentler. This result is consistent with our microbiological findings that do not show a great perturbation of microbial community and with iso and anteiso FAME profile (marker of rumen microbial activities according to Fievez et al., 2012 that was similar among treatments. However, Zimmer and Cordesse (1996) found that CHT decreased in vivo apparent organic matter (OM) digestibility in ewes and goats and Tabacco et al. (2006) confirmed that lucerne ensiled with CHT reduced in vitro OM digestibility by 5%. It is well known that tannins are able to modify the ratio among microbial species in RL or to inhibit microbial enzymes being proteins or to complex plant cell wall components (Smith et al., 2005). Certainly, the percentage of tannins inclusion in the diet or their source plays an important role and this could explain the inconsistence of many data reported in literature. In our experiment the CHT inclusion is about 1.6g/100g of DM, lower than in the cited trials.

VES and GAL reduced the NDF degradability even if no considerable changes in microbial community were found. This finding could be explained considering the possibility of VES and GAL to inhibit microbial enzymes involved in NDF degradation or complexing the fiber making it unavailable without being strongly detrimental with bacteria (Reed, 1986, 1995).

Considering the fatty acids involved in BH pathway, PUFA are not preserved by any treatment. The BH occurred normally showing the same content of 18:0 among groups at 24h. Many *in vivo* trials found an increase of PUFA in milk or meat when tannins are included in the diet of ruminants, especially with condensed ones. Hydrolysable tannins are less strong in inhibiting BH than condensed ones and they can be partially metabolized by several bacteria
species as *Eubacterium oxidoreducens* (Krumholz and Bryant, 1986), reducing their antimicrobial activities. Mc Sweeney et al. (1999) demonstrated that hydrolysable tannins are susceptible to depolymerization in the rumen, forming monomeric derivatives with a less complex structure and with a lower affinity with proteins, enzymes or bacteria membrane, respect to the polymeric precursor. Several *in vivo* studies found that tannin addition in dairy ewes diet are not able to modify milk fatty acid profile indicating that the perturbation of BH at the rumen level could be low (Toral et al., 2011, 2013). In contrast, Carreño et al. (2015) in an *in vitro* trial found that CHT was able to modulate BH of PUFA even if the high dose used in this experiment limits the supplementation in animal feeding for possible detrimental effects on animal health.

In another study, Mannelli et al. (2018) showed that polyphenols from olive oil pomace decreased BH, limiting the lipolysis process that is the prerequisite for the next BH. These authors found a reduction of *A. lipoliticus* in RL from animals fed supplemented diets with olive oil by-product. In contrast, in our trial CHT increased the relative abundance of *A. lipoliticus*. These findings confirmed that the activities of polyphenols are strictly related to their chemical structure and consequently to their vegetal source. Moreover, this result showed that the efficacy of CHT is not due to the activity of VES or GAL singularly.

DMA are derived by plasmalogen lipids during the methylation process of RL fatty acid analysis and their composition is similar to fatty acid profile showing odd, even, saturated and unsaturated chains from C12 to C18 length. Their variation is strongly linked to the ability of bacteria to be resilient to the environmental changes, modifying their membrane fluidity as defense (Kaneda, 1991; Goldfine, 2010). Recently Alves et al. (2013) put in evidence how DMA can be an efficient tool as microbial marker. DMA 15:0 *iso* increase could be symptomatic of adaptation of cellulosolitycs to the stimuli induced by CHT, VES and GAL present in RL. Similar considerations may be applied to DMA 17 *ante* for amilolytics. Our findings are consistent with results of Alves et al. (2013), confirming that the presence of DMA 18:1 isomers is indicative of BH intermediate incorporation in structural lipids. Considering data reported by Costa et al. (2018), our findings are consistent in noting that the inclusion of CHT or its components in the diet is able to affect DMA 13:0, DMA 14:0 *iso*, DMA 16:1 and DMA 18:0 concentration.

Since the 70s, the presence of plasmalogens (alk-1'-enyl glyceryl ethers) is proved in several species of anaerobic bacteria. Our study showed a correlation among several plasmalogen derivatives and microbial species regardless the fermented diets, confirming the importance of DMA composition as tool of microbial characterization. Moreover, our results

were in accordance with a study of Langworthy (1975) on anaerobic mycoplasma, showed that *Anaeroplasma* is related to DMA12:0.

5. Conclusion

At inclusion level used in this trial, CHT, VES and GAL did not show detrimental effect on rumen microbial communities. These treatments did not interfere with PUFA BH processes in vitro. A correlation among several plasmalogens and microbial species regardless the fermented diets were found, confirming the importance of DMA composition as tool of microbial characterization. Moreover, the activity of CHT is likely due to its complex structure, rather than its single components (e.g. VES or GAL). More studies are need to investigate the interaction of tannins with rumen microbial community to enhance the synthesis of bioactive compounds at rumen level.

References

- Alves, S.P., J. Santos-Silva, A.R.J. Cabrita, A.J.M. Fonseca, and R.J.B. Bessa. 2013. Detailed Dimethylacetal and Fatty Acid Composition of Rumen Content from Lambs Fed Lucerne or Concentrate Supplemented with Soybean Oil. PLoS One 8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0058386.
- AOAC International. 1995. Official Methods of Analysis. AOAC International, Gaithersburg, MD.
- Bargiacchi, E., M. Campo, A. Romani, G. Milli, and S. Miele. 2017. Hydrolysable Tannins from Sweet Chestnut (Castanea sativa Mill.) to improve Tobacco and Food/Feed Quality. Note 1: Fraction characterization, and Tobacco biostimulant effect for gallnematode resistance. AIMS Agric. Food 2:324–338. doi:10.3934/agrfood.2017.3.324.
- Benjamin, S., P. Prakasan, S. Sreedharan, A.D.G. Wright, and F. Spener. 2015. Pros and cons of CLA consumption: An insight from clinical evidences. Nutr. Metab. 12:1–20. doi:10.1186/1743-7075-12-4.
- Bonelli, F., L. Turini, G. Sarri, A. Serra, A. Buccioni, and M. Mele. 2018. Oral administration of chestnut tannins to reduce the duration of neonatal calf diarrhea. BMC Vet. Res. 14:227:4–9. doi:10.1186/s12917-018-1549-2.

- Brulc, J.M., D.A. Antonopoulos, M.E. Berg Miller, M.K. Wilson, A.C. Yannarell, E.A. Dinsdale, R.E. Edwards, E.D. Frank, J.B. Emerson, P. Wacklin, P.M. Coutinho, B. Henrissat, K.E. Nelson, and B.A. White. 2009. Gene-centric metagenomics of the fiber-adherent bovine rumen microbiome reveals forage specific glycoside hydrolases. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 106:1948–1953. doi:10.1073/pnas.0806191105.
- Buccioni, A., S. Minieri, S. Rapaccini, M. Antongiovanni, and M. Mele. 2011. Effect of chestnut and quebracho tannins on fatty acid profile in rumen liquid- and solidassociated bacteria: An in vitro study. Animal 5:1521–1530. doi:10.1017/S1751731111000759.
- Buccioni, A., M. Pauselli, S. Minieri, V. Roscini, F. Mannelli, S. Rapaccini, P. Lupi, G. Conte, A. Serra, A. Cappucci, L. Brufani, F. Ciucci, and M. Mele. 2017a. Chestnut or quebracho tannins in the diet of grazing ewes supplemented with soybean oil: Effects on animal performances, blood parameters and fatty acid composition of plasma and milk lipids. Small Rumin. Res. 153:23–30. doi:10.1016/j.smallrumres.2017.05.006.
- Buccioni, A., M. Pauselli, S. Minieri, V. Roscini, F. Mannelli, S. Rapaccini, P. Lupi, G. Conte, A. Serra, A. Cappucci, L. Brufani, F. Ciucci, and M. Mele. 2017b. Chestnut or quebracho tannins in the diet of grazing ewes supplemented with soybean oil: Effects on animal performances, blood parameters and fatty acid composition of plasma and milk lipids. Small Rumin. Res. 153:23–30. doi:10.1016/j.smallrumres.2017.05.006.
- Buccioni, A., M. Pauselli, C. Viti, S. Minieri, G. Pallara, V. Roscini, S. Rapaccini, M.T. Marinucci, P. Lupi, G. Conte, and M. Mele. 2015a. Milk fatty acid composition, rumen microbial population, and animal performances in response to diets rich in linoleic acid supplemented with chestnut or quebracho tannins in dairy ewes. J. Dairy Sci. 98:1145–1156. doi:10.3168/jds.2014-8651.
- Buccioni, A., A. Serra, S. Minieri, F. Mannelli, A. Cappucci, D. Benvenuti, S. Rapaccini, G. Conte, and M. Mele. 2015b. Milk production, composition, and milk fatty acid profile from grazing sheep fed diets supplemented with chestnut tannin extract and extruded linseed. Small Rumin. Res. 130:200–207. doi:10.1016/j.smallrumres.2015.07.021.
- Callahan, B.J., P.J. McMurdie, and S.P. Holmes. 2017. Exact sequence variants should replace operational taxonomic units in marker-gene data analysis. ISME J. 11:2639– 2643. doi:10.1038/ismej.2017.119.
- Callahan, B.J., P.J. Mcmurdie, M.J. Rosen, A.W. Han, A.J. Johnson, and S.P. Holmes. 2015. DADA2: High resolution sample inference from amplicon data. bioRxiv 0–14. doi:10.1101/024034.

- Cantalapiedra-Hijar, G., M. Abo-Ismail, G.E. Carstens, L.L. Guan, R. Hegarty, D.A. Kenny, M. McGee, G. Plastow, A. Relling, and I. Ortigues-Marty. 2018. Review: Biological determinants of between-animal variation in feed of fi ciency of growing beef cattle. Animal 1–15. doi:10.1017/S1751731118001489.
- Cappucci, A., S.P. Alves, R.J.B. Bessa, A. Buccioni, F. Mannelli, M. Pauselli, C. Viti, R. Pastorelli, V. Roscini, A. Serra, G. Conte, and M. Mele. 2018. Effect of increasing amounts of olive crude phenolic concentrate in the diet of dairy ewes on rumen liquor and milk fatty acid composition. J. Dairy Sci. 101:1–14. doi:10.3168/jds.2017-13757.
- Carreño, D., G. Hervás, P.G. Toral, A. Belenguer, and P. Frutos. 2015. Ability of different types and doses of tannin extracts to modulate in vitro ruminal biohydrogenation in sheep. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 202:42–51. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.02.003.
- Costa, M., S.P. Alves, A. Cappucci, S.R. Cook, A. Duarte, R.M. Caldeira, T.A. McAllister, and R.J.B. Bessa. 2018. Effects of Condensed and Hydrolyzable Tannins on Rumen Metabolism with Emphasis on the Biohydrogenation of Unsaturated Fatty Acids. J. Agric. Food Chem. 66:3367–3377. doi:10.1021/acs.jafc.7b04770.
- Deaville, E.R., D.I. Givens, and I. Mueller-Harvey. 2010. Chestnut and mimosa tannin silages: Effects in sheep differ for apparent digestibility, nitrogen utilisation and losses. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 157:129–138. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2010.02.007.
- Denek, N., A. Can, and S. Koncagul. 2006. Usage of Slaughtered Animal Rumen Fluid for Dry Matter Digestibility of Ruminant Feeds. J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 5(6):459–461.
- Ekambaram, S.P., S.S. Perumal, and A. Balakrishnan. 2016. Scope of Hydrolysable Tannins as Possible Antimicrobial Agent. Phyther. Res. 30:1035–1045. doi:10.1002/ptr.5616.
- European Food Safety Authority. 2009. Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to linoleic acid and maintenance of normal blood cholesterol concentrations (ID 489) pursuant to Article 13 (1) of Regulation (EC) No 1924 / 2006 1. EFSA J. 7(9):1–12. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2009.1276.
- European Food Safety Authority. 2010. Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to linoleic acid and maintenance of neurological function (ID 732, 2897) pursuant to Article 13 (1) of Regulation (EC) No 1924 / 2006 1. EFSA J. 8(2):1–11. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1485.
- Fievez, V., E. Colman, J.M. Castro-Montoya, I. Stefanov, and B. Vlaeminck. 2012. Milk oddand branched-chain fatty acids as biomarkers of rumen function-An update. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 172:51–65. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.12.008.

- Goldfine, H. 2010. The appearance, disappearance and reappearance of plasmalogens in evolution. Prog. Lipid Res. 49:493–498. doi:10.1016/j.plipres.2010.07.003.
- Henderson, G., F. Cox, S. Ganesh, A. Jonker, W. Young, P.H. Janssen, L. Abecia, E. Angarita, P. Aravena, G.N. Arenas, C. Ariza, G.T. Attwood, J.M. Avila, J. Avila-Stagno, A. Bannink, R. Barahona, M. Batistotti, M.F. Bertelsen, A. Brown-Kav, A.M. Carvajal, L. Cersosimo, A.V. Chaves, J. Church, N. Clipson, M.A. Cobos-Peralta, A.L. Cookson, S. Cravero, O.C. Carballo, K. Crosley, G. Cruz, M.C. Cucchi, R. De La Barra, A.B. De Menezes, E. Detmann, K. Dieho, J. Dijkstra, W.L.S. Dos Reis, M.E.R. Dugan, S.H. Ebrahimi, E. Eythórsdóttir, F.N. Fon, M. Fraga, F. Franco, C. Friedeman, N. Fukuma, D. Gagić, I. Gangnat, D.J. Grilli, L.L. Guan, V.H. Miri, E. Hernandez-Sanabria, A.X.I. Gomez, O.A. Isah, S. Ishaq, E. Jami, J. Jelincic, J. Kantanen, W.J. Kelly, S.H. Kim, A. Klieve, Y. Kobayashi, S. Koike, J. Kopecny, T.N. Kristensen, S.J. Krizsan, H. LaChance, M. Lachman, W.R. Lamberson, S. Lambie, J. Lassen, S.C. Leahy, S.S. Lee, F. Leiber, E. Lewis, B. Lin, R. Lira, P. Lund, E. Macipe, L.L. Mamuad, H.C. Mantovani, G.A. Marcoppido, C. Márquez, C. Martin, G. Martinez, M.E. Martinez, O.L. Mayorga, T.A. McAllister, C. McSweeney, L. Mestre, E. Minnee, M. Mitsumori, I. Mizrahi, I. Molina, A. Muenger, C. Munoz, B. Murovec, J. Newbold, V. Nsereko, M. O'Donovan, S. Okunade, B. O'Neill, S. Ospina, D. Ouwerkerk, D. Parra, L.G.R. Pereira, C. Pinares-Patino, P.B. Pope, M. Poulsen, M. Rodehutscord, T. Rodriguez, K. Saito, F. Sales, C. Sauer, K. Shingfield, N. Shoji, J. Simunek, Z. Stojanović-Radić, B. Stres, X. Sun, J. Swartz, Z.L. Tan, I. Tapio, T.M. Taxis, N. Tomkins, E. Ungerfeld, R. Valizadeh, P. Van Adrichem, J. Van Hamme, W. Van Hoven, G. Waghorn, R.J. Wallace, M. Wang, S.M. Waters, K. Keogh, M. Witzig, A.D.G. Wright, H. Yamano, T. Yan, D.R. Yanez-Ruiz, C.J. Yeoman, R. Zambrano, J. Zeitz, M. Zhou, H.W. Zhou, C.X. Zou, and P. Zunino. 2015. Rumen microbial community composition varies with diet and host, but a core microbiome is found across a wide geographical range. Sci. Rep. 5. doi:10.1038/srep14567.
- Jayanegara, A., G. Goel, H.P.S. Makkar, and K. Becker. 2015. Divergence between purified hydrolysable and condensed tannin effects on methane emission, rumen fermentation and microbial population in vitro. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 209:60–68. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2015.08.002.
- Jenkins, T.C. 2010. Technical note: Common analytical errors yielding inaccurate results during analysis of fatty acids in feed and digesta samples. J. Dairy Sci. 93:1170–1174.

- Kaneda, T. 1991. Iso- and anteiso-fatty acids in bacteria: biosynthesis, function, and taxonomic significance. Microbiol. Rev. 55:288–302. doi:10.1038/nrm1745.
- Krumholz, L.R., and M.P. Bryant. 1986. Eubacterium oxidoreducens sp. nov. requiring H2 or formate to degrade gallate, pyrogallol, phloroglucinol and quercetin. Arch. Microbiol. 144:8–14. doi:10.1007/BF00454948.
- Langworthy, T.A., W.R. Mayberry, P.F. Smith, and I.M. Robinson. 1975. Plasmalogen composition of Anaeroplasma. J. Bacteriol. 122:785–787.
- Lutakome, P., F. Kabi, F. Tibayungwa, G.H. Laswai, A. Kimambo, and C. Ebong. 2017. Rumen liquor from slaughtered cattle as inoculum for feed evaluation. Anim. Nutr. 3:300–308. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.06.010.
- Maeda, H., C. Fujimoto, Y. Haruki, T. Maeda, S. Kokeguchi, M. Petelin, H. Arai, I. Tanimoto, F. Nishimura, and S. Takashiba. 2003. Quantitative real-time PCR using TaqMan and SYBR Green for Actinobacillus actinomycetemcomitans, Porphyromonas gingivalis, Prevotella intermedia, tetQ gene and total bacteria. FEMS Immunol. Med. Microbiol. 39:81–86.
- Mannelli, F., A. Cappucci, F. Pini, R. Pastorelli, F. Decorosi, L. Giovannetti, M. Mele, S. Minieri, G. Conte, M. Pauselli, S. Rapaccini, C. Viti, and A. Buccioni. 2018. Effect of different types of olive oil pomace dietary supplementation on the rumen microbial community profile in Comisana ewes. Sci. Rep. 8:1–11. doi:10.1038/s41598-018-26713-w.
- McDougall, E.I. 1947. Studies on Ruminant Saliva 1. THE COMPOSITION AND OUTPUT OF SHEEP'S SALIVA.
- McSweeney, C.S., B. Palmer, R. Bunch, and D.O. Krause. 1999. Isolation and characterization of proteolytic ruminal bacteria from sheep and goats fed the tannincontaining shrub legume Calliandra calothyrsus. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65:3075– 3083.
- Mele, M., G. Contarini, L. Cercaci, A. Serra, A. Buccioni, M. Povolo, G. Conte, A. Funaro, S. Banni, G. Lercker, and P. Secchiari. 2011. Enrichment of Pecorino cheese with conjugated linoleic acid by feeding dairy ewes with extruded linseed: Effect on fatty acid and triglycerides composition and on oxidative stability. Int. Dairy J. 21:365–372. doi:10.1016/j.idairyj.2010.12.015.
- Murdiati, T.B., C.S. Mcsweeney, and J.B. Lowry. 1992. Metabolism in Sheep of Gallic Acid, Tannic-Acid and Hydrolyzable Tannin from Terminalia oblongata. Aust. J. Agric. Res. 43:1307–1319.

- Oksanen, J., F. Blanchet, G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H., Szoecs, E., Wagner, H., 2018. vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-1. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan
- Panizzi, L., C. Caponi, S. Catalano, P.L. Cioni, and I. Morelli. 2002. In vitro antimicrobial activity of extracts and isolated constituents of Rubus ulmifolius. J. Ethnopharmacol. 79:165–168. doi:10.1016/S0378-8741(01)00363-4.
- Pintus, S., E. Murru, G. Carta, L. Cordeddu, B. Batetta, S. Accossu, D. Pistis, S. Uda, M.E. Ghiani, M. Mele, P. Secchiari, G. Almerighi, P. Pintus, and S. Banni. 2013. Sheep cheese naturally enriched in α-linolenic, conjugated linoleic and vaccenic acids improves the lipid profile and reduces anandamide in the plasma of hypercholesterolaemic subjects. Br. J. Nutr. 109:1453–1462. doi:10.1017/S0007114512003224.
- Quideau, S., T. Varadinova, D. Karagiozova, M. Jourdes, P. Pardon, C. Baudry, P. Genova, T. Diakov, and R. Petrova. 2004. Main structural and stereochemical aspects of the antiherpetic activity of nonahydroxyterphenoyl-containing C-glycosidic ellagitannins. Chem. Biodivers. 1:247–258. doi:10.1002/cbdv.200490021.
- R Core Team (2018). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Reed, J.D. 1986. Relationships among soluble phenolics, insoluble proanthocyanidins and fiber in East African browse species. J. range Manag. 39:5–7. doi:10.2307/3899675.
- Reed, J.D. 1995. Nutritional toxicology of tannins and related polyphenols in forage legumes J. Anim. Sci. 73:1516-1528
- SAS Institute. 2008. SAS User's Guide: Statistics. Version 9.2.
- Smith, A.H., E. Zoetendal, and R.I. Mackie. 2005. Bacterial mechanisms to overcome inhibitory effects of dietary tannins. Microb. Ecol. 50:197–205. doi:10.1007/s00248-004-0180-x.
- van Soest, P.J., J.B. Robertson, and B. a. Lewis. 1991. Methods for Dietary Fiber, Neutral Detergent Fiber, and Nonstarch Polysaccharides in Relation to Animal Nutrition. Pages 3583–3597 in Journal of Dairy Science.
- Sofi, F., A. Buccioni, F. Cesari, A.M. Gori, S. Minieri, L. Mannini, A. Casini, G.F. Gensini,R. Abbate, and M. Antongiovanni. 2010. Effects of a dairy product (pecorino cheese) naturally rich in cis-9, trans-11 conjugated linoleic acid on lipid, inflammatory and

haemorheological variables: A dietary intervention study. Nutr. Metab. Cardiovasc. Dis. 20:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2009.03.004.

- Tabacco E, Borreani G, Crovetto G.M., Galassi G., Colombo D., L. Cavallarin L. 2006. Effect of chestnut tannin on fermentation quality, proteolysis, and protein rumen degradability of alfalfa silage. J. Dairy Sci. 89: 4736-4746
- Takahashi, S., J. Tomita, K. Nishioka, T. Hisada, and M. Nishijima. 2014. Development of a prokaryotic universal primer for simultaneous analysis of Bacteria and Archaea using next-generation sequencing. PLoS One 9. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0105592.
- Tilley, J.M.A., and R.A. Terry. 1980. A two-stage technique for the in vitro digestion of forage crops. J. Br. Grassl. Soc. 18:104.
- Toral, P.G., G. Hervás, E. Bichi, Á. Belenguer, and P. Frutos. 2011. Tannins as feed additives to modulate ruminal biohydrogenation: Effects on animal performance, milk fatty acid composition and ruminal fermentation in dairy ewes fed a diet containing sunflower oil. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 164:199–206. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2011.01.011.
- Toral, P.G., G. Hervás, A. Belenguer, E. Bichi and P. Frutos. 2013. Effect of the inclusion of quebracho tannins in a diet rich in linoleic acid on milk fatty acid composition in dairy ewes. J. Dairy Sci. 96:431-439
- Tosi, G., P. Massi, M. Antongiovanni, A. Buccioni, S. Minieri, L. Marenchino, and M. Mele. 2013. Efficacy test of a hydrolysable tannin extract against necrotic enteritis in challenged broiler chickens. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 12:386–389. doi:10.4081/ijas.2013.e62.
- Wu, S., R.L. Baldwin, W. Li, C. Li, E.E. Connor, and R.W. Li. 2012. The Bacterial Community Composition of the Bovine Rumen Detected Using Pyrosequencing of 16S rRNA Genes. Metagenomics 1:1–11. doi:10.4303/mg/235571.
- Zimmer, N., and R. Cordesse. 1996. Digestibility and ruminal digestion of non-nitrogenous compounds in adult sheep and goats: Effects of chestnut tannins. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 61:259–273. doi:10.1016/0377-8401(95)00940-X.

CONCLUSIONS

Data obtained in the trials carried out in this thesis, showed that the kind of poliphenol plays an important role on the effect on rumen microbiota. In fact, the absorption of PP generally depends on: molecular structure; RL microbiota degrading capacity; percentage of inclusion in animal diet.

Polipenols from olive oil bio-waste favoured an increase of PUFA in RL and in milk especially of α -LNA and RA. Our data seems demonstrate that they affect the lipolysis because A. lipolyticus decreases its concentration. Instead, A. lipolyticus, in presence of CHT, was enhanced, suggesting another mechanism of action of this PP. Considering tannins, from chestnut and quebracho, they affect the last step of BH of α -LNA and of LA, interfering with the microorganisms responsible of VA hydrogenation. Moreover, QUE seems to be stronger than CHT.

Considering our results and what is reported in literature, the use of PP in ruminants feeding could be a valuable tool for manipulating rumen metabolism. However, the knowledge about the nature and the suitable quantities of PP is the starting base. It is necessary to know the chemical and structural PP characteristics to study their interactions with the ruminal metabolism, since each kind of polyphenol has specific mechanism of action. In vitro trials may be a valid tool to test matrices rich in PP or polyphenolic extracts that can be used in animal feeding. So, testing how these substances interact with the ruminal microbiota and estimate healthy inclusion for in vivo trials, may be possible.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Firstly, I would like to thank my tutor, Prof. Arianna Buccioni, for the continuous support in my Ph. D study and related research, for his patience, motivation, and knowledge. His guidance helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis.

Besides my advisor, I would like to thank Prof. Carlo Viti and Prof. Luciana Giovannetti for their insightful comments and encouragement, but also for the hard questions that pushed me to consider every aspect of my work. I would like to thank also all GENEXPRESS team: Dr Francesca Decorosi and Dr. Francesco Pini, for their friendship and technical support.

My sincere thanks also goes to Prof. Rui Besa and Dr. Susana Alves, who provided me the opportunity to join their team, and who gave access to the laboratory and research facilities. Without they precious support it would not be possible to conduct a part of my research.

I thank the other collaborators, lab and PhD fellows and technicians: Giulia, Roberta, Matteo, Chiara, Elisa, Luna, Gloria, Linda, Gaia, Ilaria, Doria, Antonio, Tonino, Silvano and to all the other "coffee-mate".